To support national policy development and implementation

Adult specialist services for victim-survivors of sexual violence and abuse: a systematic map of evidence

Sarah Lester, Claire Khouja, Meena Khatwa, Gary Raine, Rebecca Rees Irene Kwan, Kath Wright, Amanda Sowden, James Thomas

2022

The NIHR Policy Research Programme Reviews Facility is a collaboration between the following:



EPPI Centre Evidence for Policy & Practice





Adult specialist services for victim-survivors of sexual violence and abuse: a systematic map of evidence

Authors:

Sarah Lester, Claire Khouja, Meena Khatwa, Gary Raine, Rebecca Rees Irene Kwan, Kath Wright, Amanda Sowden, James Thomas

2022

The authors of this report are:

Sarah Lester¹, Claire Khouja², Meena Khatwa¹, Gary Raine², Rebecca Rees¹, Irene Kwan¹, Kath Wright¹, Amanda Sowden², James Thomas¹

Editorial & design by: Lionel Openshaw¹

(1 - EPPI Centre, 2 - Centre for Reviews and Dissemination).

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Zihan Chen for her unfaltering commitment to the project, and especially for her work on full-text retrieval. Dr Pauline Meskell from the University of Limerick contributed to the project through an Evidence Synthesis Ireland Fellowship. We are indebted to her for her generous contributions to the project. We are also very grateful for the time and commitment shown by the stakeholders: Philip Walker and Fay Maxted from The Survivors Trust, Catherine Bewley from GALOP, Jay Breslaw from Survivors' Network, Esther Silva from SAAS - NHS England & NHS improvement, Lia Latchford from Imkaan and Susi Halley from Guy's and St Thomas' NHS Foundation who attended our event and who offered valuable insights and advice.

Funding

This review was commissioned by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Policy Research Programme (PRP) for the Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC). It was funded through the NIHR PRP contract with the EPPI Centre at UCL (Reviews facility to support national policy development and implementation, PR-R6-0113-11003). The views expressed in this publication are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the NHS, the NIHR or the DHSC.

Funder involvement

This work is part of an ongoing programme of work funded by DHSC. Throughout the review, DHSC policy team members were consulted to understand the context of the issue under study, and to identify the focus and scope of the analysis.

Conflicts of interest

There were no conflicts of interest in the writing of this report.

Contributions

The opinions expressed in this publication are not necessarily those of the EPPI Centre or the funders. Responsibility for the views expressed remains solely with the authors.

This report should be cited as: Sarah Lester, Claire Khouja, Meena Khatwa, Gary Raine, Rebecca Rees, Irene Kwan, Kath Wright, Amanda Sowden, James Thomas (2022) *Adult specialist services for victim-survivors of sexual violence and abuse: A systematic map of evidence* London: EPPI Centre, Social Science Research Unit, UCL Institute of Education, University College London.

ISBN: 978-1-911605-39-3

© Copyright 2022

Authors of the systematic reviews on the EPPI Centre website (http://eppi.ioe.ac.uk/) hold the copyright for the text of their reviews. The EPPI Centre owns the copyright for all material on the website it has developed, including the contents of the databases, manuals, and keywording and data-extraction systems. The centre and authors give permission for users of the site to display and print the contents of the site for their own non-commercial use, providing that the materials are not modified, copyright and other proprietary notices contained in the materials are retained, and the source of the material is cited clearly following the citation details provided. Otherwise users are not permitted to duplicate, reproduce, re-publish, distribute, or store material from this website without express written permission.

CONTENTS

Abbreviations				
Te	erms us	ed in this report	10	
E	KECUTI	/E SUMMARY	11	
1	BACKGROUND10			
	1.1	Prevalence of sexual violence and abuse in the UK	16	
	1.2	Policy context		
	1.3	Specialist sexual violence services		
	1.4	Research on specialist services for victim-survivors of sexual violence and abuse		
	1.5	Why is the research needed?		
2	BRIE	F METHODS	23	
	2.1	Policy stakeholder engagement	23	
	2.2	Concepts and definitions used in this map		
	2.2.1	Victim-survivor	23	
	2.2.2	Sexual violence	23	
	2.2.3	Specialist services	24	
	2.2.4			
	2.3	Aims and Research Question		
	2.4	Study identification		
	2.4.1	-		
	2.4.2	-		
	2.4.3	-		
	2.4.4			
	2.5	Stakeholder involvement		
3	OVE	RVIEW OF THE EVIDENCE	27	
	3.1	Flow of evidence	28	
	3.2	Publication date		
	3.3	Country of publication		
	3.4	Population focus		
4	_	IEWS STUDIES		
	4.1	UK studies of the views of victim-survivors and service providers (n=36)		
	4.2	Studies of views about targeted sexual violence services (n=26)		
	4.3	Studies of adaptations of general services (n=10)		
	4.4	Table of UK views outlining categories and population and service details	40	
5	EVA	LUATIONS	46	
	5.1	Type of evaluation (n=106)		
	5.2	Geographical setting of evaluations (n=106)		
	5.3	Details of UK-based evaluations (n=15)		
	5.3.1			
	5.3.2			
	5.3.3			
	5.3.4			
	5.4	Type of sexual violence addressed in evaluations (n=106)	49	

	5.5	Service setting of evaluations (n=106)	51
	5.6	Study design of evaluations (n=106)	52
	5.7	Intervention types evaluated (n=106)	53
	5.8	Comparators used in controlled evaluations (n=36)	54
	5.9	Outcomes measured in evaluations (n=106)	
	5.10	Specific population focus of evaluations (n=106)	56
	5.11	Intervention target population of evaluations (n=106)	57
	5.12	Gender of victim-survivors in evaluation studies (n=95)	
	5.13	Age of victim-survivors in evaluations (n=95)	57
	5.14	Ethnicity of victim-survivors in evaluation studies (n=95)	58
6	SYS ⁻	rematic reviews	59
	6.1	Overview of systematic reviews (n=21)	59
	6.2	Characteristics of systematic reviews by types of sexual violence (n=21)	
	6.2.1		
	6.2.2		
	6.2.3		
	6.2.4		
7	STAI	(EHOLDER / ADVISORY GROUP MEETING	70
	7.1	Main themes	70
	7.1.1	Issues around definitions	70
	7.1.2	Outcomes	70
	7.1.3	What stakeholders want to know	71
	7.1.4	Relevance of studies included in the map	72
	7.2	Following the meeting	72
8	DISC	CUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	73
	8.1	Summary and discussion	73
	8.2	Strengths and limitations	74
	8.3	Gaps in evidence base	75
9	DET	AILED METHODS	76
	9.1	General methods	76
	9.2	Review guestion	76
	9.3	Study identification	76
	9.3.1		
	9.3.2	5	
	9.3.3	-	
	9.3.4		
	9.4	Stakeholder methods	
1(D REFI	ERENCES	82

APPENDICES		87
A:	Search strategy	
B:	List of studies excluded on Full Text	
C:	List of included views studies n=36 from 41 reports	
D:	Study details for UK views studies	
E:	List of included evaluation studies n=106	
F:	Study details for UK evaluations	
G:	Study details for 106 included evaluations	
H:	List of included systematic reviews n=21	
I:	Study details of the systematic reviews	
J:	Protocol	

Table of tables

Table 1: Details of UK view studies (Category/population and type of services or roles)	40
Table 2: Type of sexual violence by sampled population in UK evaluation studies	47
Table 3: Characteristics of specific evaluation populations (n=106)	56
Table 4: Female genital mutilation: summary of review characteristics	63
Table 5: Sexual violence including rape and sexual assault: review characteristics	65
Table 6: Sexual abuse as a child: summary of review characteristics	67
Table 7: Human sex trafficking: summary of review characteristics	69

Table of figures

Figure 1: CSEW figures for percentage of 16-59 year old victims of any sexual assault
Figure 2: CSEW figures for quarterly data on number of sexual offences reported to police17
Figure 3: All studies included in the systematic map of evidence by year of publication and country27
Figure 4: Flow of evidence through the systematic map28
Figure 5: All studies by year of publication
Figure 6: All studies by country of publication
Figure 7: All studies by type of sexual violence
Figure 8: All studies by population gender
Figure 9: All studies by focus on victim-survivor / professional / both
Figure 10: UK views studies by focus on victim-survivor / professional / both
Figure 11: UK views studies by subgroup population and type of sexual violence / abuse experience34
Figure 12: Population age range for UK views studies
Figure 13: Sub-categories of 'targeted services' UK views studies
Figure 14: Targeted services by population (victim-survivor or professional) focus
Figure 15: Number of evaluation studies by country of publication (Total n=106)46
Figure 16: Type of sexual violence for all evaluations (n=106)49
Figure 17: Evaluation studies (n=106) by type of sexual violence and intervention
Figure 18: Number of evaluation studies by setting in which the service was delivered (n=106)51
Figure 19: Number of evaluation studies by study design (n=106)52
Figure 20: Number of evaluation studies by intervention type (n=106)53
Figure 21: Number of RCTs by type of control (n=36)54
Figure 22: Number of evaluation studies reporting each type of outcome (n=106)55
Figure 23: Gender of victim-survivors (n=95)57
Figure 24: Ethnicity of victim-survivors (n=95)58
Figure 25: Systematic reviews by type of sexual violence
Figure 26: Types of study designs of included systematic reviews by sexual violence population60
Figure 27: Types of outcomes measured in the systematic reviews by sexual violence population61

Abbreviations

APPG	All Party Parliamentary Group
ART	Accelerated Resolution Therapy
BME	Black and Minority Ethnic
CAED	Clinician-Assisted Emotional Disclosure
CAT	Cognitive Analytic Therapy
СВТ	Cognitive Behavioural Therapy
CCG	Clinical Commissioning Group
CSA	Childhood Sexual Abuse
СРТ	Cognitive Processing Therapy
CRIM	Cognitive Restructuring and Imagery Modification
CSEW	Crime Survey for England and Wales
DBT	Dialectical Behaviour Therapy
EMDR	Eye Movement Desensitisation and Reprocessing
FGM	Female Genital Mutilation
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
НСР	Healthcare Practitioner
HT	Human Trafficking
ISVA	Independent Sexual Violence Advisor
LGBTQI*	Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Queer or Intersex (inclusive)

MST	Military Sexual Trauma
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
PCC	Police and Crime Commissioner
PE	Prolonged Exposure
PTSD	Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder
RCT	Randomised Controlled Trial
SANE	Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner
SARC	Sexual Assault Referral Centre
STAIR	Skills Training in Affective and Interpersonal Regulation
STO	Specially Trained Officer
VA	Veteran Affairs
VAWG	Violence Against Women and Girls

Terms used in this report

See also <u>section 2.2</u> for further explanation of concepts used in this map.

Specialist services	We use 'specialist services' to describe any provision of support specifically for victim-survivors of sexual violence or abuse. This covers statutory and voluntary services, as well as adaptations of general services tailored towards supporting victim-survivors of sexual violence and abuse (see <u>section 2.2.3</u>).
Trans	An umbrella term to describe people whose gender is not the same as, or does not sit comfortably with, the sex they were assigned at birth.
	Trans people may describe themselves using one or more of a wide variety of terms, including (but not limited to) transgender, transsexual, gender-queer (GQ), gender-fluid, non-binary, gender-variant, crossdresser, genderless, agender, nongender, third gender, bi-gender, trans man, trans woman, trans masculine, trans feminine and neutrois (Stonewall, 2017).
Victim-survivor	While 'victim' may seem disempowering, 'survivor' may not always be appropriate either. In order to acknowledge the personal choice of how people subjected to sexual violence may self-identify, and how this may change over time, we have combined these terms (see <u>section 2.2.2</u>).

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Background

Around one in five women and one in twenty-five men are estimated to have experienced sexual violence or abuse since the age of 16. When combined with rates of child sexual abuse this figure is even higher. Sexual violence is detrimental to an individual's physical health, emotional wellbeing and relationships, and incurs huge social and economic costs. Appropriate support and care for victim-survivors can help to protect against these negative consequences.

Around 90% of sexual offences are committed by someone known to the victim and for a variety of reasons, cases often remain unreported to the police. Many victimsurvivors mistrust statutory services to respond to their needs. While underreporting is still common, the number of police records of sexual violence crimes has increased considerably over the last few years. There has also been an increase in demand for specialist support services. In part, these patterns are thought to be linked to improved police recording procedures and a growing awareness of sexual violence and abuse through high-profile cases and related social media campaigns.

This surge in demand, and especially the need for support for non-recent sexual abuse, coincides with severe budget cuts, and where commissioning of support services has been devolved to local commissioning bodies. Commissioners require evidence-based guidance on which services they should be commissioning in order to best serve victim-survivors.

Overall aims

To provide a systematic map of available evidence on any specialist adult services for victim-survivors of sexual violence and abuse. We included:

- studies of people's views about services in the UK
- evaluations of interventions (using controlled and before-and-after designs, and cost-effectiveness studies) from OECD countries,
- systematic reviews containing these kinds of studies

The map will signal where there are gaps in the evidence base and where there is potential for an in-depth review of evidence to guide decisions about services for victim-survivors.

Review question

What is known about the effectiveness and appropriateness (availability, acceptability and accessibility) of specialist adult services for people who have experienced sexual violence and abuse?

Method

We conducted searches of electronic databases; website searches; reference list harvesting and contacted topic experts to identify potentially relevant items. We applied exclusion criteria to screen all items on title and abstract alone, and then retrieved reports and screened the full-text of all records included at title and abstract stage. All studies included at full-text screening were coded to describe their main characteristics – for example, the study's purpose (people's views of services, evaluation to improve services, or reviewing other studies), its geographic setting, who had provided data, and which type of sexual violence and/or service was being explored.

We held a stakeholder event to consult on the initial findings from the map with victim-survivor advocates, service providers and practitioners and policy representatives. Suggestions from this event informed further analysis and the structure for presenting the narrative about the studies identified.

In addition to the narrative contained in this report, EPPI-Mapper software was used to produce online interactive maps to visually display the findings and allow users to see the detail of included studies.

Stakeholder influence on the map

The stakeholders' feedback informed the later iterations of the coding tool – for example, the age categories and additional population and service characteristics that we captured. Discussions at the stakeholder event also helped us to distinguish between population sugroups when categorising the studies, and influenced the descriptive terms that we used to describe these sets. Stakeholders also highlighted forthcoming and recently published studies. Four were added to the review to be screened on full text, one of which was included in our map.

Summary of findings

Studies included in the map

In total we included 163 studies in our systematic map: 36 views studies, 106 evaluation studies, and 21 systematic reviews.

Studies of people's views about services in the UK (n=36)

Of the 36 UK views studies, 26 focused on targeted services for victim-survivors of sexual violence and 10 focused on adaptations that general services, such as maternity or health services, could make to meet victim-survivors' needs.

The studies which focused on targeted services (n=26) were further categorised into four groups: targeted services for a specific population subgroup (n=9); services for victim-survivors who have additional forms of disadvantage (n=8); services for any type of victim-survivor of sexual violence (n=5); and how victim-survivors needs are met by services across a broad range of provision (n=4).

Specific victim-survivor population subgroup

Studies in this group (n=9) focussed on services for: people who had experienced socalled 'honour' based violence (n=1); child sexual exploitation (n=1); childhood sexual abuse (n=1); ritual abuse (n=1); forced marriage (n=1); male rape (n=1); and female black and minority ethnic (BME) victim-survivors (n=3).

Victim-survivors with additional disadvantage

Eight studies (n=8) focused on populations with co-existing vulnerabilities or disadvantage, including: mental health and substance misuse problems; learning or physical disabilities; and women seeking asylum.

Any victim-survivor

Five studies (n=5) concentrated on specific types of services or roles that support all victim-survivors of sexual violence. These were mostly located in the statutory sector. Two addressed specialist provision in the criminal justice sector, and three addressed Sexual Assault Referral Centres (SARC), of which one was a comparison between SARCs and voluntary sector services.

Victim-survivor needs in relation to broad provision of services

Four studies (n=4) explored views on how any needs were met (or otherwise) by broader provision of services. Two of these were needs assessments across regional areas, one looked at ways to best deliver group work, and one explored the potential of co-production in Violence Against Women services in Wales.

Adaptations (n=10)

The remaining studies (n=10) addressed how general services, such as maternity, general healthcare, mental healthcare and the police could meet the needs of victim-survivors of sexual violence by way of adaptations.

Evaluations of interventions to support victim-survivors of sexual violence (n=106)

Evaluation studies were mainly US-based (n=62). Across all OECD countries, most evaluations aimed to assess a therapy for improving mental health outcomes (n=84). Other interventions included education for professionals (n=8) or victim-survivors (n=4), services such advocacy or police services (n=9) and secondary prevention of HIV among victim-survivors (n=1). Most evaluations reported quantitative findings about outcomes or impact (n=86), eight studies were qualitative evaluations of processes only, and 12 studies were evaluations of both outcomes and processes.

All UK outcomes evaluations assessed types of therapies (n=4). We found eight UKbased process evaluations of: a national advocacy service in Scotland (two evaluations); a Rape Crisis Centre in Tyneside; training for mental health practitioners to improve practice around abuse histories; a pilot project to support victim-survivors of historic child sex exploitation in Leeds; a specialist sexual assault police investigation unit; and specialist services for female victim-survivors of childhood sexual abuse (two evaluations).

Systematic reviews (n=21)

The systematic reviews focused on four distinct population types of victim-survivors of sexual violence including those who had experienced: female genital mutilation (FGM) (n=8), sexual violence including rape and sexual assault (n=6), sexual abuse as a child (n=5) and human trafficking (n=2).

Most reviews (n=16) examined the effectiveness of interventions. The types of interventions reviewed were predominantly mental health and psychological interventions to reduce post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and improve psychosocial wellbeing (n=11). The other five intervention reviews addressed early intervention; non-surgical responses to FGM; the role of the forensic examiner; educational interventions to increase awareness of sex trafficking among healthcare professionals; and interventions to reduce HIV and sexually transmitted infections. Three reviews explored views and experiences of service-users and two explored the views of professionals about skills and attitudes. Included studies were conducted in different countries with the majority in the US, while only 15 out of 309 studies were conducted in the UK.

Gaps in the evidence

We identified no effectiveness or cost-effectiveness studies of UK specialist services for victim-survivors of sexual violence.

UK views studies focussing on a range of perspectives and populations were included in the map. However, only one study looked at male victim-survivors. This study sought professionals' views only, so we did not locate any studies which addressed male victim-survivors' views.

Stakeholder group

Stakeholders described research conducted in the US as being of limited relevance to their own practice. Information on cost-effectiveness and cost-saving was highly sought after by stakeholders, although it was understood to be scarce. Service providers wanted to know the best way to spend their money, and indicated they would value a review examining which therapies, counselling or service referrals are most effective, in which contexts, and also the benefits of specialist service provision in the voluntary sector over those provided by a generic health provider.

Stakeholders expressed their interest in evidence relating to pathways and referral, relationships between commissioners and providers, the effects of cuts to services, access to services, access to mental health services, suicide risk, and service waiting lists and "turn-away" rates. Outcome measurements relating to empowerment and feeling in control, relationships, and ability to work and study were all seen as important ways of assessing victim-survivors' recovery.

Implications and conclusion

We identified a lack of evidence on the effectiveness (and cost-effectiveness) of UK statutory and voluntary specialist services for victim-survivors of sexual violence. However, a lack of evidence should not be interpreted to mean that these services are not effective.

We identified eight process evaluations and a range of UK views studies which give insight into the views and experiences of victim-survivors and the professionals that support them. Some studies focus on services that serve all types of victim-survivor of sexual violence, whereas others focus on different subgroups of victim-survivor populations (BME women, people subjected to sex trafficking 'honour'-based violence and forced marriage) and victim-survivors who have additional vulnerabilities or disadvantage (women with mental health or substance misuse problems, women who are disabled, women seeking asylum).

These sets of UK studies warrant quality appraisal and in-depth synthesis or syntheses which could provide a nuanced understanding of UK victim-survivors' service needs across a range and population subgroups and types of sexual violence.

1 BACKGROUND

1.1 Prevalence of sexual violence and abuse in the UK

The <u>Crime Survey for England and Wales</u> (CSEW) found 24.4% of women, and 4.5% men aged between 16 and 59 years have experienced some form of sexual violence since the age of 16 years. This is equivalent to an estimated 3.4 million female and 631,000 male victims (Office for National Statistics, year ending March 2018).

The yearly figures from the CSEW reveal that while the prevalence of sexual violence and abuse halved between March 2006 and March 2014 (from 3% of 16- to 59-yearolds being victims once or more in the last year in 2006, to 1.5% in 2014), it started to to rise again in the following years (2.7% in March 2018, see figure 1).





The <u>CSEW (year ending September 2021)</u> reveals that fluctuations in sexual offences reported to police were especially pronounced in the first part of the 2020s. As shown in figure 2, reductions in offences coincided with Covid-19 lockdowns during the first years of the pandemic. However, the period following the release of restrictions saw an increased level of reported offences. The year ending September 2021 had the highest number of sexual offences recorded within a 12-month period (170,973 total reported offences, with rape accounting for 37% of those offences).

Although the CSEW provides some of the most rigorous evidence on the prevalence of sexual violence in England and Wales, it has some limitations. The sample comprises adults aged up to 59 (since 2017 this has risen to 74), living in private households. As such, groups identified as being particularly at risk of sexual violence such as people in prison or detention centres; people with a limiting illness or disability; and people who are homeless or rough sleepers – are not included (Gray & Garner, 2015).



Figure 2: CSEW figures for quarterly data on number of sexual offences reported to police

Meta-analyses suggest that the minimum estimates of childhood sexual abuse are currently 15-20% for girls and 7-8% for boys, although figures vary considerably, depending on the definitions used and the methods used to record responses (Kelly & Karsna, 2018).

Public awareness around female genital mutilation (FGM) in the UK has grown over the last decade, due to various campaigns and policies to support victim-survivors and to eradicate the practice. In 2015 over 100,000 women aged 15-49 years were estimated to be living with FGM in England and Wales, with no local authority in the UK thought to be free of victim-survivors affected by FGM, and London having by far the highest prevalence (Macfarlane & Dorkenoo, 2015).

While these figures allude to the pervasive nature of sexual violence in its various forms, the true extent of victimisation across the life-course remains largely unknown due to underreporting. Many victim-survivors do not report their experiences, or delay their disclosures for many years owing to personal, social, and cultural factors, such as fear of not being believed (Morrison et al., 2018); the persistence of rape myths and victim-blaming (Waterhouse et al., 2016); re-victimisation through the criminal justice process and extremely low conviction rates (Kelly, 2005).

While the time lag between experiencing child sexual abuse and reporting (which may not occur until adulthood) is widely acknowledged, we do not have reliable statistics of how the rate of disclosure has changed over time (Parke & Karsna, 2019).

Sexual violence and abuse can affect anyone, at any age, and in any situation (see section 2.2.2 for the definition used in this report). Although men and boys are subjected to sexual violence, women and girls are victimised more than men and boys (CSEW, 2018). Sexual violence is inextricably linked with abuses of power, control and trust by the perpetrators of these acts (Jewkes et al. 2002). These gendered, cultural and social dimensions should not be overlooked.

1.2 Policy context

The Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) Act 2015 (VAW Act) is the first piece of legislation in the UK to address violence against women as opposed to 'domestic violence' generally.

The Ending Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG): strategy 2016-2020 (HM Government, 2016) details the government's pledge to reform services to help women and girls rebuild their lives after experiencing violence or abuse. Working with local commissioners the government aims to make early intervention and prevention the foundation of their approach, whilst maintaining levels of crisis response services.

Ensuring a secure future for rape and sexual abuse support centres (for example, Rape Crisis Centres, and member agencies of The Survivors Trust and Male Survivors Partnership), refuges and FGM and Forced Marriage Units is one way the government intends to fulfil their promise that 'victims [and survivors] get the help they need when they need it' (p.10).

While acknowledging that sexual violence and abuse disproportionately affects women and girls, a complementary piece of work to the VAWG strategy, the Male Victims Position Statement, issued in March 2019, sets out the government's commitments for supporting male victim-survivors (HM Government, 2019).

In the spring of 2019, the Government commissioned the 'End-to-end rape review'– a two-year project aiming to improve the Criminal Justice System's response to rape in England and Wales (HM Government, 2021). The action plan intends to build confidence of rape victims to report sexual violence crimes and to increase related conviction rates.

The NHS Long Term Plan states that it will expand provision of Sexual Assault Referral Centre (SARCs) to ensure that victim-survivors are offered integrated therapeutic mental health support, both immediately after an assault and, where appropriate, with later continuity of care (NHS, 2019). In February 2022, NHS England and NHS Improvement launched a three-month campaign to raise awareness of SARCs which encouraged victims and survivors to come forward for support regardless of when the assault or abuse happened (NHS, 2022).

<u>The Victims Strategy</u> vows to improve SARC services and pathways by increasing spending from £31m in 2018, to £39m in 2020/21. The government has also commited to funding national rape and sexual abuse support services, such as Rape Crisis Centres, for a minimum of two years, and will 'explore further local commissioning of services by PCCs' (ibid. 23) nto improve support for victim-survivors of sexual violence. The strategy also presents the government's plan to work with the police to increase awareness of SARCs for lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBT) victims, and consider how to improve support for people identifying as non-binary or intersex.

Similarly, NHS England's Strategic Direction for Sexual Assault and Abuse Services (2018 to 2023) commits to working with the police to raise awareness of the services provided by SARCs, particularly in 'LGBT communities, BME communities and vulnerable women's centres' (p.13, NHS England, 2018). As well as developing easy-reading materials on the role of a SARC for people with learning disabilities. The

strategy highlights the role of the third sector, and emphasises collaboration and reduction in fragmentation, in service provision.

In the UK, it has been illegal to carry out FGM for almost 35 years (Prohibition of Female Circumcision Act, 1985). In England, Wales and Northern Ireland, the Female Genital Mutilation Act 2003 made it illegal for a UK national or habitual UK resident to perform FGM abroad on a UK national or resident, or assist a girl to perform FGM on herself in England or Wales. In Scotland, the law around FGM is laid out in the Prohibition of Female Genital Mutilation (Scotland) Act 2005, and a bill was put forward in 2019 to propose new protections for those at risk of FGM and to reduce further risk for victim-survivors of FGM (Scottish Parliament, 2019).

Various campaigns and changes to policy and practice have been introduced with a view to eradicating the practice, both in the UK and overseas. The Serious Crime Act 2015, strengthened the 2003 FGM Act to make it an offence to fail to protect a girl from risk of FGM. It also introduced a mandatory duty for teachers and health and social care staff in England and Wales to report 'known' cases of FGM, in girls under 18 years old, to the police. Ultimately, frontline professionals are being asked not just to respond to known cases, but also to work together to implement measures that will prevent and help to end the practice of FGM (HM Government, 2014).

In practice, these laws are difficult to enforce. FGM occurs under a 'cloak of secrecy' (Dyer, 2019) and is hugely underreported. There were no successful prosecutions until a landmark case took place in London, in March 2019. A mother whose daughter underwent FGM at the age of three years was found guilty of committing FGM as well as a range of other offences (CPS website, 2019).

1.3 Specialist sexual violence services

The first NHS-funded SARC was established in Manchester in 1986 (Lovett et al., 2004), and there are currently 47 SARCs in England. Located in the statutory sector, SARCs should be co-commissioned by NHS England (for the sexual assault public health element); local police and Police and Crime Commissioners (PCCs) (for the forensic medical, criminal justice and local rape support elements); Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) (for other health services and mental health elements) and local authorities (for children and family services and preventive public health) (NHS England, 2015). They provide special facilities where recent victims of rape or sexual assault can receive forensic examinations, support and advice, and signposting to other services (NHS England, 2018a). A crisis worker or Independent Sexual Violence Advisor (ISVA) should be available to provide emotional and practical guidance, regardless of whether the victim-survivor chooses to report to the police or not (NHS England 2018a, 2018b).

The majority of SARCs are not designed to provide long-term support. Instead, they are required to refer victim-survivors to other types of specialist services, many of which are located in the voluntary or third sector (NHS England, 2018a).

The responsibility for commissioning non-SARC rape and sexual violence services, such as voluntary services, lies with the Ministry of Justice, at a national level (services for those aged 13 years or older); and, at a local level, CCGs, PCCs) (including for victim referral hubs), and local authorities (Green & Skeates, 2018; NHS England, 2018b). Sector mapping research on the member organisations of The Survivors Trust revealed that many specialist sexual violence and abuse support services are dependent on funding from charitable trusts to meet at least 50% of their overall funding (Consult Research and The Survivors Trust, 2010).

The first voluntary sector services working with victim-survivors of sexual violence were established in the 1970s, offering advocacy and support for women, with services extended to male victims from the 1980s. The sector is represented by three umbrella agencies – Rape Crisis England and Wales, The Survivors Trust and the Male Survivors Partnership.

The types of help offered in the voluntary/third sector vary depending on the specific service and the demographics of the population they are serving, but the following types of support are commonly offered:

- helplines
- walk-in or appointment-based support
- one-to-one or group counselling
- group activities
- signposting to additional services
- trauma-informed advocacy
- long-term support which is offered regardless of when the sexual violence or abuse was experienced (NHS England, 2108b; Berry et al. 2014; Coy et al. 2009).

When running at their optimum, these services create confidential spaces where victim-survivors are safe to tell, be believed and respected, and able to explore options (Coy et al. 2011).

Some organisations provide support specifically for female (<u>Rape Crisis</u>), male (<u>Survivors UK</u>), LGBTQI* (<u>GALOP</u>), or female BME (<u>Imkaan</u>) victim-survivors.

1.4 Research on specialist services for victim-survivors of sexual violence and abuse

The evidence on the availability of specialist services in the UK, is over a decade old. In 2007 and 2009, End Violence Against Women (EVAW) published Map of Gaps 1 and 2 (Coy et al., 2007, 2009), which graphically represented the 'postcode lottery' of access to specialist support services for women who have experienced domestic or sexual violence, FGM or sexual exploitation. At this time, most women across Great Britain did not have access to a Rape Crisis Centre or a specialist support service (27.5% of local authorities had a service or centre; there was one small service, for children, in Northern Ireland). Provision of specialist services was lower (11% of local authorities) for violence against Black and minority ethnic women, and lower still (9%) for prostitution, trafficking and sexual exploitation (Coy et al. 2007, 2009).

In 2014, Berry et al. mapped specialist domestic abuse and sexual violence service provision in Wales as part of a broader review to inform the Ending Violence Against Women and Domestic Abuse (Wales) Bill, which was introduced in 2015. One of their recommendations (14) was that specialist services need long-term contracts to gain stability and capacity in provision. Another two (16 and 17) recommended that skills in specialist provision should be protected and shared with other organisations.

The fragile and precarious nature of sexual violence and abuse services has been highlighted by the All Party Parliamentary Group (APPG) on Sexual Violence's 2018

report (Green & Skeates, 2018). They received evidence that many Rape Crisis Centres and specialist voluntary service providers were operating waiting lists and even having to close these lists due to rising demand for services. They reported that many services were operating on short-term grants and contracts, making it difficult to maintain the service and diverting their resources into applying for grants every year.

In April 2019, the APPG for Adult Survivors of Childhood Sexual Abuse published part one of its report *Can adult survivors of childhood sexual abuse access justice and support in England and Wales?* This report highlighted the enormous increases in demand for support services (up to 30% year on year in some cases) and the insufficiency of government funding to keep up with that demand (APPG for Adult Survivors of Sexual Abuse, 2019).

The financial cost of sexual violence and abuse to society is high. Including physical, emotional, health, legal, police, lost output and other costs, in 2015/16, each adult rape was estimated to cost around £40,000, with a cost to society of £4.8bn, while other sexual offences cost £7.4bn

(https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach ment_data/file/732110/the-economic-and-social-costs-of-crime-horr99.pdf). Some of these costs, such as long-term mental health care costs, might be avoided with a greater provision of specialist services. Similarly, without the current services, these costs to society could rise.

This map was commissioned to establish what evidence is available on the effectiveness of specialist services for victim-survivors, in the UK. The systematic reviews are described in section 3.

1.5 Why is the research needed?

Despite the hidden nature of a lot of sexual violence crimes, there has been an unprecedented increase in demand for services. In the last year alone (2017-18), there was a 17% increase in the number of people who accessed Rape Crisis specialist services in England and Wales, compared with the previous year (Rape Crisis England & Wales website).

This is likely to be driven by a rise in the reporting of non-recent sexual abuse cases as well as improved police recording. Since 2013, police statistics reveal large year-on-year rises in the reporting of cases of allegations of sexual abuse dating back over a year (NSPCC, 2017). A cultural shift, engendered in part by a litany of high-profile sex abuse cases in the media, and the collective voice of #MeToo and #TimesUp social media campaigns, has emboldened people to speak out and share their experiences of assault or abuse, sometimes dating back decades.

This surge in demand has come at a time when commissioning for services has been largely devolved to a local level. Changes in commissioning responsibilities have produced many challenges for services in terms of maintaining the stability and consistency necessary to support victims and survivors of sexual violence and abuse (Green & Skeates, 2018). Public health practitioners have noted that the political leaning of local authorities influences the types of services that are commissioned (Kneale, 2019). Stakeholders and agencies have described how feminist-inspired, single (female) gender services were seen to be at risk on account of the drive towards gender neutralisation of services by PCCs who may not fully understand the ramifications of such a move (Simmonds, 2019). Similarly, Imkaan's *From survival to sustainability* report (Imkaan, 2018) concludes that current commissioning processes are generally failing organisations specialising in ending violence against women and girls in BME communities.

One of the greatest challenges for commissioners and practitioners is working within restricted and reduced budgets. Public sector funding cuts resulting from the Comprehensive Spending Review in 2010, and other government policies introduced under austerity in the intervening years, has meant that specialist services are under threat. In a recent report on funding and commissioning of specialist sexual violence support services, many services described themselves as being at crisis point. They are under-commissioned to meet demand and have to divert efforts to repeatedly apply for short-term grants in order to survive (Green & Skeates, 2018). A complex and competitive commissioning landscape has led to the loss of experienced staff; soaring, or closed, waiting lists; and pressure to merge or broaden population focus.

For example, in 2008 Southall Black Sisters – a specialist provider of Violence Against Women services to BME women – was threatened with having its funding withdrawn as they faced accusations from Ealing Council of being discriminatory under the Race Relations Act (for exclusion of the majority population) (https://southallblacksisters.org.uk/campaigns/save-sbs-campaign-2008/). Although they won the legal challenge in the High Court after a hard-fought campaign (http://www.irr.org.uk/news/victory-for-southall-black-sisters/), this case is indicative of the types of pressures and challenges that specialist services targeted at particular groups face.

Thousands of victim-survivors have been left without adequate services, or completely unsupported, at a time when they are particularly vulnerable and in need of ongoing dedicated support (Green & Skeates, 2018).

A systematic map of evidence showing the extent of the evidence on the effectiveness and appropriateness of specialist adult sexual violence services will help commissioners, providers, practitioners and researchers to understand the research landscape, where there is evidence which can be used to inform decisions, and where there are gaps. Together with suggestions from the stakeholder advisory group this systematic map can be used to guide decisions about where an in-depth synthesis could be carried out to inform commissioning and provision of services.

2 BRIEF METHODS

The objective of this report is to present the evidence on what is known about the effectiveness and appropriateness of specialist adult services for victim-survivors of sexual violence. Two strands of work were undertaken:

- **Systematic map of evidence**: a systematic map of UK-only views studies, outcomes and process evaluations, including cost-effectiveness studies, from OECD countries, and systematic reviews including studies with these characteristics.
- Advisory group consultation: we held a stakeholder event in July 2019 in order to gather the views of victim-survivor advocates, practitioners, services providers and policy representatives.

2.1 Policy stakeholder engagement

Reviews Facility team members (SL, RR) met with the DHSC commissioning team at regular intervals to ensure the review remained closely aligned with their needs and emerging policy requirements.

2.2 Concepts and definitions used in this map

2.2.1 Victim-survivor

While legally the term 'victim' is used to describe those who have experienced sexual violence and abuse, it has been criticised for denying agency to the violated person (Kelly, 1998). In light of this, individuals who have been affected by sexual violence or abuse may prefer to identify themselves as 'survivors' (McNaughton et al. 2012), although the appropriateness of this term has also been questioned (Walby et al. 2013). In keeping with the practice of using both terms together which has developed within the field (IICSA, 2017, McGlynn & Westmarland, 2019) we will use the term 'victim-survivor' wherever possible in this report. Despite the limitations of the individual terms described above, 'victim-survivor' has the advantage of encompassing a range of experience and covers the different ways in which people may self-identify over time and depending on context.

2.2.2 Sexual violence

Throughout our work we use the term sexual violence to refer to sexual violence and abuse. In line with NHS England's strategic direction for Sexual Assault and Abuse Services, our definition of sexual violence covers any non-consensual act or attempt to obtain an act of a sexual nature, regardless of the context and the relationship between the perpetrator and the victim. It covers marital rape and rape.

Examples of offences include (but are not exclusive to):

- sexual acts involving a child, sexual harassment, forced marriage, honour-based violence, female genital mutilation, human trafficking, sexual exploitation and ritual abuse; or
- any unwanted sexual activity with someone without their consent or agreement.

Sexual assault and abuse can happen to men, women and children, at any age; it can be a one-off event or repeated. It may involve technology such as the internet or social media, which can be associated with grooming, online sexual harassment and trolling (p.7, NHS England, 2018).

2.2.3 Specialist services

We are using 'specialist' to denote services which are provided by staff and volunteers with the appropriate skills and expertise specifically tailored to support adult victimsurvivors of sexual violence and abuse. This may relate to services provided in a variety of sectors, but most likely to be located in the criminal justice, health or voluntary sectors. We acknowledge that this support may be delivered within services for domestic abuse, and other Violence Against Women and Girls services. Where this is the case, we include only services that are mainly aimed at providing support to victim-survivors of sexual violence and abuse, or where these services are reported separately from the other services.

2.2.4 Age limit

Adult specialist services include people as young as 13 years. For inclusion in the map we applied a lowest mean cut-off point of 16 years. Legally, anyone under the age of 18 years is defined as a child according to both the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child and the Children Act 1989. However, owing to the age of consent in the UK being 16 years, older teenagers are offered much less in the way of protection than younger children and this group is especially vulnerable to sexual exploitation (Pona & Baillie, 2015).

2.3 Aims and Research Question

Systematic evidence maps are often used to identify and report on the range of research which has been produced within a broad topic area, and can provide a foundation for more in-depth syntheses (Saran & White, 2018). As we were responding to a broad policy question in an area in which we anticipated a lack of robust evidence, we adopted a systematic map approach which would allow us to identify research gaps to inform future research priority setting and identify possible avenues for in-depth review.

We sought to answer the following research question:

What is known about the effectiveness and appropriateness (availability, acceptability and accessibility) of specialist adult services for people who have experienced sexual violence and abuse?

2.4 Study identification

2.4.1 Searching for studies

To identify relevant studies we searched six electronic databases: ASSIA, CINAHL, Criminal Justice Abstracts, Epistemonikos, MEDLINE and PsycINFO.

The literature search was undertaken in April 2019. The search strategy was developed and implemented by an information specialist (KW) in collaboration with two other members of the team (CK, SL). An example of the search strategy is presented in <u>Appendix A</u>. After deduplication, this process identified a total of 15,477 studies. We also searched online sources including the websites of sexual violence charities and organisations, undertook reference harvesting and contacted experts in the field. An additional 26 studies were located which resulted in a total of 15,503 potentially relevant items being uploaded to EPPI Reviewer to be screened on title and abstract.

2.4.2 Screening for studies

To be included in the systematic map, studies had to:

- be about adult (16 and over) specialist services for victim-survivors of sexual violence and abuse (including statutory, third-sector and voluntary organisations);
- report findings about the effectiveness and/or appropriateness of these services*;
- focus on services aimed at adults, of any gender, over the age of 16 years who have experienced sexual violence and abuse at any point in their life;
- be published in or after 2009; and
- be published in the English language.

* In terms of study designs, we included:

- Qualitative studies conducted in the UK of the views and experiences of people seeking or providing specialist adult services;
- Evaluations conducted in the UK of intervention processes (process evaluations);
- Evaluations of the outcomes of interventions that:

a) use a comparative design (cost-effectiveness, RCTs, controlled trials and beforeand-after studies), and

b) are conducted in OECD countries; and

• Systematic reviews (published between 2014 – 2019) which include any of the above types of study

Qualitative studies coded as 'views' studies were distinct from those that set out to measure the impacts of such services for services users (outcome evaluations). They were also distinct from studies that explore people's views of specific service initiatives with the aim of improving them (process evaluations).

We used 2009 as a cut off date in order to capture research conducted in the years following the public-sector finding cuts following the 2010 comprehensive spending review. For systematic reviews we applied the more recent cut-off date of 2014, as they contain access to older primary studies.

Six reviewers (SL, IK, MK, RR, CK, GR) co-screened an initial sample of abstracts which amounted to 10% of the total. Abstracts were independently screened and results were compared in groups of at least two reviewers, differences were resolved by group discussion. Once inclusion agreement was over 95%, the remaining abstracts were screened by single reviewers.

The full texts of all references that met the inclusion criteria, or where it was unclear if they met the criteria, were retrieved. These items were screened on full text using the same criteria used for 'Title and Abstract' screening, but with two additional criteria. Firstly, we excluded case studies which had fewer than five participants, and outcome evaluations which did not have a comparison group or a before-and-after design because of their inability to prove causality and limited generalisability. Secondly, we excluded conference abstracts because they are not often sufficiently informative due to their suboptimal reporting of methodological details.

2.4.3 Information extraction

We developed an extraction tool to capture information on: study aim, study design, population type (victim-survivors/professional/both); characteristics of populations (age, gender, sexual violence experience); intervention type, and service and country setting. After piloting the extraction tool all reviewers worked independently.

The development of the extraction tool was iterative. We continued developing the tool in order to allow a fuller understanding of the information following discussion with stakeholders and once we were more familiar with the types of studies identified. All reviewers extracted information from the studies. During the writing-up process reviewers checked and consolidated the data entered by other reviewers to ensure that we worked with consistency across the different sets of studies.

2.4.4 Creation of interactive maps

Interactive online maps were generated using EPPI-Mapper software (Thomas 2018) which provides an interactive user interface powered by EPPI-Reviewer (Thomas et al. 2020).

2.5 Stakeholder involvement

We recruited stakeholders to act as an advisory group. We met with the advisory group and outlined the evidence identified focusing on the types of studies and their characteristics. We discussed how we might best present the evidence map and possible directions for a more in-depth review and synthesis.

We recruited 12 stakeholders and ultimately eight attended the meeting. See <u>section 7</u> for details of the meeting's findings and <u>section 9.4</u> for detailed methods. The group were sent a draft version of this report and were invited to comment. Stakeholders' comments were incorporated into the final report.

3 OVERVIEW OF THE EVIDENCE

The searches located 22,899 references, and after removal of duplicates, this left a total of n=15,477 unique records (an additional n=26 records were added from our grey literature and scoping searches). After applying the exclusion criteria 167 reports were included documenting 163 individual studies: 36 UK views studies (from 41 reports), 106 evaluations (outcome and process evaluations) and 21 systematic reviews. An image of the interactive map of all studies (n=163) by country of study and date of publication is shown below (figure 3). The size of each bubble indicates the relative number of studies within each cell. See the link to the interactive map for details and figures for each group of studies, and each of the included studies. See figure 4 for the flow of evidence through the mapping process. Studies excluded on full text are listed in <u>Appendix B</u>.



Figure 3: All studies (n=163) included in the systematic map of evidence by year of publication and country

Link to interactive map:

https://eppi.ioe.ac.uk/cms/Portals/0/ALLSTUDIES.html?ver=2022-07-11-111244-537

3.1 Flow of evidence

Criteria on which reports were excluded:

EXCLUDE 1: not published in English EXCLUDE 2: non OECD setting EXCLUDE 3: topic not abuse or violence EXCLUDE 4: topic is not sexual violence/abuse EXCLUDE 5: topic is not specialised sexual violence services or intervention **EXCLUDE 6: intervention** target group is aged <16 only EXCLUDE 7: non UK-based sudy that explores views or intervention processes only EXCLUDE 8: not a study of views or an evaluation of intervention outcomes or processes **EXCLUDE 9: No empirical** data collected EXCLUDE 10: on date (pre-2009) (Note we excluded systematic reviews published before 2014)

For full text screening only:

EXCLUDE FT11: case studies with n<5 participant. Outcome evaluations without a comparison or pre- post- design. EXCLUDE FT12: conference abstract/other form of incomplete report EXCLUDE FT 13: Duplicate item



Figure 4: Flow of evidence through the systematic map

The following sections provide an overview of the 163 studies included in our map.

3.2 Publication date

We included UK views studies and evaluations with a publication date of 2009 or later. The rate of publications relevant to this map peaked in 2018 (total n=29). It should be noted that for the year 2019, searches only captured studies published between January and April (see figure 5).



Figure 5: All studies by year of publication

3.3 Country of publication

The evidence is dominated by US-based evaluations. Fifteen evaluations took place in the UK, compared with 62 in the USA. Overall, 51 primary studies were conducted in the UK, of which 36 are views studies (see figure 6).

Systematic reviews included 309 primary studies from 11 different countries, including 15 from the UK.



Figure 6: All studies by country of publication

3.4 Population focus

Most studies focused on non-recent abuse experienced as a child or rape and abuse occurring at any point in a person's life. US-based evaluations also focussed on veterans with experience of military sexual trauma (n=16). Eight systematic reviews focused on FGM, however five of these were 'empty reviews' (i.e included no primary studies) (see figure 7).



Figure 7: All studies by type of sexual violence

Most studies included female participants only (total n=90). A further 50 studies included males and females (total n=50). Only one study focussed exclusively on male victim-survivors (see figure 8). Where the gender of victim-survivors was not stated this was often because the study focussed on professionals who provided support to victim-survivors.



Figure 8: All studies by population gender

Approximately 70% of the included studies (114 out of 163) assessed interventions for victim-survivors or sought their views. Twenty-seven studies (n=27) focussed on professionals only, and 22 (n=22) included professionals and victim-survivors (see figure 9).



Figure 9: All studies by focus on victim-survivor / professional / both

The following sections describe the included studies, grouped by study type.

4 UK VIEWS STUDIES

4.1 UK studies of the views of victim-survivors and service providers (n=36)

We identified 36 studies (reported in 41 publications) that used an open-ended approach to explore the views of participants about services for people who have experienced sexual violence or abuse. We have called these 'views studies' (see <u>table 1</u> and Appendices C and D for the list of included studies and study details.

The 36 views studies collected data that related to people's experience of receiving or providing sexual violence services or their views about what should be provided. The largest group of studies included both professionals and victim-survivor perspectives (n=15). Thirteen studies sought views of professionals only (n=13), and eight sought the views of victim-survivors alone (n=8) (see figure 10).



Figure 10: UK views studies by focus on victim-survivor / professional / both

We grouped the studies into two broad sets: those that explored services to address sexual violence specifically (targeted, n=26); and those that explored how general services, such as maternity or healthcare, could be adapted to support people who have experienced sexual violence (adaptations, n=10).

The most common type of sexual violence addressed was rape or sexual abuse at an unspecified point in someone's life (total n=18). Three studies classified as 'adaptations' focussed on general service response to people who have been sex trafficked (n=3) and three 'adaptation' studies addressed victim-survivors who were sexually abused as a child (n=3) (see map below, figure 11). By following the link to the interactive map detailed figures for targeted services and adaptations by population and study participant can be obtained, along with the details of studies in each group.



Professional Staff only Victim -Survivors only Both professionals & victim-survivors

Generated using v.2.1.0 of the EPPI-Mapper powered by EPPI Reviewer and created with 🤎 by the Digital Solution Foundry team.

Figure 11: UK views studies (n=36) by subgroup population and type of sexual violence and abuse experience

Link to interactive map:

https://eppi.ioe.ac.uk/cms/Portals/0/VIEWS.html?ver=2022-07-11-111908-680

A third of the studies contained victim-survivor participants in the age range category 'aged 18 and over only' (n=12). Three studies included victim-survivors under the age of 16 years (n=3). Two of these studies aimed to capture young people's views on responses to child sexual exploitation, with participants' ages ranging from 12 or 13 up to 23 years (Gilligan, 2016, Franklin & Smeaton, 2017). The other study, on the service experiences of victim-survivors of childhood sexual abuse had a wide age range, from 15 to 72 years (Smith et al, 2015). Four studies (n=4) included victim-survivor populations which were aged 16 to 18 and over (Domoney et al., 2015, Thiara et al. 2015, Stanley et al, 2016, and Voscur, 2018). The remaining studies (n=17), many of which sought professional views only, did not state age ranges of victim-survivors. We did not find any UK views studies which looked at the experiences of older teenagers aged 16-17 years only (see figure 12).



Figure 12: Population age range for UK views studies

4.2 Studies of views about targeted sexual violence services (n=26)

A total of 26 studies focused on targeted sexual violence services. We categorised these further using the sexual violence experiences and any service-user characteristics that the services had been set-up to serve.

Nine studies were about targeted services for a specific population subgroup (n=9); eight addressed victim-survivors who had additional forms of disadvantage (n=8); five studies focussed on services or professional roles established to serve any type of victim-survivor of sexual violence (n=5); and four studies looked at how victim-survivors needs were met by services in terms of broad provision (n=4) (see figure 13).
Figure 13: Sub-categories of 'targeted services' UK views studies



Studies within the targeted services group sought a mixture of victim-survivor only, professional only, and both professional and victim-survivor perspectives. All subgroups had at least two studies which elicited professionals' and victim-survivors' views together, and in the case of the broad provision category all four studies sought both professional and victim-survivor views (see figure 14).



Figure 14: Targeted services by population (victim-survivor or professional) focus

Services for specific victim-survivor populations subgroups (n=9)

Three studies in this group focused on people who have experienced abuse or exploitation as a child (Gilligan, 2016, Matthew & Baron, 2015, Smith et al. 2015). All three studies sought victim-survivors' views only. One study specifically focused on young women's recovery after child sexual exploitation (Gilligan, 2016), one was a co-produced research study on ritual abuse (Matthew & Baron, 2015), and one study elicited views on the service experiences and needs of adult survivors of childhood sexual abuse (Smith et al. 2015).

Three studies focused on the provision of services for BME women and girls (Imkaan 2016b, Imkaan 2018, Thiara et al. 2015). A further two studies addressed services for women who have experienced forced marriage (Idriss 2018, Imkaan 2016a). Of these five studies, two sought the views of both survivors and professionals (Idriss 2018, Imkaan 2016b) while the remainder involved professionals only.

One study (reported in four reports) explored voluntary agencies' response to male rape by interviewing professionals who provided support for male victim-survivors (Javaid, 2018).

Services for victim-survivors with additional disadvantage (n=8)

Eight studies included people with experience of various types of disadvantage in addition to their sexual violence victimisation. Three studies included people with either mental ill-health or substance use issues (Brooker & Durmaz, 2015, Brooker et al., 2018, Hailes et al. 2018). The remaining studies focussed on older survivors (defined as 60 years and over) (Bowes, 2018); women seeking asylum who had experienced conflict-related sexual violence (Canning, 2014); people who have experienced trafficking (Kliner & Stroud, 2012); young people with learning disabilities (Franklin & Smeaton, 2017) and disabled women (Shah et al., 2016).

Of these eight studies, two sought views from survivors (Hailes et al, 2018, Shah et al. 2016), four sought views from service providers (Bowes, 2018, Brooker, 2015, 2018, Kliner & Stroud, 2012) and two sought views from both groups (Canning, 2014, Franklin & Smeaton, 2017).

Sexual violence services for any victim survivor (n=5)

Five studies explored views about specialist sexual violence services delivered by the statutory sector to any adult victim-survivor. Three of these focused on SARCs or Sexual Assault Nurse Examiners (SANEs) or both (Cowley et al. 2014, Doran, 2015), with one comparing SARCs with voluntary sector services (Robinson & Hudson, 2011). A further two studies focused on specialist provision within the criminal justice sector. One of these (presented in two reports) focused upon the role of ISVAs in meeting the needs of victim-survivors (Hester, 2018), and the other explored the role of Specially Trained Officers (STOs) who conduct police investigations in cases of rape and sexual assault (McMillan, 2015).

Three of these studies sought views from professionals only (Cowley et al. 2014, Doran, 2015 and McMillan, 2015). The study on ISVAs and the comparison between SARCs and voluntary sector services sought both professional and victim-survivor views (Robinson & Hudson, 2011; Hester, 2018).

Victim-survivors' needs across broad provision of services (n=4)

Four studies explored views on how victim-survivors needs were met (or not) by the broad provision of sexual violence services either regionally (Gray & Garner, 2015, Voscur, 2018), nationally (McCarry et al, 2018), or both (Somerset and Avon Rape and Sexual Abuse Support, 2018).

Two of these studies were needs assessments conducted in the London Borough of Newham, and Somerset and Avon respectively (Gray & Garner, 2015; Voscur, 2018). One study looked at how best to deliver group work to victim-survivors of rape and childhood sexual abuse (Somerset and Avon Rape and Sexual Abuse Support, 2018). McCarry and colleagues explored the potential of co-producing Violence Against Women services in Wales (2018).

All four studies sought both professional and victim-survivor perspectives.

4.3 Studies of adaptations of general services (n=10)

Ten studies addressed general services and the experiences or potential needs of sexual violence victim-survivors within those services. We included studies of non-specialist services because they relate to how their services specifically cater for victim-survivors of sexual violence, and we refer to these as adaptations.

Three studies focussed on maternity care (n=3), two focussed on general healthcare (n=2), one looked at police response (n=1) and the remaining studies addressed general mental health care, counselling or talking therapies (n=4).

Of the three studies which addressed maternity care, two focussed on the needs of women who had been sexually abused (Jackson & Fraser, 2009; Montgomary et al., 2015) and one focussed on trafficked women (Bick, 2017).

The studies on healthcare sought views of young people who had been trafficked and the healthcare professionals supporting them, about the accessibility of health services as a whole (Stanley et al. 2016); the other looked at the specific needs of women recovering from rape or sexual assault when accessing healthcare services (Ranjbar & Speer, 2013).

The study on police service adaptation explored victim-survivors' and professionals' views of police responses to sexual assault by intimate partners in the South Asian community (Gill & Harrison, 2016).

Of the four studies relating to counselling and mental health services, one addressed victim-survivors' perspectives of their journey to recovery with a focus upon statutory mental health services (Chouliara, 2015); another sought perceptions about and experiences of 'talking therapies' (Chouliara, 2011). One study explored the views and experiences of counselling professionals about their training needs around FGM (Jackson, 2017). The remaining study explored mental healthcare services' responses to identifying and providing care to trafficked people (Domoney et al. 2015).

4.4 Table of UK views outlining categories and population and service details (Total n=36 from n=41 reports)

Table of UK views studies (n=36) Author(s), year. [Linked reports]	udies Targeted or Victim-Survivor Population Adaptation (type of sexual violence and other characteristics)		Type of service or role (Statutory/voluntary/ range) Regional/national	Victim-survivor/ professional perspective
Bick et al. (2017)	Adaptation	Trafficked women	Statutory. Maternity.	Both
Bows (2018)	Targeted: + other disadvantage	Older people (defined as 60 years +)	Range	Professional only
Brooker & Durmaz (2015)	Targeted: + other disadvantage	Already known to mental health services	Statutory. SARCs	Professional only
Brooker et al. (2018)	Targeted + other disadvantage	Mental health problems	Statutory. SARCs + mental health services (pathways)	Professional only
Canning (2014)	Targeted: + other disadvantage	Women fleeing conflict/ seeking asylum	Range. Organisations providing conflict related sexual violence support in Merseyside	Both
Chouliara (2011)	Adaptation	Sexual abuse as a child, who have not used mental health services	Statutory. n/a Theoretical framework development	Victim-survivor only

Table of UK views studies (n=36) Author(s), year. [Linked reports]	Targeted or Adaptation	Victim-Survivor Population (type of sexual violence and other characteristics)	Type of service or role (Statutory/voluntary/ range) Regional/national	Victim-survivor/ professional perspective
Chouliara (2014)	Adaptation	Sexual abuse as a child	Statutory. Talking therapy services	Both
Cowley et al. (2014)	Targeted: any victim- survivor	Any type of sexual violence	Statutory. SANEs Sexual Assault Nurse Examiners in England	Professional only
Domoney et al. (2015)	Adaptation	Trafficked people	Statutory. Mental healthcare	Both (through analysis of clinician's notes)
Doran (2015)	Targeted: any victim- survivor	Any type of sexual violence	Range. Counsellors working in NHS SARCs and a specialist voluntary agency in the North West of England	Professional only
Franklin & Smeaton (2017)	Targeted: + other disadvantage	Young people with learning disabilities/ child sexual exploitation	Range. Stakeholders working in a range of services across statutory sector (social care, police, health and education) and voluntary sector.	Both
Gill & Harrison (2016)	Adaptation	Women and children from South Asian communities/ sexual abuse.	Statutory. Police from four police areas in England and Wales	Both

Table of UK views studies (n=36) Author(s), year. [Linked reports]	Targeted or Adaptation	Victim-Survivor Population (type of sexual violence and other characteristics)	Type of service or role (Statutory/voluntary/ range) Regional/national	Victim-survivor/ professional perspective	
Gilligan (2016)	Targeted: specific population	Young women/ Child sexual exploitation	Voluntary. Two voluntary- sector projects	Victim-survivor only	
Gray & Garner (2015)	Targeted: broad provision	Any type of sexual violence	Range. Sexual and domestic violence and social care services across Newham	Both	
Hailes et al. (2018)	Targeted: + other disadvantage	Women facing multiple disadvantage (including mental health and substance misuse issues)/ Sexual and domestic violence	Range. Including police, health, mental health, housing, substance use and children's services.	Victim-survivor only	
Hester & Lilley (2018) [Linked report: Hester & Lilley (2017)]	Targeted: any victim- survivor	Victor-survivors of rape or sexual abuse engaging with criminal justice system	Statutory. ISVAs Independent Sexual Violence Advisors	Both	
ldriss (2018)	Targeted: specific population	'Honour' based violence & forced marriage	Range. Police, education, social care, health.	Both	
Imkaan (2016a)	Targeted: specific population	Forced marriage	Range. In England and Wales	Professional only	
lmkaan (2016b)	Targeted: specific population	BME women	Range. Mental health services	Both	

Table of UK views studies (n=36) Author(s), year.) Adaptation (t		Type of service or role (Statutory/voluntary/ range)	Victim-survivor/ professional perspective
[Linked reports]			Regional/national	
lmkaan (2018)	Targeted: specific population	BME women	Voluntary. Violence Against Women and Girls for BME populations (funding)	Professional only
Jackson & Fraser (2009)	Adaptation	Sexual abuse as a child	Statutory. Midwives	Professional only
Jackson (2017)	Adaptation	FGM	Statutory. Counselling professionals	Professional only
Javaid (2018) [Linked reports: Javaid (2017, 2017, 2019)]	Targeted: specific population subgroup	Male victim-survivors of rape	Voluntary. Police officers and practitioners working in voluntary agencies	Professional only
Kliner & Stroud (2012)	Targeted: + other disadvantage	Sex trafficked	Range. Health and social care staff, Northern city in England	Professional only
Matthew & Barron (2015)	Targeted: specific population subgroup	Ritual Abuse Survivors	Range. Rape services, police, domestic violence, health, and social services.	Victim-survivor only
McCarry et al. (2018) [Linked report: Berry et al. (2014)]	Targeted: broad provision	Rape/ abuse by intimate partner	Range. Violence Against Women Services in Wales	Both
McMillan (2015)	Targeted: any victim- survivor	Rape/ sexual assault	Statutory. Police. Specially Trained Officer	Professional only

Table of UK views studies (n=36) Author(s), year. [Linked reports]	Targeted orVictim-Survivor PopulationAdaptation(type of sexual violence and other characteristics)		Type of service or role (Statutory/voluntary/ range) Regional/national	Victim-survivor/ professional perspective	
			(STO) in one county in England		
Montgomery et al. (2015)	Adaptation	Women, sexually abused as children	Statutory. Maternity	Victim-survivor only	
Ranjbar & Speer (2013)	Adaptation	Women, victim-survivors of sexual assault	Statutory. Health	Victim-survivor only	
Robinson & Hudson (2011)	Targeted: any victim- survivor	Any type of sexual violence	Range. SARCs and voluntary-sector-based projects (with and without ISVAs) in UK	Both	
Shah et al. (2016)	Targeted: + other disadvantage	Women with disabilities (including cognitive, sensory, and physical)	Range. Specialist support services in UK	Victim-survivor only	
Smith et al. (2015)	Targeted: specific population subgroup	Sexual abuse as a child	Range. Across UK	Victim-survivor only	
Somerset & Avon Rape Sexual Abuse Support (SARSAS) (2018)	Targeted: broad provision	Victim-survivors of rape and childhood sexual abuse.	Range. Group work	Both	
Stanley et al. (2016)	Adaptation	Young people who have been trafficked.	Statutory. Health services in UK	Both	

Table of UK views studies (n=36) Author(s), year.	Targeted or Adaptation	Victim-Survivor Population (type of sexual violence and other characteristics)	Type of service or role (Statutory/voluntary/ range)	Victim-survivor/ professional perspective	
[Linked reports]			Regional/national		
Thiara et al. (2015)	Targeted: specific population subgroup	BME women and girls	Range. Sexual violence services and a sample of specialist BME domestic violence services	Professional only	
Voscur (2018)	Targeted: broad provision	Adult victim-survivors of sexual violence	Range. Adult sexual violence services in Somerset & Avon	Both	

Table 1: Details of UK view studies (Category/ population and type of services or roles covered) Total n=36 studies from 41 reports

5 EVALUATIONS

5.1 Type of evaluation (n=106)

In total, 106 evaluations of specific interventions for victim-survivors of sexual violence or for those providing a service for victim-survivors were identified. A list of included evaluation studies is available in <u>Appendix E</u>. Study characteristics are shown in Appendix G. Of these 106 studies, most (n=86) reported quantitative findings about outcomes or impact. Eight studies were qualitative evaluations of processes only, and 12 studies were evaluations of both outcomes and processes.

5.2 Geographical setting of evaluations (n=106)

Figure 15 shows the number of evaluations by country. More than half of the evaluations were conducted in the USA (62/106 studies). Fifteen studies were conducted in the UK – 12 in England, and three in Scotland. Seven studies were conducted in Canada, six in Germany and six in the Netherlands, three in Denmark, two in France and in Australia, and one each in Israel, South Korea, and Norway.



Figure 15: Number of evaluation studies by country of publication (Total n=106)

5.3 Details of UK-based evaluations (n=15)

Of the 15 UK-based evaluations, four reported outcomes only, eight processes only and three outcomes and processes. All four outcome-only evaluations were conducted in England (Calvert, 2015; Clifford, 2018; Ellis, 2012; Robjant, 2017). The eight UK process-only evaluations were conducted in England (Donohoe, 2010; Donovan, 2011; O'Neill, 2016; Saha, 2011; Van Staden, 2010; Williams, 2017) and Scotland (Brooks, 2017; Brooks-Hay, 2018). The three UK outcome and process evaluations were

conducted in England (Harding-Jones, 2018; Rumney, 2019) and Scotland (Karatzias, 2014).

Table 2 below, provides a breakdown of the type of sexual violence addressed in the 15 UK evaluation studies, by whom the intervention was targeting (provider, victim-survivor or both).

	Sexual abuse – as a child	Rape or abuse – any point in life	Rape or abuse – as an adult	Trafficked – for sex slavery	Sexual exploitation – as a child	Total
Victim-Survivors only	4	1	2	1	0	8
Both professionals and victim-survivors	0	3	0	1	1	5
Professional Staff only	0	2	0	0	0	2
Total	4	6	2	2	1	15

Table 2: Type of sexual violence by sampled population in UK evaluation studies

Further study details of the UK evaluations are presented in <u>Appendix D</u>.

5.3.1 UK outcome evaluations

The four UK outcome evaluations were conducted in specialist services (Clifford, 2018; Robjant, 2017), a range of settings, such as GP surgery, church, or prison, but mainly specialist services (Ellis, 2012), and a public healthcare (NHS) setting (Calvert, 2015). Three were before-and-after studies, and one was a non-randomised study with a no-treatment control group (Calvert, 2015). The studies assessed Cognitive Analytic Therapy (Calvert, 2015), Skills Training in Affective and Interpersonal Regulation (STAIR; Clifford, 2018), writing therapy (Robjant, 2017), and equine therapy; Ellis, 2012), and the outcomes measured were PTSD (Clifford, 2018; Robjant, 2017), depression (Calvert, 2015; Clifford, 2018), wellbeing or functioning (Calvert, 2015; Ellis, 2012), and suicidal thoughts (Ellis, 2012).

5.3.2 UK process evaluations

The eight UK process evaluations were in specialist services (Brooks, 2017; Brooks-Hay, 2018; Donovan, 2011; O'Neill, 2016; Saha, 2011; Williams, 2017), police (Van Staden, 2010), and NHS public healthcare (Donohoe, 2010) settings. They were all qualitative studies, one of which also assessed skills, knowledge and behaviour; this was not classified as an outcome evaluation because it only assessed these measures after the intervention and with no comparator (Donohoe, 2010). They assessed advocacy services including, Rape Crisis (Brooks, 2017; Brooks-Hay, 2018); support and advocacy services, also including Rape Crisis (Donovan, 2011; O'Neill, 2016); police services (Van Staden, 2010); other therapy, such as group therapy (Saha, 2011; Williams, 2017); and education for professionals (Donohoe, 2010). They reported skills, knowledge, and behaviour after the intervention only (Donohoe, 2010), and views (all eight studies).

5.3.3 UK outcome and process evaluations

The three UK outcome and process evaluations were conducted in sexual-violence services (Harding-Jones, 2018), adaptations to police services (Rumney, 2019), and NHS public healthcare (Karatzias, 2014). Two used a before-and-after design and one was a non-randomised study, with a usual-care control group (Rumney, 2019). They assessed police services (Rumney, 2019), Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (Harding-Jones, 2018), and education for victims (Karatzias, 2014), and they reported PTSD (Harding-Jones, 2018; Karatzias, 2014), wellbeing (Harding-Jones, 2018; Karatzias, 2014), depression or anxiety (Karatzias, 2014), dissociation (Karatzias, 2014), legal (Rumney, 2019), views (all three studies), behaviour (Karatzias, 2014) and referral (Rumney, 2019) outcomes.

5.3.4 UK study populations

Out of the 15 UK-based evaluations, eight focused on victim-survivors only (Calvert, 205; Clifford, 2018; Ellis, 2012; Robjant, 2017; Karatzias, 2014; Brooks, 2017; Saha, 2011; Williams, 2017), two on professional staff only (Donohoe, 2010; Van Staden, 2010) and five on both professionals and victim-survivors (Harding-Jones, 2018; Rumney, 2019; Brooks-Hay, 2018; Donovan, 2011; O'Neill, 2016). Ten out of the 13 evaluations that included victim-survivors were female-only; the other three were both male and female (Karatzias, 2014; Rumney, 2019; Brooks-Hay, 2018), with 11% or less of each sample being male. Eleven were focused on individuals aged 18 years and over only, while two included data from both adults and people under 18 years (Rumney, 2019; Brooks-Hay, 2018). The oldest reported UK victim-survivor was 61 years old (Saha, 2011), and across three studies (Calvert, 2015; Clifford, 2018; Karatzias, 2014), the mean age of victim-survivors ranged from 28 to 38 years. Five UK victim-survivor studies reported ethnicity; the populations were mainly (80% or more) White British (Calvert, 2015; Rumney, 2019), mixed ethnicity (Clifford, 2018), mainly (80% or more) minority ethnicity (Robjant, 2017), and all White British (Saha, 2011).

5.4 Type of sexual violence addressed in evaluations (n=106)

The type of sexual violence addressed in the 106 evaluation studies is shown in figure 16.



Figure 16: Type of sexual violence for all evaluations (n=106)

Figure 17 shows a screenshot of the interactive map of evaluation studies by type of sexual violence. The size of each bubble indicates the relative number of studies within each cell. By following the link to the interactive map detailed figures for type of intervention by population and study participants can be obtained along with details of each study.



Professional Staff only • Victim - Survivors only • Both professionals & victim-survivors

Generated using v.2.1.0 of the EPPI-Mapper powered by EPPI Reviewer and created with 🤎 by the Digital Solution Foundry team.

Figure 17: Evaluation studies (n=106) by type of sexual violence and intervention

Link to interactive map: https://eppi.ioe.ac.uk/cms/Portals/0/Evaluations_revised.html?ver=2022-07-11-134818-210

A majority of evaluations (66/106) were focused on two types of sexual violence: 'sexual abuse as a child' (n=37) or 'rape/abuse at any point in life' (n=29). A similar proportion of evaluations focused on 'rape/abuse as an adult' (n=17) and military sexual trauma (n=16). A small number of studies addressed sex trafficking (n=3), 'rape/abuse as an adult by an intimate partner' (n=2), child sexual exploitation (n=1), and sex workers (n=1).

5.5 Service setting of evaluations (n=106)

The setting where the evaluation was carried out was classified as public healthcare (n=25), military medical care (n=18), specialist sexual violence service (n=17), university or educational institution (n=13), residential care (n=8), delivered online (n=3), voluntary services (n=3), or police or legal services (n=2). Ten studies were conducted in a mix of settings, and seven studies did not describe the delivery setting (see figure 18).



Figure 38: Number of evaluation studies by setting in which the service was delivered (n=106)

5.6 Study design of evaluations (n=106)

As figure 19 shows, most of the included evaluations had before-and-after (n=48) or randomised controlled trial (RCT) (n=36) designs. Nine studies compared interventions for alternative populations, such as those with or without military sexual trauma and five studies had a non-randomised controlled design. The eight qualitative studies were all process-only evaluations. The 12 outcome and process evaluations had before-and-after (n=7), RCT, non-randomised controlled (n=2), and alternative population (n=2) designs, as well as collecting views.



Figure 19: Number of evaluation studies by study design (n=106)

5.7 Intervention types evaluated (n=106)

Interventions were classified as services, therapies, education or secondary prevention (see figure 20). Services covered the whole provision, such as therapy, advocacy, support, advice, therapy, and referral to therapy. Therapies could be delivered in any setting and were therapy only. Education was for providers to help them provide the service, or for victim-survivors to help prevent re-victimisation. Secondary prevention describes interventions to prevent further harm after sexual violence, such as HIV prevention medication. Most studies (84/106) assessed a therapy, such as Cognitive Processing Therapy (n=13), Mindfulness (n=5), or writing therapy (n=5). Nine studies assessed services; three on SANEs and two each on advocacy, support and advocacy (including Rape Crisis), and police services. Twelve studies assessed education for professionals (n=8) or victims (n=4). One study assessed the prevention of HIV following sexual assault.



Figure 20: Number of evaluation studies by intervention type (n=106)

5.8 Comparators used in controlled evaluations (n=36)

Within the 36 RCTs 16 compared one treatment with an alternative treatment, 11 compared treatment against usual care, eight compared it with no treatment (or being on a waiting list), and one trial did not describe their control (figure 21).

Within the five non-randomised controlled studies, two compared one treatment with an alternative treatment, one compared the intervention with usual care, one compared it with no treatment (or waiting list), and one did not describe the control.



Figure 21: Number of RCTs by type of control (n=36)

5.9 Outcomes measured in evaluations (n=106)

Most evaluations reported three to five outcome types; some reported ten or more outcomes. The most common outcome was any scale that measured PTSD symptoms reported in 69 out of the 106 studies. Scales measuring depression and/or anxiety were used in 45 studies, and wellbeing or functioning scales were used in 44 studies. Other scales were used to measure other moods (n=12), dissociation (n=5), social support (n=3), suicide attitudes (n=3), contamination (n=2), coping strategies (n=2), physical health (n=2), borderline personality symptoms (n=1), and interpersonal problems (n=1).

Views were reported in 22 studies, and knowledge, attitudes or skills were assessed in 15 studies. Other outcomes were behaviour or service use (n=10), sleep issues (n=6), legal outcomes (n=3), re-victimisation (n=3), side-effects (n=3), drug or hormone tests (n=2), sexual interest or arousal (n=2), adherence to guidelines (n=1), psychophysiological outcomes (heart rate, acoustic startle, and skin conductance; n=1), referrals to specialist support (n=1), and themes from writing therapy (n=1) (see figure 22).



Figure 22: Number of evaluation studies reporting each type of outcome (n=106)

5.10 Specific population focus of evaluations (n=106)

In total, 71 evaluations had a focus on a specific victim-survivor population or professional group, and these are shown in Table 3. The largest number focused on individuals with PTSD (n=26) followed by military populations (n=10) and military personnel with PTSD (n=8). Six studies were conducted with university/college students and four with health professionals (emergency department staff, including residents in a military hospital, n=3; and mental health practitioners, n=1). Four other studies focused on individuals with substance abuse issues including injection drug users, and individuals taking methadone. Other population groups included individuals with HIV, law enforcement officers, and people with learning disabilities. The 35 studies without a specific population focus included all victim-survivors or providers, without limitations on their background (for example, military), experiences (for example, PTSD) or characteristics (for example, learning disability).

PTSD	26
Military	10
Military with PTSD	8
University/college students	6
Health professionals	4
Substance abuse	4
Depression	3
HIV+	2
Law enforcement/legal	2
SANEs	2
Acute Stress Disorder	1
Deliberate self-harm	1
Learning disabilities	1
Older or elderly	1
No specific population focus	35

Table 3: Characteristics of specific evaluation populations (n=106)

5.11 Intervention target population of evaluations (n=106)

Most evaluations were of interventions targeted to victim-survivors (89/106). Eleven studies were based on a sample of professional staff only, and a further six evaluations were based on both professionals and victim-survivors. The following sections provide details on the 95 studies (89 plus six) that included victim-survivor populations.

5.12 Gender of victim-survivors in evaluation studies (n=95)

The gender of victim-survivors is shown in figure 23. It can be seen that almost two thirds of evaluations involving victim-survivors reported a female-only population (60/95, 63%). Thirty-one studies reported a mixed-gender sample, but most were predominantly female; males comprised 25% or less of the sample in 20 out of the 29 mixed-gender studies that reported disaggregated proportions. No evaluations focused on male-only or trans-only populations.



Figure 23: Gender of victim-survivors in evaluation studies (n=95)

5.13 Age of victim-survivors in evaluations (n=95)

A large proportion of evaluations (84/95, 88%) focused on adult victim-survivors only (aged 18 years and over). In two studies, the sample comprised victim-survivors aged 16 years and older. Nine evaluations included adults and some young victim-survivors under the age of 16 years old; the mean age of the population in all evaluations was over 16 years old. One US study (Bowland, 2012) assessed a spiritual intervention for older women victim-survivors, with a mean age of 61 years (range 55 to 83 years).

5.14 Ethnicity of victim-survivors in evaluation studies (n=95)

As figure 24 reveals, the largest proportion of evaluations comprised a population of both White and minority ethnic victim-survivors (38/95). In 16 evaluations, the population was mainly White (80% or more), and a further four comprised mainly minority ethnic individuals (80% or more). Five studies had an all White sample.



Figure 24: Ethnicity of victim-survivors (n=95)

6 SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

6.1 Overview of systematic reviews (n=21)

We identified 21 systematic reviews. A list of included systematic reviews is shown in <u>Appendix H</u> and study details of these reviews are presented in <u>Appendix I</u>. The populations of interest were victim-survivors of sexual violence (n=17) and professionals (n=4). The reviews contained a total of 309 primary studies. The number of included primary studies ranged from 0-99 as several 'empty' systematic reviews (n=5) relating to FGM identified no eligible studies.

The types of interventions reviewed were predominantly mental health and psychological interventions to reduce PTSD and improve psychosocial wellbeing (n=11). There were three reviews which explored views and experiences of service-users and two reviews on views about skills and attitudes from professionals. Methodological designs of included studies varied from RCTs to mixed methods and qualitative studies. Included primary studies were conducted in different countries with the majority in the USA, while only 15 out of 309 studies were conducted in the UK.

The inclusion criteria of some of the 21 systematic reviews varied in terms of the types of population, types of sexual violence and interventions. In this systematic map, we present only data from the included primary studies that are relevant to our research question. For example, we excluded from the review studies which addressed domestic abuse/intimate partner violence, we also excluded studies involving interventions for sexually abused children aged under 16 years and sexual offenders.

We categorised the 21 systematic reviews into four population types of sexual violence: female genital mutilation (n=8), sexual violence including rape and sexual assault (n=6), sexual abuse as a child (n=5) and human trafficking (n=2) (see figure 25).



Figure 25: Systematic reviews by type of sexual violence

Across all categories, mental health and psychological interventions were the most common (n=15 out of 21).

Number of systematic reviews by types of study designs of included studies

Comparative studies with a control group to evaluate the effectiveness of interventions were selected, as an inclusion criterion, in 12 systematic reviews, studies of various method designs was selected in five, and a before-and-after design in one review. Three systematic reviews selected qualitative studies of elicited views (see Figure 26).



Figure 26: Types of study designs of included systematic reviews by sexual violence population

Number of systematic reviews by types of outcomes

The most common outcomes assessed in these reviews were psychosocial outcomes such as PTSD, anxiety, and depression (n=11). Other outcomes assessed were sexual functioning (n=2), safe-sex practices (n=1), and efficacy of SANEs (n=1). Views on access to services, attitudes, knowledge and perceived needs of service-users and professionals were explored in six reviews (see figure 27).



Figure 27: Types of outcomes measured in the systematic reviews by sexual violence population

Number of systematic reviews by number of included studies

The highest number of included studies was found in the five systematic reviews on the sexual abuse as children category (n=147), followed by the six reviews on sexual abuse and violence (n=103), eight reviews on female genital mutilation (n=42), and two reviews on human trafficking (n=17). Five of the eight reviews on FGM did not identify any eligible studies for inclusion. The majority of the included studies were from the USA. Only 15 out of 309 studies were conducted in the UK.

Number of systematic reviews by methods of data synthesis

The most common method of synthesis in these reviews was narratives (n=10), followed by thematic (n=3) and meta-analysis (n=3). The remaining five reviews (n=5) did not include any studies so no synthesis methods were applied.

6.2 Characteristics of systematic reviews by types of sexual violence (n=21)

6.2.1 Female Genital Mutilation (n=8)

We identified eight systematic reviews relating to FGM. Four assessed mental health interventions (Abayomi 2017; Adelufosi 2017; Bello 2017; Okomo 2017), one looked at surgical and non-surgical interventions (Ezebialu 2017) for women and girls, who were victims of FGM. One review explored birth and labour experiences of FGM victim-survivors (Hamid 2018) and two reviews assessed the knowledge, attitudes and training experiences of healthcare professionals working to support FGM victim-survivors (Dawson 2015; Zurynski 2015). As noted above five 'empty' FGM systematic reviews identified no eligible studies. Very few UK studies (n=8) were included in these eight reviews (see Table 4 below).

Table 4: Female genital mutilation: summary of review characteristics

Characteristics of reviews (n=8)							
Vi	ctim-survivors (n=6)		Professionals (n=2)				
Number of reviews	4	1	1		1	1	
Author/Year of publication	Abayomi 2017; Adelufosi 2017; Bello 2017; Okomo 2017	Ezebialu 2017	Hamid 2018		Dawson 2015	Zurynski 2015	
Populations/age	Women and girls with FGM of any age	Women and girls with FGM of any age	Women with FGM		Healthcare professionals	Healthcare professionals	
Types of interventions/views	*Mental health interventions	**surgical and non- surgical interventions	Views		Views	Views	
Study design of included studies	RCTs and NRCTs	RCTs and NRCTs	Qualitative studies		Mixed designs	Cross-sectional and qualitative studies	
Types of outcomes	PTSD, anxiety, depression, patient satisfaction, sexual dysfunction, medico- legal complaints	Vulvar and clitoral pain, post-op adverse events	Labour and birth experiences		Experience and needs in supporting women with FGM	Knowledge and attitudes of FGM in clinical practice	
Other participant characteristics	na	na	African immigrant women in countries of resettlement		Nurses, midwives, doctors, gynaecologists	Nurses, midwives, obstetricians, social workers, psychologists	

Search dates	Inception -2015	Inception -2015	Inception -2016	2004-2014	2000-2014
No. of included studies	0	0	14 (3 UK studies)	10 (2 UK studies)	18 (3 UK studies)
Types of synthesis	na	na	Thematic (meta- synthesis)	Narrative	Narrative

* supportive psychotherapy, education, cognitive behaviour therapy, counselling, sexual counselling

**deinfibulation and reconstruction, analgesic medication

Not applicable (na)

6.2.2 Sexual violence including rape and sexual assault (n=6)

Of the six systematic reviews on sexual violence including rape and assault two examined the effectiveness of mental health interventions on PTSD (Berry 2014; Parcesepe 2015), and one examined the impact of safe sexual practices on HIV/STI prevention (Deming 2018) among victim-survivors. The timing of interventions was examined in another review (Dworkin 2018) and one review examined the efficacy of SANEs in terms of STI/HIV prophylaxis and conviction rates (Toon 2014). The views of sex workers were explored in one review (Platt 2018) on how the criminalisation of sex work impacts on their safety, health and access to services. Only five studies conducted in the UK were included in these six reviews (see Table 5).

Characteristics of reviews (n=6)								
	Victim-sur	vivors (n=5)				Professionals (n=1)		
Number of reviews	1	1	1	1	1	1		
Author/Year of publication	Berry 2014	Parcesepe 2015	Dworkin 2018	Deming 2018	Platt 2018	Toon 2014		
Populations/age	Adult women	Adult women	Adult men and women	Adult women	Men and women sex workers (age 14- 68 years)	SANE		
Types of interventions/ views	Hental health interventions	ł Mental health interventions	Timing of response/ Interventions	HIV/STI intervention	Views	SANE care vs non- SANE care		

Table 5: Sexual violence including rape and sexual assault: summary of review characteristics

Study design of included studies	Mixed designs	RCTs and NRCTs	Mixed designs	Mixed designs	Qualitative studies	RCTs and NRCTs
Types of outcomes	PTSD, anxiety, depression, satisfaction	PTSD, anxiety, depression, distress-fear	PTSD Help-seeking experiences	Safe sexual practices	Safety, health and access to services related to criminalisation of sex work	Efficacy (STI, pregnancy and HIV prophylaxis; prosecution /conviction rates)
Other participant characteristics	na	na	na	na	Includes trans gender people	na
Search dates	2000-2014	1985-2012	Not stated	2007-2017	1990-2018	Inception -2014
No. of included studies	10 (1 UK study)	9	15 (2 UK studies)	17	46 (1 UK study)	6 (1 UK study)
Types of synthesis	Narrative	Narrative	Narrative	Narrative	Thematic synthesis	Meta-analysis

+ Cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT), supportive psychotherapy and counselling, Imagery rehearsal therapy, Eye Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing (EMDR), coping skill/assertiveness training, stress inoculation therapy, and others

Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner (SANE)

6.2.3 Sexual abuse as a child (n=5)

Of the five systematic reviews identified on sexual abuse as a child, four evaluated the effects of mental health and psychological interventions on PTSD (Wilen 2015; O'Driscoll 2016; Korotana 2016; Chen 2018) in adult men and women with a history of child sexual abuse. One review explored the views of this population on how trauma-focused talking therapies helped them in the process of healing in developing trust and discovering a sense of self (Parry 2016). Only two studies conducted in the UK were included in these five reviews (see Table 6).

Characteristics of reviews (n=5)							
Victim-survivors (n=5)							
Number of reviews	1	1	1	1	1		
Author/Year of publication	Wilen 2015	Parry 2016	O'Driscoll 2016	Korotana 2016	Chen 2018		
Populations/age	Adult survivors	Adult men and women	Adult women	Adult men and women	Adult men and women		
Types of interventions/views	Hental health	Views on interventions	<i>↓ ↓</i> Psychological interventions	Hental health	<pre># Mental health interventions (EMDR)</pre>		
Study design of included studies	RCTs	Qualitative studies	RCTs	RCTs and NRCTs	RCTs		

Table 6: Sexual abuse as a child: summary of review characteristics

Types of outcomes	PTSD, anxiety, depression, suicide	Experience of healing, connecting with others, discovering hope for the future	Sexual dysfunctions and concerns	PTSD, anxiety, depression, emotional functioning	PTSD, anxiety, depression
Search dates	Not stated	Not stated	Inception-2015	Not stated	Inception-2017
No. of included studies	18	23 (2 UK studies)	4	99	3
Types of synthesis	Meta-analysis	Thematic synthesis	Meta-analysis	Narrative	Narrative

‡CBT, supportive psychotherapy and counselling, Imagery rehearsal therapy, EMDR, coping skill/assertiveness training, stress inoculation therapy, and others

H Trauma Affect Regulation: Guide for Education and Therapy, Supportive group therapy, Trauma focus expressive Writing, Sexual schemafocused expressive writing, Cognitive-processing therapy, Prolonged exposure, Minimal attention condition, Present-centred therapy.

6.2.4 Human sex trafficking (n=2)

We identified two systematic reviews on victim-survivors of human sex trafficking. One review assessed the impact of mental health interventions on PTSD and quality of life on victims of human trafficking (Menon, 2018) and one review evaluated the effectiveness of educational interventions for healthcare professionals to improve awareness of trafficking and skills in identifying trafficking victims (Fraley, 2019) (see Table 7). No studies included in these reviews were conducted in the UK.

Table 7: Human sex trafficking: summary of review characteristics

Characteristics of reviews (n=2)						
Victim-su	rvivors (n=1)	Healthcare professionals (n=1)				
Number of reviews	1	1				
Author/Year of publication	Menon 2018	Fraley 2019				
Populations/age	Adult women (age not stated)	Healthcare professionals				
Types of interventions/views	Hental health interventions	Educational intervention (one-to- one, web-based)				
Study design of included studies	RCTs	Pre- and post-test design				
Types of outcomes	PTSD, anxiety, depression, self-reported health-related quality of life	Awareness of and attitudes towards victims of human trafficking, confidence in identifying trafficking victims				
Other participant characteristics	na	Medical doctors, nurses, social workers, mental health providers, health educators				
Search dates	Inception – 2017	2000 -2018				
No. of included studies	10	7				
Types of synthesis	Narrative	Narrative				

- -

[‡]Spiritually focused group therapy, educational video, computer-based, interference control training, image rehearsal therapy, sexual revictimization prevention training, culturally sensitive trauma-focused cognitive behavioral therapy, CBT.

7 STAKEHOLDER / ADVISORY GROUP MEETING

A total of eight stakeholders attended the advisory group meeting. Attendees had a range of experience and covered a spectrum of victim-survivor and professional perspectives. Attendees included representatives from the Survivors Trust, Survivors' Network, Imkaan and Galop, alongside the Lead for National Implementation of SAAS from NHS England, a policy analyst from DHSC and a practitioner working as a sexual health advisor at Guy's and St Thomas' Hospital.

We held a three-hour meeting during which we:

- gave an introductory overview of the research followed by time for discussion and comments
- discussed the relevance of three abstracts which various members of the review team had sought a second opinion on which had been sent out in advance of the meeting
- discussed options for presentation and grouping of the evidence
- ended with general discussion about the usefulness and generalisability of the types of studies that we had found to UK policy and practice.

7.1 Main themes

The session was structured to be interactive and we invited stakeholders to share their views and join in the discussion wherever possible. The following main themes emerged:

7.1.1 Issues around definitions

As the map covers a wide range of services and interventions, populations, and types of sexual abuse and violence, we discussed different elements of the scope:

Sexual violence

As sexual violence is used as an umbrella term, stakeholders urged us to be clear about the definition we had adopted and ensure that we are consistent with the terminology used. For example, sexual exploitation is not to be used interchangeably with abuse.

Age

Stakeholders suggested it would be helpful to separate young people (16/17 years or even those aged 13+) from adults (18+) when presenting findings. It was acknowledged that studies focusing on 16- and 17-year-olds may be applicable to adults, but that older teenagers have specific considerations owing to complexities around their legal status and, in some cases, heightened vulnerabilities.

Stakeholders also suggested that where possible, we should address older adults as a discrete category. As, along with younger victim-survivors, they are a vulnerable group who are at risk of being dismissed as unreliable reporters. It was noted that the Crime Survey for England and Wales has recently started to ask about sexual violence up to age 74 years (since April 2017 – used to be up to age 59 years), but that this is still missing a large proportion of the population who are aged over 75 years.

7.1.2 Outcomes

Accessibility, cost savings, health and wellbeing outcomes were seen to be the most useful. However, the usefulness or relevance of outcome measures was context

specific. Outcomes had to be considered in terms of the aim of the intervention or service and whose perspective, or range of perspectives, they were looking at.

Stakeholders commented that the outcomes captured, which were health, wellbeing and criminal justice related, from both professional and victim-survivor perspectives – were broad and not comparable.

Commissioners have their own targets and outcomes, and collect data on time travelled, surveys before and after the service, or end-of-service satisfaction. This information is rarely made available to the wider public, and it contrasts with the kinds of outcomes that are more commonly used in published research.

From a victim-survivor perspective, stakeholders discussed the importance of measuring outcomes relating to empowerment and safety. However, this could be interpreted in various ways – it could include service related measures such as feeling safe in a service setting, through to a range of distal measures such as: keeping a job or a home, or living a life free from fear.

Recovery was discussed in terms of offering opportunities to disclose and respond; acute crisis support; and, in relation to long term wellbeing. Victim-survivors' outcomes might change over time and may not always take a linear path. As such outcomes need to be assessed over extended periods of time in order to show effects over the short, medium and longer-term.

Criminal justice related outcomes are not always relevant to victim-survivors, but evidence gathering processes, and support from ISVAs, is. For example, a qualitative study on victim-survivors' experience of receiving support from an ISVA would reveal much more than prosecution or conviction rates considered in isolation.

7.1.3 What stakeholders want to know

Understandably, information on cost-effectiveness and cost-saving was highly sought after, although it was understood to be scarce. Service providers and commissioners wanted to know the best way to spend their money, which interventions are most effective, and the benefits of specialist service provision in the voluntary sector over those provided by a generic health provider.

As discussed above, wellbeing and empowerment outcomes were highly valued by many providers and victim-survivor advocates said they would welcome guidance on how to measure these, and which outcomes to measure.

Stakeholders expressed an interest in evidence relating to pathways and referral, relationships between commissioners and providers, the effects of cuts to services, access to services (as an outcome), access to mental health services, suicide risk, and service waiting lists and "turn-away" rates. The level of unmet need would be a useful way to justify the spending, and likelihood of cost saving, through commissioning adequate, fit-for-purpose, services.

Stakeholders discussed the need to better understand the barriers to and reasons why people did not access services at the earliest opportunity. Online testing asks the person if they have recently been a victim of a sexual assault. If they respond affirmatively a Health Advisor will try and contact that person to signpost them to appropriate services. However, there are many instances where people do not disclose
because they are afraid or do not recognise what happened to them as a crime, or because they fear judgement or having to relive their traumatic experience through criminal justice processes. Reluctance to report may be particularly heightened when drugs or alcohol have been involved, for example, in cases of sexual assault relating to chemsex (sex, often with multiple partners, under the influence of psychoactive drugs). A face-to-face consultation can support victim-survivors who do not selfidentify, or for whom the assault or abuse was not recent, to seek help. With online testing methods, there are fewer opportunities to gain another person's perspective or refer people to services, which means there is increased likelihood of victim-survivors reaching crisis points.

Lastly, the group expressed that it would be useful to be able to draw on clear examples of good practice relating to co-ordinating and optimising services.

7.1.4 Relevance of studies included in the map

Stakeholders expressed some doubt as to the relevance or usefulness of many of the evaluations included in the map for informing UK practice. For example, CBT, and in some cases, EMDR, may be provided but when applied to a different population, within a different context the outcomes may be different. Particular mistrust was voiced over the relevance of the US evidence. Stakeholders stressed the limitations of US evidence which focuses on a criminal justice system which is not comparable, evaluations involving SANEs, which is a role which has been established in the US for much longer than in the UK, and evaluations of interventions addressing military sexual trauma.

The stakeholders felt that the UK views studies, which would provide insight into victims-survivors' and professionals' experiences, would be more useful and provide a better sense of what works and what is lacking in regard to service provision.

As suggested by the term 'specialist', the stakeholders described their services as providing tailored interventions, with agreement between the attendees that different people require different types of support which may also be delivered in a variety of different ways. Naturally, context is particularly important.

Stakeholders were particularly keen to know more about evidence on the voluntary sector, as well as SARCs and ISVAs, and, where possible, for studies that are conducted in the UK.

7.2 Following the meeting

The above views were discussed by the research team. After the event we were more aware of how to distinguish between population subgroups, such as making sure we distinguished between sexual exploitation and childhood sexual abuse, when coding the studies and writing up the report. Their feedback also helped us to clarify our definitions of adults (adult and child services versus who the specialist services cater for), and instructed how we captured and reported age categories and additional population characteristics in the map. Discussion with stakeholders alerted us to the different ways in which 'specialist services' could be interpreted. As such, we opted to use descriptive terms such as 'targeted services' and 'adaptations of general services' when describing UK views studies identified for our map, and highlighted that our definition of 'specialist services' for the purposes of this map was inclusive and applied across all sectors.

8 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

8.1 Summary and discussion

This systematic map sets out the nature and extent of the evidence on adult specialist services for victim-survivors of sexual violence. The evidence spans a broad range of interventions and services across statutory and voluntary agencies from both victimsurvivor and professional perspectives.

As this is a systematic map, its main purpose is to present an overview of the available research, to highlight gaps in the evidence-base and to indicate where in-depth synthesis is possible.

While there are significant gaps in relation to the UK evidence (see section 8.3), there are pockets of research which can give insights into the current UK landscape of sexual violence services. We located process evaluations of a national advocacy service in Scotland (Brooks, 2017; Brooks-Hay, 2018); a Rape Crisis Centre in Tyneside (Donovan 2011), and an evaluation of a pilot project to support victim-survivors of historic child sex exploitation in Leeds (O'Neill, 2016).

We identified 26 UK views studies on targeted services for victim-survivors of sexual violence. These studies provide insight into the views of BME victim-survivors and those who have experienced so-called 'honour'-based violence or forced marriage and the professionals who support them. We also identified studies which focussed on victim-survivors with additional vulnerabilities or disadvantage such as women who are disabled, women seeking asylum, younger people with learning disabilities, and women who have mental health or substance misuse problems.

This evidence base would benefit from quality appraisal and subsequent in-depth synthesis which could provide a nuanced understanding of UK victim-survivors' needs and experiences across a range of population subgroups and types of sexual violence. The evidence spans voluntary and statutory services, at local, regional, and sometimes national level. Synthesising these studies would allow a greater understanding of kinds of services that victim-survivors should be offered and how they should be delivered. A more sophisticated grey literature search is also warranted, in order to ensure relevant research which is not published in mainstream publications is captured.

Often, those who are at a higher risk of being subjected to sexual violence, such as women from gypsy or traveller communities, or individuals BME or LGBTQI* communities, also face the most barriers in accessing support services, or are mistrustful of 'formal' sources of support (Cemlyn et al., 2009; Love et al, 2017). The risk of re-victimisation, or secondary traumatisation, through poor treatment in statutory services is high for victim-survivors of sexual violence. Victim-survivors' experiences of medical and legal systems, in particular, have been described as not just unsatisfactory, but distressing and stigmatising (Cambell, 2006, Smith et al. 2015).

Regardless of whether the victim-survivor reports to the police, control, empowerment and the ability to live a life free from fear or blame are all crucial components of recovery. Westmarland & Alderson (2013) incorporated these concepts when they piloted a tool to evaluate the effectiveness of Rape Crisis Centres in England. Discussions at our stakeholder event also highlighted the importance of being able to capture broader life outcomes – such as ability to work, autonomy, and feeling in control – which, arguably, enables a more holistic understanding of how well a victimsurvivor is coping in the long term, when compared with mental health outcomes alone.

Involving victims and survivors in the development and improvement of services is a core priority of NHS England's strategic direction for sexual assault and abuse services (NHS England, p.5, 2018). Co-producing research is one way that this could be achieved. One study we identified in our map involved victim-survivors of ritual abuse in a collaborative piece of research on the help-seeking behaviour of this particular population (Matthews & Barron, 2015). Another looked at the potential for co-production in developing Violence Against Women services in Wales (McCarry et al., 2018).

Two forthcoming/ongoing NIHR-funded studies in England show particular promise at addressing some of the gaps identified in the research and issues which were highlighted in the stakeholder event. Firstly, a co-research study on the role, funding and commissioning of specialist services provided by the voluntary sector (https://www.fundingawards.nihr.ac.uk/award/18/02/27). Secondly, a much needed longitudinal study to evaluate SARCs and other sexual violence services, which is due to complete in 2022. The study will follow victim-survivors' recovery trajectory over two years and will assess outcomes such as relationships, work and education and safety (http://www.isrctn.com/ISRCTN30846825).

8.2 Strengths and limitations

Our scope is intentionally broad as we wanted to capture all the available evidence on the range of services for people of all genders and population groups, aged 16 years or older, who are victim-survivors of sexual violence and abuse. As such, our definition of 'specialist services' is not restricted by service setting, sector, or role of professional or volunteer but is defined by the provision of care or support to victim-survivors of sexual violence, regardless of their pathway. This inclusive approach is useful for a systematic map, whose primary purpose is to assess the size and scope of research in a particular topic area (Katz et al. 2013).

One potential limitation is that we excluded studies relating to services or interventions for violence against women, domestic violence or intimate partner violence, unless they contained a specific reference to sexual violence or abuse. We acknowledge that sexual violence is linked in complex ways to other forms of genderbased violence and disadvantage and that victim-survivors may present to services through a variety of routes (Welsh Assembly, 2010; Hailes et al. 2018).

All the same, it was beyond the scope of this map to address these relationships and overlaps in any depth. There is also a strong rationale for looking at sexual violence services in isolation. Historically, sexual violence services have been largely overshadowed by domestic violence services and, in the current competitive commissioning landscape providers of sexual violence services feel at risk of being subsumed by them (Green & Skeates, 2018).

A potential weakness is that our searches may not have identified all relevant research. Alongside searching six electronic databases we also carried out searches to identify grey literature. We did not have the resources to conduct these searches exhaustively and one oversight is that we did not search more online sources, such as Social Care Online. Our Google search string was basic, which may have resulted in missing relevant studies which were not published in mainstream journals.

Lastly, to highlight the issue of 'double counting', it is highly likely that the same included studies were shared among some of the included systematic reviews. Many of the primary evaluation studies reviewed in section 5 are also likely to be included in some of these 21 systematic reviews. However, as we have not delved into the results of the studies, or attempted to combine them, the only risk is a slight over-representation of the research conducted in certain areas.

8.3 Gaps in evidence base

We identified a lack of evidence on the effectiveness of UK specialist services for victim-survivors of sexual violence. However, a lack of evidence on effectiveness of these services should not be interpreted to mean these services are not effective.

Research produced for the Government Equalities Office a decade ago highlighted the lack of evaluations of community-based support for rape victim-survivors in England and Wales (Brown et al., 2010) and the approach to evaluating services ten years on still appears to be piecemeal.

To our knowledge, there is also little robust research on the cost-effectiveness of specialist support services for victim-survivors of sexual violence and abuse. Professor Sylvia Walby has researched the economic aspects of Violence Against Women services, focussing for the most part on primary prevention. Towers and Walby (2012) warned that the full impact of the cuts to UK services would not be realised for years to come, and they highlighted the need for better collection of data to allow evidence-informed decision-making.

The five empty systematic reviews on FGM (Abayomi, 2017; Adelufosi, 2017; Bello, 2017; Ezebialu, 2017; Okomo, 2017) suggest that little research has been carried out on this type of sexual violence. As discussed in section 1.2, prevention, identification and support for victim-survivors of FGM is a topic which is gaining a lot traction in UK policy and practice. The lack of research on FGM was also highlighted by the Centre of Expertise on Child Sexual Abuse, especially in the context of young people (Sharps-Jeffs et al. 2017).

Aside from one systematic review on male and female sex-workers' experience of safety and access to services in the face of criminalisation (Platt, 2018), no other research has addressed trans or non-binary populations, and no studies exclusively addressed these populations. However, since completing the map, we have identified two studies which address trans populations' and marginalised groups and report their experiences of accessing services (Rymer & Cartei, 2015 and Love et al. 2017). Both studies were published in *Critical and Radical Social Work* which was not indexed by any of the databases we searched and, as they are not classified as service evaluations, were not captured by our grey literature search.

Only one UK views study related to male victim-survivors. The study sought the views of professionals providing support and, as such, no studies were included in the map which directly sought male victim-survivors' views.

9 DETAILED METHODS

This section provides a detailed account of the methods used to identify and characterise the studies included in the map. EPPI-Reviewer 4 software was used to manage the processes. The project, including stakeholder involvement, received full ethical approval from the UCL IOE Research Ethics Committee. A protocol was agreed with DHSC and was shared with all review team members and stakeholders. As PROSPERO does not currently accept protocols of systematic maps we did not register it at this stage. The protocol is presented in <u>Appendix I</u>.

9.1 General methods

Systematic evidence maps are often used to identify and report on the range of research which has been produced within a broad topic area, and can provide a foundation for more in-depth syntheses (Saran & White, 2018). Evidence mapping is also a useful way to identify gaps in knowledge and future research needs (Katz et al. 2003).

As we were responding to a broad policy question, in an area in where there is a dearth of research, we adopted a systematic map approach which would allow us to identify research gaps and inform future priority setting and in-depth reviews in future.

9.2 Review question

What is known about the effectiveness and appropriateness (availability, acceptability and accessibility) of specialist adult services for people who have experienced sexual violence and abuse?

9.3 Study identification

9.3.1 Searching for studies

To identify relevant studies we searched six electronic databases spanning social science, psychology, healthcare and criminal justice:

- ASSIA
- CINAHL
- Criminal Justice Abstracts
- Epistemonikos
- MEDLINE
- PsycINFO

The literature search was undertaken in April 2019. The search strategy was developed and implemented by an information specialist (KW) in collaboration with two other members of the team (CK, SL). The search was limited to studies published in English, as we did not have the resources available to translate reviews published in other languages. We used 2009 as a cut-off date for publication.

An example of the search strategy, as used in MEDLINE, is presented in <u>Appendix A</u>.

The MEDLINE search consisted of four sections: a section including search terms for specific sexual offences (for example, rape, sexual assault) which was combined (using AND) with a range of terms for services (for example, primary health care, sexual

assault unit); the section including search terms for specific sexual offences was also combined (using AND) with a set of search terms describing specific therapies (for example, CBT, counselling). The resulting two sets were then combined together (using OR). A further set of search terms attempted to exclude all non-OECD papers.

A total of 22,899 records were identified by all database searches. These items were loaded into EndNote bibliographic software to leave a total of 15,477 unique records after deduplication.

In order to ensure that we identified relevant grey literature, we also searched online sources, including the websites of sexual violence charities and organisations, undertook reference harvesting, and contacted experts in the field. In April 2019, we searched the following sources:

- Imkaan <u>https://www.imkaan.org.uk/research,</u> <u>https://www.imkaan.org.uk/resources</u>
- Rape Crisis <u>https://rapecrisis.org.uk/get-informed/reports-briefings/</u>
- Centre for Women's Justice <u>https://www.centreforwomensjustice.org.uk/policy-research</u>
- Solace Women's Aid <u>https://www.solacewomensaid.org/get-informed/resources-library</u>
- NIA Ending Violence –
 <u>http://www.niaendingviolence.org.uk/about_us/research.php</u>
- Survivors UK https://www.survivorsuk.org/resources/publications/

We also undertook the following Google searches, using the advanced search interface to limit results to the UK and PDF documents. As a minimum, the first 15 pages of results were then screened to identify any potentially relevant reports:

- "sexual violence" service evaluation
- "sexual assault" service evaluation
- "sexual abuse" service evaluation
- rape service evaluation

An additional 26 studies were located through these extra searches, which resulted in a total of 15,503 potentially relevant items being uploaded into EPPI-Reviewer to be screened.

9.3.2 Screening for studies

EXCLUDE 1	Not published in English
EXCLUDE 2	Non-OECD setting
EXCLUDE 3	Topic not abuse or violence
EXCLUDE 4	Topic is not sexual violence/abuse.
	Has to be mention of sexual violence/rape in the abstract. Mention of domestic violence or of intimate partner violence alone is insufficient.
	Topic is not specialised sexual violence services or intervention
EXCLUDE 5	Study is NOT about specialised services for victim-survivors of sexual violence and abuse. Needs to address the effects on an individual of the experience of sexual violence (so primary prevention efforts should be excluded). Testing (for sperm) alone is not enough. Forensic interventions are out unless there is specific reference to psycho-social efforts, for example, counselling. Perpetrator interventions are beyond remit.
	Pathways, procedures and referrals should be included. Includes attitudes and training for professionals.
EXCLUDE 6	Intervention target group is aged <16 years only
	The subjects of the intervention are NOT adults, of any gender, over the age of 16 years who have experienced sexual violence and abuse at some point in their life.
	For consistency: Unless age otherwise stated to enable a decision:
	If it mentions only girl/boy/child(ren) – EXCLUDE If it mentions adolescents – INCLUDE
EXCLUDE 7	Non UK-based study that explores views or intervention processes only
EXCLUDE 8	Not a study of views or an evaluation of intervention outcomes or processes
	Anything where there are no terms that indicate views or evaluative goals should be excluded. Studies that explicitly identify themselves as studying prevalence of service provision only would go here.
EXCLUDE 9	No empirical data collected
	For example, report is an editorial, discussion piece, set of guidelines, consensus/position statement, literature review or just 'review'.
EXCLUDE 10	Published before 2009

We applied the following exclusion criteria when screening on title and abstract:

Therefore, to be included in the systematic map, studies had to:

- be about adult specialist services for victim-survivors of sexual violence and abuse (including statutory, third-sector and voluntary organisations);
- provide findings about the effectiveness and/or appropriateness of these services*;
- be about services aimed at adults, of any gender, over the age of 16 years who have experienced sexual violence and abuse at any point in their life;
- be published in or after 2009; and
- be published in the English language.

* In terms of study designs, we included:

- Qualitative studies conducted in the UK of the views and experiences of people seeking or providing specialist adult services;
- Evaluations conducted in the UK of intervention processes (process evaluations);
- Evaluations of the outcomes of interventions that

a) use a comparative design (cost-effectiveness, RCTs, controlled trials and beforeand-after studies), and

b) are conducted in OECD countries; and

• Systematic reviews which include any of the above types of study

Six reviewers (SL, IK, MK, RR, CK, GR) co-screened an initial sample of abstracts which amounted to 10% of the total number. Abstracts were independently screened and then compared in groups of at least two reviewers, differences were resolved by group discussion. Once coding was completed on this sample and reviewers had reached over 95% agreement, priority screening – which uses text-mining and machine learning technology to pull out the most relevant studies – was activated. The remaining abstracts were screened by single reviewers. One member of the team (PM) joined the review at a later stage and completed screening for the final 10% of items on title and abstract. The inclusion rate was very low by this stage, on account of priority screening, and no includes were found.

The full texts of all references meeting the inclusion criteria, or where it was unclear if they met the criteria, were retrieved. These items were screened on full text where we applied the same criteria as we did on 'Title and Abstract' screening, but with two additional criteria.

EXCLUDE 11	Case studies which had fewer than five participants and outcome evaluations which did not have a comparison group or a before-and-after design.
EXCLUDE 12	Conference abstracts or other forms of incomplete reports.

9.3.3 Information extraction

We developed a coding tool in order to extract characteristics from the studies included on full text. We captured information relating to: study aim, study design, population type (victim-survivors/professionals/both); characteristics of populations (age, gender, sexual violence experience); intervention type, and service and country setting. The development of the coding tool was iterative. We added extra codes, such as extra dimensions of population characteristics, following discussion with stakeholders and once we were more familiar with the types of studies included in the map. All reviewers extracted information from the studies. During the writing up process reviewers double checked and consolidated the coding entered by other reviewers to ensure that we worked with consistency across the different sets of included studies.

9.3.4 Creation of interactive maps

Interactive online maps were generated using EPPI-Mapper software (Thomas 2018) which provides an interactive user interface powered by EPPI-Reviewer (Thomas et al. 2020).

9.4 Stakeholder methods

We aimed to hold a stakeholder event in order to discuss the initial findings of our map. This would allow us to give a picture of the characteristics of the types of studies we had found and discuss priority setting and possible directions for an in-depth review.

This began with submitting an ethics form in April to conduct a consultation with stakeholders. Once this was approved, two members of the review team worked on stakeholder recruitment and engagement (MK, RR). The pair researched and searched various reports such as, *All Party Parliamentary Group on Sexual Violence Report in to funding and commissioning of sexual violence and abuse services 2018* to identify key people as potential advisory group members.

The researchers also outreached with external experts in the field of sexual health at Guy's and St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust and Lewisham LGBT Forum to help find participants. An extensive list was created keeping in consideration the aims and research questions as stated in <u>section 2.3</u>.

One researcher (MK) then led the stakeholder work, reducing the extensive list to a workable sample of 17 which included a broad range of people who work in the field of sexual violence: victim-survivor advocates, service providers and co-ordinators, policy analysts and developers, academics and practitioners. As this is a highly sensitive issue it was apparent from searching on the websites that names of staff are not always listed for confidentiality purposes, the researcher had to make phone calls to discern a main contact. The researcher successfully managed to recruit 14 out of the 17 contacts directly, gathering key names and email addresses of CEOs, directors, researchers and frontline staff. For the remaining three contacts (two academics) names and email addresses were easily found on the university website and one was the secretary for a FGM clinician who would pass on the invite.

In May, emails were sent out to 17 contacts about the project, inviting them to join the advisory group, the following information and attachment was provided:

- more information on our project and the scope of our map
- information on possible dates for the stakeholder event
- terms of reference outlining what their involvement would entail.

The majority of the stakeholders, expressed a positive response for the opportunity to be involved and described the work as 'much needed'. Once stakeholders had

confirmed availability and date was set for meeting, two further emails were sent out to participants. The second email was only sent to 14 out of the 17 participants. Three participants were not able to take part: two had busy schedules and one invitee had concerns about whether a systematic review was the right approach. The ones who were keen to participate in the advisory group were sent the following information:

- details of meeting (time and date)
- a request for accessibility and dietary requirements
- Information about subsidy request for public involvement (INVOLVE)

In total 12 participants agreed to attend the advisory group meeting and two of the participants from Survivors Trust and Galop requested a telephone conversation for clarity on the project and expectations of advisory group members. The discussions were very informative and helpful for both the participants and researcher (MK) whereby the individuals shared their views and experiences of working in their particular area of sexual violence support provision. In the run up to the event we sent confirmed attendees:

- details of venue, time, and agenda
- a copy of the protocol to comment on in the group discussion
- excerpts from three example studies to examine in meeting

Those who were unable to make that particular date passed on details to colleagues working in similar roles some of whom attended in their place. On the day of the event which we held on July 17th 2019, four people were unable to attend owing to travel disruption and other urgent business, so, ultimately, we held the event with eight stakeholders. The invitees who couldn't attend were very apologetic as they were looking forward to the meeting and offered their assistance if it was required.

See <u>section 7</u> for details of the findings from the stakeholder event.

10 REFERENCES

APPG Adult Survivors of Childhood Sexual Abuse (2019) *Can adult survivors of childhood sexual abuse access justice and support? Part one: Achieving quality information and support for survivors.* Available at:

https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5c8faf788d97401af928638c/t/5cd05b45eb3931 052c31b479/1557158727790/Achieving+quality+information+and+support+for+surviv ors.pdf [accessed 07.11.19]

AVA Against Violence and Abuse (2019) *Breaking Down the Barriers: Findings of the National Commission on Domestic and Sexual Violence and Multiple Disadvantage*

Berry V, Stanley N, Radford L, McCarry M, Larkins C (2014) *Building effective responses: an independent review of violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence services in Wales.* Welsh Government, Government Social Research Analysis for Policy: Cardiff

Brown J, Horvath M, Kelly L, Westmarland N (2010) *Connections and disconnections: assessing evidence, knowledge and practice in responses to rape.* Project Report. London: Government Equalities Office.

Campbell R (2006). Rape survivors' experiences with the legal and medical systems: Do rape victim advocates make a difference? *Violence Against Women*, 12, 30-45.

Children's Society (2015) *Old enough to know better? The Children's Society* [online] <u>https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/old-enough-to-know-better</u> [accessed 10.09.19]

Chouliara Z, Karatzias T, Scott-Brien G, Macdonald A, MacArthur J, Frazer N (2012). Adult survivors of childhood sexual abuse perspectives of services: A systematic review. *Counselling & Psychotherapy Research*. 12: 146-161.

Consult Research & The Survivors Trust (2010) *Developing Stability, Sustainability and Capacity for Specialist Third Sector Rape, Sexual Violence and Abuse Services: A report prepared by Consult Research for The Survivors Trust* (Received via personal communication)

Coy M, Kelly L, Foord J, Bowstead J (2011) Roads to nowhere? Mapping violence against women services. *Violence Against Women*, 17(3): 404-425

Coy M, Kelly L, Foord J, Balding V, Davenport R (2007) *Map of gaps: The postcode lottery of violence against women support services*. London: End Violence Against Women (EVAW)

Coy M, Kelly L, Foord J (2009) *Map of Gaps 2: The postcode lottery of violence against women support services in Britain*. London: End Violence Against Women (EVAW)CPS (2019) Mother first to be convicted of female genital mutilation [online] <u>https://www.cps.gov.uk/london-north/news/mother-first-be-convicted-female-genital-mutilation</u> [accessed 17/10/19]

Dyer C (2019) FGM: Mother is first person in UK to be convicted of female genital mutilation. British Medical Journal Publishing Group. *BMJ*. 364: 1546 <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.1546</u>

Female Genital Mutilation Act 2003 [United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland], 30 September 2003, available at:

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/31/section/8?view=extent [accessed 15 September 2019]

Grant JM, Mottet L, Tanis JE, Harrison J, Herman J, Keisling M (2011) *Injustice at every turn: A report of the national transgender discrimination survey*. National Center for Transgender Equality.

Gray V, Garner M (2015) Crossing the Boundaries: assessing the needs of victimsurvivors in the London Borough of Newham. Rape Crisis: South London. Available at: http://www.rasasc.org.uk/wp/wp-content/uploads/2013/11/Crossing-the-Boundaries.pdf [accessed 15.09.19]

Green G, Skeates J (2018) All-Party Parliamentary Group on Sexual Violence report into the Funding and Commissioning of Sexual Violence and Abuse services 2018. Leeds, Rape Crisis England and Wales.

Henderson S (2012) *The Pros and Cons of Providing dedicated sexual violence services: a literature review.* Rape Crisis Scotland.

HM Government (2016) *Ending Violence against Women and Girls: strategy 2016-2020*. <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach</u> <u>ment_data/file/522166/VAWG_Strategy_FINAL_PUBLICATION_MASTER_vRB.PDF</u>

HM Government (2014) *Multi-agency practice guidelines — female genital mutilation*. <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_dat</u> <u>a/file/380125/MultiAgencyPracticeGuidelinesNov14.pdf</u> [accessed 15.09.2019]

HM Government (2018) *Victims Strategy* <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/victims-strategy [accessed 14.01.19]</u>

HM Government (2019) *Position statement on male victims of crimes considered in the cross-government strategy on ending Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG)*.

HM Government (2021) The end-to-end rape review report on findings and actions <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/end-to-end-rape-review-report-on-findings-and-actions</u>

Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Abuse (IICSA) *Terms and phrases relating to child sexual abuse* [online] <u>https://www.iicsa.org.uk/key-documents/1412/view/independent-inquiry-into-child-sexual-abuse-iicsa-vscp-terms-phrases.pdf</u> [accessed 28.09.19]

Jewkes R, Sen P, Garcia-Moreno C (2002) Sexual violence, in EG Krug, LL Dahlberg, JA Mercy, AB Zwi, R Lozano (eds) *World report on violence and health*, Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization

Katz DL, Williams AL, Girard C, Goodman J, Comerford B, Behrman A, Bracken MB (2003) The evidence base for complementary and alternative medicine: methods of evidence mapping with application to CAM. *Alternative Therapies in Health and Medicine*. 9(4):22–30

Kelly L (1988) Surviving Sexual Violence. Cambridge: Polity Press

Kelly L, Lovett J, Regan L (2005) A gap or a chasm? Attrition in reported rape cases. *Research Study* 293. London: Home Office.

Kelly L, Karsna K (2018) *Measuring the scale and changing nature of child sexual abuse and child sexual exploitation: Scoping report.* London Metropolitan University: London.

Kneale D, Rojas-García A, Thomas J (2019) Obstacles and opportunities to using research evidence in local public health decision-making in England. *Health Research Policy and Systems*. 17(1): 61.

Love G, De Michele G, Giakoumidaki C, Sánchez EH, Lukera M, Cartei V (2017) Improving access to sexual violence support for marginalised individuals: findings from the lesbian, gay, bisexual and trans* and the black and minority ethnic communities. *Critical and Radical Social Work* 5(2): 163-179

Lovett, J, Regan L, Kelly L (2004). *Home office research study 285: Sexual assault referral centres: Developing good practice andmaximising potentials*. London, UK: Home Office.

Macfarlane AJ and Dorkenoo E (2015) *Prevalence of female genital mutilation in England and Wales: National and local estimates.* City University London in association with Equality Now.

https://www.city.ac.uk/ data/assets/pdf file/0004/282388/FGM-statistics-finalreport-21-07-15-released-text.pdf

McGlynn C, Westmarland N (2019) Kaleidoscopic justice: sexual violence and victimsurvivors' perceptions of justice. *Social & Legal Studies* 28(2): 179-201.

McNaughton Nicholls C, Mitchell M, Simpson I, Webster S, Hester M (2012) *Attitudes to Sentencing Sexual Offences*. London: Sentencing Council Research Series 01/12.

Morrison SE, Bruce C, Wilson S (2018) Children's Disclosure of Sexual Abuse: A Systematic Review of Qualitative Research Exploring Barriers and Facilitators. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse*. 27:(2) 176-194. DOI: <u>10.1080/10538712.2018.1425943</u>

NHS England (2015) *Commissioning Framework for Adult and Paediatric Sexual Assault Referral Centres (SARC) Services*. <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/sites/12/2013/05/SARCs-service-spec-contract-template-and-paed-</u> <u>framework.pdf</u>

NHS England (2018a) Public Health Functions to be Exercised by NHS England–Service Specification: Sexual Assault Referral Centres.

NHS England (2018b) Strategic Direction for Sexual Assault and Abuse Services: Lifelong care for victims and survivors: 2018-23.

NHS (2019) *The NHS long term plan*. <u>https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/nhs-long-term-plan.pdf</u>

<u>NHS England (2022) *Sexual assault and abuse.*</u> <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/health-just/sexual-assault-and-abuse/</u> NSPCC (2017) *Rise in non-recent sex offences recorded against children* [online] <u>https://www.nspcc.org.uk/what-we-do/news-opinion/rise-non-recent-sex-offences-against-children</u> [accessed 02.09.19]

Office For National Statistics, Sexual offences in England and Wales: year ending March 2018

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/datasets/se xualoffendingcrimesurveyforenglandandwalesappendixtables [accessed 20.03.19]

Parke S, Karsna K (2019). *Measuring the scale and changing nature of child sexual abuse: Analysis of the 2017/2018 official and agency data. Improving understanding of the scale and nature of child sexual abuse.* Centre of Expertise on Child Sexual Abuse: Essex

Parry S, Simpson J (2016) How Do Adult Survivors of Childhood Sexual Abuse Experience Formally Delivered Talking Therapy? A Systematic Review. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse*. 25:7, 793-812, DOI: <u>10.1080/10538712.2016.1208704</u>

Pona I, Baillie D (2015) *Old enough to know better? Why sexually exploited older teenagers are being overlooked.* The Children's Society.

Rape Crisis England & Wales (2019) *Get informed: RCEW Statistics* [online] https://rapecrisis.org.uk/get-informed/rcew-statistics/ [accessed 15.01.19]

Rymer S, Cartei V (2015) Supporting transgender survivors of sexual violence: learning from users' experiences. *Critical and Radical Social Work*. 3(1): 155-164.

Saran A, White H (2018) *Evidence and gap maps: a comparison of different approaches*. Oslo: The Campbell Collaboration. Available at: <u>www.campbellcollaboration.org/</u> DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4073/cmdp.2018.2</u> [accessed 09.09.19]

Scottish Parliament (2019) *The Female Genital Mutilation (Protection and Guidance)* (Scotland) Bill. Availabile at:

https://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/CurrentCommittees/112092.aspx [accessed 15.09.19]

Sharp-Jeffs N, Coy M, Kelly L (2017) *Gaps in the Knowledge Base*. Centre of Expertise on Child Sexual Abuse, London Metropolitan University.

Simmonds L (2019) The impact of local commissioning on victim services in England and Wales: An empirical study. *International Review of Victimology*. 25(2): 181-199.

Solace Women's Aid (2018) *Vision & Mission* [online] <u>https://www.solacewomensaid.org/about-us/vision-mission</u> [accessed 29.09.19]

Southall Black Sisters (2019) *Campaigns: Save SBS* [online] <u>https://southallblacksisters.org.uk/campaigns/save-southall-black-sisters/</u> [accessed 03.09.19]

Stonewall (2017) *Glossary Terms* [online] <u>https://www.stonewall.org.uk/help-advice/glossary-terms#t</u> [accessed 29.09.19]

Survivors UK (2017) [online] <u>https://www.survivorsuk.org</u> [accessed 05.09.19]

Thomas J, Graziosi S, Brunton J, Ghouze Z, O'Driscoll P, Bond M (2020) <u>EPPI-Reviewer: advanced software for systematic reviews, maps and evidence synthesis</u> [Software]. London: UCL.

Thomas J (2018) EPPI-Mapper software. London: Social Science Research Unit, UCL Institute of Education, University College London.

Towers J and Walby S (2012) <u>Measuring the Impact of Cuts in Public Expenditure on the</u> <u>Provision of Services to Prevent Violence against Women</u>. Northern Rock Foundation.

Walby S, Olive P, Towers J, Francis B, Strid S, Krizsán A, Lombardo E, May-Chahal C, Franzway S, Sugarman D, Agarwal B (2013) <u>Overview of the worldwide best practices</u> for rape prevention and for assisting women victims of rape. European Parliament.

Welsh Assembly (2010) *Right to be Safe*. <u>www.cymru.gov.uk</u>. Available: <u>http://wales.gov.uk/docs/dsjlg/publications/commsafety/100325besafefinalenv1.pdf</u> [accessed 05.09.19]

Westmarland N, Alderson S (2013) The health, mental health, and well-being benefits of rape crisis counseling. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*. 28: 3265-82.

Waterhouse GF, Reynolds A, Egan V (2016) Myths and legends: The reality of rape offences reported to a UK police force. *The European Journal of Psychology Applied to Legal Context* 8: 1–10

Women's National Commission (2009) *Still We Rise: Report from WNC Focus Groups to inform the Cross-Government Consultation – "Together We Can End Violence Against Women and Girls"*

Appendix A: Search strategy

MEDLINE via OVID

Search date 8th April 2019

4093 records identified

Ovid MEDLINE(R) ALL <1946 to April 05, 2019>

- 1 exp Sex Offenses/ (22337)
- 2 Rape/ (6139)

3 (sexual adj2 (assault\$ or aggress\$ or coercion or harass\$ or violen\$)).ti,ab. (10529)

- 4 rape.ti,ab,kw. (7267)
- 5 exp Domestic Violence/ (42114)
- 6 exp Intimate Partner Violence/ (8641)

7 ((abus\$ or battered or violen\$) adj2 (boyfriend\$ or girlfriend\$ or husband\$ or partner\$ or spousal or spouse\$ or wife\$ or wive\$)).ti,ab. (8434)

- 8 "Adult Survivors of Child Abuse"/ (1909)
- 9 (historic\$ adj6 abuse).ti,ab. (158)
- 10 (survivor\$ adj10 sexual abuse).ti,ab,kw. (556)
- 11 Sex Work/ (5836)
- 12 (prostitution or sex work\$).ti,ab. (7235)
- 13 (sex\$ adj2 (exploit\$ or traffick\$)).ti,ab. (680)
- 14 Human trafficking/ (306)
- 15 Coercion/ (4389)
- 16 Marriage/ (22698)
- 17 15 and 16 (50)
- 18 forced marriage\$.ti,ab. (87)
- 19 ((honor or honour) adj killing\$).ti,ab. (31)
- 20 Circumcision, Female/ (1241)
- 21 (FGM or female genital mutilation).ti,ab. (1443)
- 22 breast ironing.ti,ab. (1)
- 23 Erotica/ (1690)
- 24 pornograph\$.ti,ab. (1053)
- 25 revenge porn\$.ti,ab. (4)

26 sexting.ti,ab. (133)

27 Stalking/ (175)

28 ((harmful or inappropriate) adj6 sexual behavio\$).ti,ab. (193)

29 1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 or 9 or 10 or 11 or 12 or 13 or 14 or 17 or 18 or 19 or 20 or 21 or 22 or 23 or 24 or 25 or 26 or 27 or 28 (79376)

- 30 Community Health Services/ (30461)
- 31 Community Mental Health Services/ (18058)

32 "Delivery of Health Care"/ (83560)

33 Health Services Accessibility/ (68345)

34 Mental Health Services/ (31501)

35 Primary Health Care/ (71351)

36 Social services.ti,ab. (6104)

- 37 (voluntary organi?ation\$ or voluntary sector\$ or third sector\$).ti,ab. (1258)
- 38 Women's Health Services/ (3745)

39 30 or 31 or 32 or 33 or 34 or 35 or 36 or 37 or 38 (284275)

40 29 and 39 (3567)

41 (sexual abuse adj6 (center\$ or centre\$ or effective\$ or evidence or intervention\$ or prevent\$ or program\$ or project\$ or service\$ or support\$ or treatment\$ or unit\$)).ti,ab. (1355)

42 (sexual assault adj6 (center\$ or centre\$ or effective\$ or evidence or intervention\$ or prevent\$ or program\$ or project\$ or service\$ or support\$ or treatment\$ or unit\$)).ti,ab. (1020)

43 (sexual trauma adj6 (center\$ or centre\$ or effective\$ or evidence or intervention\$ or prevent\$ or program\$ or project\$ or service\$ or support\$ or treatment\$ or unit\$)).ti,ab. (120)

44 (sexual violence adj6 (center\$ or centre\$ or effective\$ or evidence or intervention\$ or prevent\$ or program\$ or project\$ or service\$ or support\$ or treatment\$ or unit\$)).ti,ab. (483)

45 (rape adj6 (center\$ or centre\$ or effective\$ or evidence or intervention\$ or prevent\$ or program\$ or project\$ or service\$ or support\$ or treatment\$ or unit\$)).ti,ab. (832)

46 41 or 42 or 43 or 44 or 45 (3599)

47 (sexual abuse adj6 (access\$ or collaborat\$ or commission\$ or integrat\$ or joint\$ or partner\$ or pathway\$ or refer or refers or referring or referral\$ or statutory or third or voluntary)).ti,ab. (401)

48 (sexual assault adj6 (access\$ or collaborat\$ or commission\$ or integrat\$ or joint\$ or partner\$ or pathway\$ or refer or refers or referring or referral\$ or statutory or third or voluntary)).ti,ab. (257)

49 (sexual trauma adj6 (access\$ or collaborat\$ or commission\$ or integrat\$ or joint\$ or partner\$ or pathway\$ or refer or refers or referring or referral\$ or statutory or third or voluntary)).ti,ab. (26)

50 (sexual violence adj6 (access\$ or collaborat\$ or commission\$ or integrat\$ or joint\$ or partner\$ or pathway\$ or refer or refers or referring or referral\$ or statutory or third or voluntary).ti,ab. (339)

51 (rape adj6 (access\$ or collaborat\$ or commission\$ or integrat\$ or joint\$ or partner\$ or pathway\$ or refer or refers or referring or referral\$ or statutory or third or voluntary)).ti,ab. (268)

- 52 47 or 48 or 49 or 50 or 51 (1234)
- 53 Assertiveness/ (1675)
- 54 assertiveness.ti,ab. (1606)
- 55 Brief behavioural intervention\$.ti,ab. (23)
- 56 Brief behavioral intervention\$.ti,ab. (73)
- 57 Clinician assisted emotional disclosure.ti,ab. (3)
- 58 Cognitive analytical therapy.ti,ab. (3)
- 59 Cognitive Behavioral Therapy/ (23093)
- 60 Cognitive behaviour\$ therap\$.ti,ab. (4672)
- 61 Cognitive behavior\$ therap\$.ti,ab. (9728)
- 62 CBT.ti,ab. (9285)
- 63 Cognitive processing therap\$.ti,ab. (251)
- 64 Cognitive restructuring.ti,ab. (794)
- 65 Counseling/ (33953)
- 66 (counseling or counselling).ti,ab. (84861)
- 67 (crisis adj2 support\$).ti,ab. (217)
- 68 Dialectical behaviour therap\$.ti,ab. (141)
- 69 Dialectical behavior therap\$.ti,ab. (456)
- 70 Emotion focused therap\$.ti,ab. (102)
- 71 Eye Movement Desensitization Reprocessing/ (172)
- 72 Eye Movement Desensitization.ti,ab. (444)
- 73 Eye Movement Desensitisation.ti,ab. (68)

- 74 EMDR.ti,ab. (471)
- 75 Forensic nurse examiner\$.ti,ab. (21)
- 76 "Imagery (Psychotherapy)"/ (1657)
- 77 Image rehearsal therap\$.ti,ab. (4)
- 78 Prolonged exposure.ti,ab. (9444)
- 79 Progressive muscle relaxation.ti,ab. (491)
- 80 Social Work/ (14809)
- 81 (Supportive adj (counselling or counseling)).ti,ab. (346)
- 82 specific coping skills train\$.ti,ab. (7)
- 83 Systematic desensitisation.ti,ab. (13)
- 84 Systematic desensitization.ti,ab. (376)
- 85 Stress inoculation therap\$.ti,ab. (4)
- 86 Supportive psychotherap\$.ti,ab. (538)
- 87 "Skills training in affect and interpersonal regulation".ti,ab. (3)

88 53 or 54 or 55 or 56 or 57 or 58 or 59 or 60 or 61 or 62 or 63 or 64 or 65 or 66 or 67 or 68 or 69 or 70 or 71 or 72 or 73 or 74 or 75 or 76 or 77 or 78 or 79 or 80 or 81 or 82 or 83 or 84 or 85 or 86 or 87 (160746)

89 29 and 88 (3980)

90 40 or 46 or 52 or 89 (10978)

(Afghanistan or Albania or Algeria or Angola or Antigua or Barbuda or Argentina 91 or Armenia or Armenian or Aruba or Azerbaijan or Bahrain or Bangladesh or Barbados or Benin or Byelarus or Byelorussian or Belarus or Belorussian or Belorussia or Belize or Bhutan or Bolivia or Bosnia or Herzegovina or Hercegovina or Botswana or Brasil or Brazil or Bulgaria or Burkina Faso or Burkina Fasso or Upper Volta or Burundi or Urundi or Cambodia or Khmer Republic or Kampuchea or Cameroon or Cameroons or Cameron or Camerons or Cape Verde or Central African Republic or Chad or China or Colombia or Comoros or Comoro Islands or Comores or Mayotte or Congo or Zaire or Costa Rica or Cote d'Ivoire or Ivory Coast or Croatia or Cuba or Cyprus or Djibouti or French Somaliland or Dominica or Dominican Republic or East Timor or East Timur or Timor Leste or Ecuador or Egypt or United Arab Republic or El Salvador or Eritrea or Ethiopia or Fiji or Gabon or Gabonese Republic or Gambia or Gaza or Georgia Republic or Georgian Republic or Ghana or Gold Coast or Grenada or Guatemala or Guinea or Guam or Guiana or Guyana or Haiti or Honduras or India or Maldives or Indonesia or Iran or Iraq or Isle of Man or Jamaica or Jordan or Kazakhstan or Kazakh or Kenya or Kiribati or Korea or Kosovo or Kyrgyzstan or Kirghizia or Kyrgyz Republic or Kirghiz or Kirgizstan or Lao PDR or Laos or Lebanon or Lesotho or Basutoland or Liberia or Libya or Macedonia or Madagascar or Malagasy Republic or Malaysia or Malaya or Malay or Sabah or Sarawak or Malawi or Nyasaland or Mali or Malta or Marshall Islands or Mauritania or Mauritius or Agalega Islands or Micronesia or Middle East or Moldova or Moldovia or Moldovian or Mongolia or Montenegro or Morocco or Ifni or Mozambique

or Myanmar or Myanma or Burma or Namibia or Nepal or Netherlands Antilles or New Caledonia or Nicaragua or Niger or Nigeria or Northern Mariana Islands or Oman or Muscat or Pakistan or Palau or Palestine or Panama or Paraguay or Peru or Philippines or Philipines or Phillipines or Puerto Rico or Romania or Rumania or Roumania or Russia or Russian or Rwanda or Ruanda or Saint Kitts or St Kitts or Nevis or Saint Lucia or St Lucia or Saint Vincent or St Vincent or Grenadines or Samoa or Samoan Islands or Navigator Island or Navigator Islands or Sao Tome or Saudi Arabia or Senegal or Serbia or Montenegro or Seychelles or Sierra Leone or Sri Lanka or Ceylon or Solomon Islands or Somalia or South Africa or Sudan or Suriname or Surinam or Swaziland or Syria or Tajikistan or Tadzhikistan or Tadjikistan or Tadzhik or Tanzania or Thailand or Togo or Togolese Republic or Tonga or Trinidad or Tobago or Tunisia or Turkmenistan or Turkmen or Uganda or Ukraine or Uruguay or USSR or Soviet Union or Union of Soviet Socialist Republics or Uzbekistan or Uzbek or Vanuatu or New Hebrides or Venezuela or Vietnam or Viet Nam or West Bank or Yemen or Yugoslavia or Zambia or Zimbabwe or Rhodesia).hw,kf,ti,ab,cp. (2612841)

- 92 90 not 91 (9070)
- 93 limit 92 to (english language and yr="2009 -Current") (4093)

Appendix B: List of studies excluded on Full Text

Not an OECD country (n=5):

Fried S, Mahmoud W, Berggren V, Isman E, Johansson A (2013) Outpatients' perspectives on problems and needs related to female genital mutilation/cutting: a qualitative study from Somaliland. *Obstetrics & Gynecology International* 2013: 165893.

Munakampe MN, Zulu JM, Michelo C (2018) Contraception and abortion knowledge, attitudes and practices among adolescents from low and middle-income countries: a systematic review. *BMC Health Services Research* 18: 909.

Okech D, Hansen N, Howard W, Anarfi John K, Burns Abigail C (2018) Social Support, Dysfunctional Coping, and Community Reintegration as Predictors of PTSD Among Human Trafficking Survivors. *Behavioral Medicine* 44: 209-218.

Santos de O, Patricia, Palmarella R, Vanda, Laíse Gomes Leite M, Roberta, Costa M, Juliana (2016) Health professionals' assistance to women in situation of sexual violence: an integrative review. *Journal of Nursing UFPE / Revista de Enfermagem UFPE* 10: 1828-1839.

Walker-Williams Hayley J, Fouché A (2017) A Strengths-Based Group Intervention for Women Who Experienced Child Sexual Abuse. *Research on Social Work Practice* 27: 194-205.

Not violence or abuse (n=1):

Ward A, Roe-Sepowitz D (2009) Assessing the effectiveness of trauma-oriented approach to treating prostituted women in a prison and a community exiting program. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma* 18: 293-312.

Not sexual violence (n=43):

Agllias K (2012) Keeping safe: teaching undergraduate social work students about interpersonal violence. *Journal of Social Work Practice* 26: 259-274.

Champion JD, Collins JL (2012) Comparison of a theory-based (AIDS Risk Reduction Model) cognitive behavioral intervention versus enhanced counseling for abused ethnic minority adolescent women on infection with sexually transmitted infection: results of a randomized controlled trial. *International Journal of Nursing Studies* 49: 138-150.

Ciclitira K, Starr F, Payne N, Clarke L, Marzano L (2017) A sanctuary of tranquillity in a ruptured world: Evaluating long-term counselling at a women's community health centre. *Feminism & Psychology* 27: 530-552.

Dorrepaal E, Thomaes K, Smit JH, van B, A J, van D, Veltman DJ, Draijer N (2010) Stabilizing group treatment for Complex Posttraumatic Stress Disorder related to childhood abuse based on psycho-education and cognitive behavioral therapy: a pilot study. *Child Abuse & Neglect* 34: 284-288.

Etudo O, Metheny N, Stephenson R, Kalokhe AS (2017) Intimate partner violence is linked to less HIV testing uptake among high-risk, HIV-negative women in Atlanta. *AIDS Care* 29: 953-956.

Galovski TE, Blain LM, Chappuis C, Fletcher T (2013) Sex differences in recovery from PTSD in male and female interpersonal assault survivors. *Behaviour Research & Therapy* 51: 247-255.

Gorry J, Roen K, Reilly J (2010) Selling your self? The psychological impact of street sex work and factors affecting support seeking. *Health & Social Care in the Community* 18: 492-499.

Gray Matt J, Hassija Christina M, Jaconis M, Barrett C, Zheng P, Steinmetz S, James T (2015) Provision of evidence-based therapies to rural survivors of domestic violence and sexual assault via telehealth: Treatment outcomes and clinical training benefits. *Training and Education in Professional Psychology* 9: 235-241.

Hannana S, Meena P (2010) Safe and Sane: A Model of Intervention on Domestic Violence and Mental Health, Suicide and Self-harm Amongst Black and Minority Ethnic Women.

Harkness KL, Bagby RM, Kennedy SH (2012) Childhood maltreatment and differential treatment response and recurrence in adult major depressive disorder. *Journal of Consulting & Clinical Psychology* 80: 342-353.

Heins MJ, Knoop H, Lobbestael J, Bleijenberg G (2011) Childhood maltreatment and the response to cognitive behavior therapy for chronic fatigue syndrome. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research* 71: 404-410.

Hill Amber LM, Zachor Hadas MD, Jones Kelley APMPH, Talis Janine MMPH, Zelazny Sarah MMPH, Miller Elizabeth MDP (2019) Trauma-informed personalized scripts (tips) to assess for partner violence and reproductive coercion: a pilot randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Adolescent Health* 64.

Hogan Kevin F, Hegarty John R, Ward T, Dodd Lorna J (2012) Counsellors' experiences of working with male victims of female-perpetrated domestic abuse. *Counselling & Psychotherapy Research* 12: 44-52.

Howarth E, Robinson A (2016) Responding Effectively to Women Experiencing Severe Abuse: Identifying Key Components of a British Advocacy Intervention. *Violence Against Women* 22: 41-63.

Humensky Jennifer L, Gil R, Coronel B, Cifre R, Mazzula S, Lewis-Fernandez R (2013) Life is precious: Reducing suicidal behavior in Latinas. *Ethnicity and Inequalities in Health and Social Care* 6: 54-61.

Jeal N, Macleod J, Salisbury C, Turner K (2017) Identifying possible reasons why female street sex workers have poor drug treatment outcomes: a qualitative study. *BMJ Open* 7: e013018.

Kaplan S, Komurcu N (2017) Evaluation of effectiveness of health services training given with different methods in combating of intimate partner violence against women: A pilot study. *Journal of Family Violence* 32: 69-77.

Lee Y-R, Enright Robert D (2014) A forgiveness intervention for women with fibromyalgia who were abused in childhood: A pilot study. *Spirituality in Clinical Practice* 1: 203-217.

Macias-Cortes EDC, Llanes-Gonzalez L, Aguilar-Faisal L, Asbun-Bojalil J (2018) Response to Individualized Homeopathic Treatment for Depression in Climacteric Women with History of Domestic Violence, Marital Dissatisfaction or Sexual Abuse: Results from the HOMDEP-MENOP Study. *Homeopathy: the Journal of the Faculty of Homeopathy* 107: 202-208.

Morris C, Simpson J, Sampson M, Beesley F (2015) Emotion and self-cutting: narratives of service users referred to a personality disorder service. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy* 22: 125-132.

Muller-Engelmann M, Steil R (2017) Cognitive restructuring and imagery modification for posttraumatic stress disorder (CRIM-PTSD): A pilot study. *Journal of Behavior Therapy & Experimental Psychiatry* 54: 44-50.

Paivio SC, Jarry JL, Chagigiorgis H, Hall I, Ralston M (2010) Efficacy of two versions of emotion-focused therapy for resolving child abuse trauma. *Psychotherapy Research* 20: 353-366.

Priebe S, Matanov A, Schor R, Strasmayr C, Barros H, Barry MM, Diaz-Olalla JM, Gabor E, Greacen T, Holcnerova P, Kluge U, Lorant V, Moskalewicz J, Schene AH, Macassa G, Gaddini A (2012) Good practice in mental health care for socially marginalised groups in Europe: a qualitative study of expert views in 14 countries. *BMC Public Health* 12: 248.

Raabe S, Ehring T, Marquenie L, Olff M, Kindt M (2015) Imagery Rescripting as standalone treatment for posttraumatic stress disorder related to childhood abuse. *Journal of Behavior Therapy & Experimental Psychiatry* 48: 170-176.

Ravi KT, Sumanta R (2010) Vital statistics: The experiences of Black, Asian, Minority Ethnic & Refugee women & children facing violence & abuse. Imkaan.

Repede E (2011) Participatory dreaming: a unitary appreciative inquiry into healing with women abused as children. *Advances in Nursing Science* 34: 174-197.

Resick PA, Suvak MK, Wells SY (2014) The impact of childhood abuse among women with assault-related PTSD receiving short-term cognitive-behavioral therapy. *Journal of Traumatic Stress* 27: 558-567.

Sabina C, Cuevas C, Schally J (2012) The Cultural Influences on Help-seeking Among a National Sample of Victimized Latino Women. *American Journal of Community Psychology* 49: 347-363.

Sandhu S, Bjerre NV, Dauvrin M, Dias S, Gaddini A, Greacen T, Ioannidis E, Kluge U, Jensen NK, Lamkaddem M, Puigpinós IRR, Kósa Z, Wihlman U, Stankunas M, Straßmayr C, Wahlbeck K, Welbel M, Priebe S, Sandhu S, Bjerre Neele V (2013) Experiences with treating immigrants: a qualitative study in mental health services across 16 European countries. *Social Psychiatry & Psychiatric Epidemiology* 48: 105-116.

Sannibale C, Teesson M, Creamer M, Sitharthan T, Bryant Richard A, Sutherland K, Taylor K, Bostock-Matusko D, Visser A, Peek-O'Leary M (2013) Randomized controlled trial of cognitive behaviour therapy for comorbid post-traumatic stress disorder and alcohol use disorders. *Addiction* 108: 1397-1410.

Schnurr PP, Lunney CA, Forshay E, Thurston VL, Chow BK, Resick PA, Foa EB (2009) Sexual function outcomes in women treated for posttraumatic stress disorder. *Journal of Women's Health* (15409996) 18: 1549-1557.

Serrata Josephine V, Rodriguez R, Castro Janice E, Hernandez-Martinez M (2019) Well-Being of Latina Survivors of Intimate Partner Violence and Sexual Assault Receiving Trauma-Informed and Culturally-Specific Services. *Journal of Family Violence*: 1-12.

Socias ME, Shoveller J, Bean C, Nguyen P, Montaner J, Shannon K (2016) Universal Coverage without Universal Access: Institutional Barriers to Health Care among Women Sex Workers in Vancouver, Canada. *PLoS ONE* [Electronic Resource] 11: e0155828.

Sumanta R, Amena Z, Ikamara L, Marai L, Lia L (2013) *Beyond the labels: women and girls' views on the 2013 mayoral strategy on violence against women and girls (VAWG).*

Tiet QQ, Leyva YE, Blau K, Turchik JA, Rosen CS (2015) Military sexual assault, gender, and PTSD treatment outcomes of U.S. Veterans. *Journal of Traumatic Stress* 28: 92-101.

Walsh A (2015) Are new mental nurses prepared for practice? *Mental Health Review Journal* 20: 119-130.

Wells SY, Glassman LH, Talkovsky AM, Chatfield MA, Sohn MJ, Morland LA, Mackintosh MA (2019) Examining Changes in Sexual Functioning after Cognitive Processing Therapy in a Sample of Women Trauma Survivors. *Womens Health Issues* 29: 72-79.

Westwood J, Howard LM, Stanley N, Zimmerman C, Gerada C, Oram S (2016) Access to, and experiences of, healthcare services by trafficked people: findings from a mixed-methods study in England. *British Journal of General Practice* 66: e794-e801.

Wolff Jennifer A (2019) Intimate partner violence and exposure-based intervention: Does victimization and severity of depression lead to diminished treatment outcomes? *Dissertation Abstracts International*: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering 80: No Pagination Specified.

Yragui N, Mankowski E, Perrin N, Glass N (2012) Dimensions of Support Among Abused Women in the Workplace. *American Journal of Community Psychology* 49: 31-42.

Zalta AK, Gillihan SJ, Fisher AJ, Mintz J, McLean CP, Yehuda R, Foa EB (2014) Change in negative cognitions associated with PTSD predicts symptom reduction in prolonged exposure. *Journal of Consulting & Clinical Psychology* 82: 171-175.

Zandberg LJ, Rosenfield D, McLean CP, Powers MB, Asnaani A, Foa EB (2016) Concurrent treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder and alcohol dependence: Predictors and moderators of outcome. *Journal of Consulting & Clinical Psychology* 84: 43-56.

Zoet Harmen A, Wagenmans A, van M, Agnes, de J, Ad (2018) Presence of the dissociative subtype of PTSD does not moderate the outcome of intensive trauma-focused treatment for PTSD. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology* Vol 9(1), 2018, ArtID 1468707 9.

Not a specialist service for victim-survivors of sexual violence (n=97):

(2012) Untitled. *Migrant Health Newsline* 29: 1-1.

(2014) No negligence for failure to send woman with anti-HIV meds. *AIDS Policy & Law* 29: 6-6.

Abdulcadir J, Dällenbach P (2013) Overactive bladder after female genital mutilation/ cutting (FGM/C) type III. *BMJ* Case Reports: 1-4.

Aderka IM, Gillihan SJ, McLean CP, Foa EB (2013) The relationship between posttraumatic and depressive symptoms during prolonged exposure with and without cognitive restructuring for the treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder. *Journal of Consulting & Clinical Psychology* 81: 375-382.

Ahmed B, Reavey P, Majumdar A (2009) Constructions of 'culture' in accounts of South Asian women survivors of sexual violence. *Feminism & Psychology* 19: 7-28.

Anderson RaeAnn E, Cahill Shawn P (2015) Behavioral response to threat (BRTT) as a key behavior for sexual assault risk reduction intervention: A critical review. *Aggression and Violent Behavior* 25: 304-313.

Barrett Emma C, Hamilton-Giachritsis C (2013) The victim as a means to an end: Detective decision making in a simulated investigation of attempted rape. *Journal of Investigative Psychology and Offender Profiling* 10: 200-218.

Bennett J, Johnson S (2011) Use of HIV PEPSE and Hepatitis B vaccine following the introduction of a SARC. *Journal of Forensic & Legal Medicine* 18: 375-379.

Brooker C, Tocque K, Kennedy A, Brown M (2016) The Care Programme Approach, sexual violence and clinical practice in mental health. *Journal of Forensic & Legal Medicine* 43: 97-101.

Byrne J, Smart C, Watson G (2017) "I Felt Like I Was Being Abused All Over Again": How Survivors of Child Sexual Abuse Make Sense of the Perinatal Period Through Their Narratives. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse* 26: 465-486.

Calugi S, Franchini C, Pivari S, Conti M, El G, Dalle G (2018) Anorexia nervosa and childhood sexual abuse: Treatment outcomes of intensive enhanced cognitive behavioural therapy. *Psychiatry Research* 262: 477-481.

Campbell R, Adams AE (2009) Why do rape survivors volunteer for face-to-face interviews? A meta-study of victims' reasons for and concerns about research participation. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence* 24: 395-405.

Castelfranc-Allen Jane M, Hope L (2018) Visual communication desensitization (VCD©): a novel two-phased approach to interviewing traumatized individuals in investigative contexts. *Psychiatry, Psychology, and Law* 25: 589-601.

Catena Angela M (2017) A grounded theory pilot study exploring the female process of becoming a survivor after experiencing sexual assault. *Dissertation Abstracts International* Section A: Humanities and Social Sciences 77: No Pagination Specified.

Choo Esther K, Zlotnick C, Strong David R, Squires Daniel D, Tapé C, Mello Michael J (2016) BSAFER: A web-based intervention for drug use and intimate partner violence

demonstrates feasibility and acceptability among women in the emergency department. *Substance Abuse* 37: 441-449.

Cook Joan M, Anderson C, Simiola V, Ellis Amy E (2018) Top Ten Questions Male Sexual Abuse Survivors Want to Know from Health Care Research. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma* 27: 867-882.

Cornish F, Priego-Hernandez J, Campbell C, Mburu G, McLean S (2014) The impact of Community Mobilisation on HIV Prevention in Middle and Low Income Countries: A Systematic Review and Critique. *AIDS & Behavior* 18: 2110-2134.

Diamond Ann M (2016) Intimate Partner Violence in lesbian relationships: A review and an intervention program. *Dissertation Abstracts International*: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering 76: No Pagination Specified.

Doane LS, Feeny NC, Zoellner LA (2010) A preliminary investigation of sudden gains in exposure therapy for PTSD. *Behaviour Research & Therapy* 48: 555-560.

Dr Ravi KT, Sumanta Roy I (2013) Vital statistics 2.

Duff P, Shoveller J, Chettiar J, Feng C, Nicoletti R, Shannon K (2015) Sex Work and Motherhood: Social and Structural Barriers to Health and Social Services for Pregnant and Parenting Street and Off-Street Sex Workers. *Health Care for Women International* 36: 1039-1055.

Edwards Katie M, Haynes Ellen E, Palmer Kelly M, Murphy S (2018) Sense of Community among Female Residents of a Trauma-Informed Sober Living Home. *Substance Use & Misuse* 53: 1051-1055.

Eisenberg ME, Lust KA, Hannan PJ, Porta C (2016) Campus Sexual Violence Resources and Emotional Health of College Women Who Have Experienced Sexual Assault. *Violence & Victims* 31: 274-284.

Farrell DP (2009) Sexual abuse perpetrated by Roman Catholic priests and religious. *Mental Health, Religion & Culture* 12: 39-53.

Fawcett H, Shrestha L (2016) Blogging about sexual assault: A thematic analysis. *Journal of Forensic Practice* 18: 39-51.

Ferrara P, Gatto A, Manganelli NP, Ianniello F, Amodeo ME, Amato M, Giardino I, Chiaretti A (2017) The impact of an educational program on recognition, treatment and report of child abuse. *Italian Journal of Pediatrics* 43: 72.

Firmin C, Warrington C, Pearce J (2016) Sexual Exploitation and Its Impact on Developing Sexualities and Sexual Relationships: The Need for Contextual Social Work Interventions. *British Journal of Social Work* 46: 2318-2337.

Friesen Anne E (2018) Empowering survivors of interpersonal violence through a holistic empowerment leadership program. *Dissertation Abstracts International* Section A: Humanities and Social Sciences 79: No Pagination Specified.

Frioux SM, Blinman T, Christian CW (2011) Vaginal lacerations from consensual intercourse in adolescents. *Child Abuse & Neglect* 35: 69-73.

Gerney A, Muffly A (2015) Sexual Assault: Building the Evidence for Occupational Therapy...AOTA/NBCOT National Student Conclave, Dearborn, Michigan, November 18-19, 2016. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy* 69: 1181-1185.

Griffin MG, Resick PA, Galovski TE (2012) Does physiologic response to loud tones change following cognitive-behavioral treatment for posttraumatic stress disorder? *Journal of Traumatic Stress* 25: 25-32.

Holder N, Holliday R, Pai A, Suris A (2017) Role of Borderline Personality Disorder in the Treatment of Military Sexual Trauma-related Posttraumatic Stress Disorder with Cognitive Processing Therapy. *Behavioral Medicine* 43: 184-190.

Hulme Polly A, McBride Corrigan L, Kupzyk Kevin A, French Jeffrey A (2015) Pilot Study on Childhood Sexual Abuse, Diurnal Cortisol Secretion, and Weight Loss in Bariatric Surgery Patients. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse* 24: 385-400.

Javaid A (2018) Male rape, masculinities, and sexualities. *International Journal of Law, Crime and Justice* 52: 199.

Johnson ID, Hiller ML (2016) Rural Location and Relative Location: Adding Community Context to the Study of Sexual Assault Survivor Time Until Presentation for Medical Care. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*: 886260516663900.

Johnson JE, Peabody ME, Wechsberg WM, Rosen RK, Fernandes K, Zlotnick C (2015) Feasibility of an HIV/STI Risk-Reduction Program for Incarcerated Women Who Have Experienced Interpersonal Violence. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence* 30: 3244-3266.

Johnson Michelle D (2017) Substantiation of sexual abuse allegations and the effects on adolescent socioemotional development and coping behaviors. Dissertation Abstracts International Section A: *Humanities and Social Sciences* 78: No Pagination Specified.

Jones L, Sheridan L (2009) Stalking and harassment of mental health professionals by patients in a community forensic service. *The British Journal of Forensic Practice* 11: 30-37.

Kalmakis Karen A, Banning Lori J (2012) Web-based Follow-up Information for and Research on Victims of Sexual Assault. *Online Journal of Nursing Informatics* 16: 49-56.

Karatzias T, Ferguson S, Gullone A, Cosgrove K (2016) Group psychotherapy for female adult survivors of interpersonal psychological trauma: a preliminary study in Scotland. *Journal of Mental Health* 25: 512-519.

Keller SM, Zoellner LA, Feeny NC (2010) Understanding factors associated with early therapeutic alliance in PTSD treatment: adherence, childhood sexual abuse history, and social support. *Journal of Consulting & Clinical Psychology* 78: 974-979.

Kelley Erika L (2016) Sexual health outcomes of sexual assault survivors: Understanding the complexities of this relationship through consideration of peri- and post-traumatic response and intrapersonal and interpersonal variables. *Dissertation Abstracts International*: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering 77: No Pagination Specified.

Kisler Kimberly A (2014) Minority stress and HIV risk behavior among HIV-positive bisexual black men with histories of childhood sexual abuse. *Dissertation Abstracts International*: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering 74: No Pagination Specified.

Krayer A, Seddon D, Robinson CA, Gwilym H (2015) The influence of child sexual abuse on the self from adult narrative perspectives. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse* 24: 135-151.

Larkin R (2015) Understanding the 'lived experience' of unaccompanied young women: Challenges and opportunities for social work. *Practice: Social Work in Action* 27: 297-313.

Larsen SE, Fleming CJE, Resick PA (2019) Residual symptoms following empirically supported treatment for PTSD. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Pesearch, Practice and Policy* 11: 207-215.

Lauw Marlene L, Spangaro J, Herring S, McNamara Lorna D (2013) 'Talk, talk, cry, laugh': learning, healing and building an Aboriginal workforce to address family violence. *Australian Health Review* 37: 117-120.

López S, Faro C, Lopetegui L, Pujol-Ribera E, Monteagudo M, Avecilla-Palau À, Martínez C, Cobo J, Fernández M-I (2017) Child and Adolescent Sexual Abuse in Women Seeking Help for Sexual and Reproductive Mental Health Problems: Prevalence, Characteristics, and Disclosure. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse* 26: 246-269.

Markowitz JC, Neria Y, Lovell K, Van M, P E, Petkova E (2017) History of sexual trauma moderates psychotherapy outcome for posttraumatic stress disorder. *Depression & Anxiety* 34: 692-700.

Martinez P, Guillermo, Aznar Concepción T, Bagnol B (2014) Labia minora elongation and its implications on the health of women: A systematic review. *International Journal of Sexual Health* 26.

Mason Gillian E, Ullman S, Long Susan E, Long L, Srarzynski L (2009) Social support and risk of sexual assault revictimization. *Journal of Community Psychology* 37: 58-72.

Mastrocola EL, Taylor AK, Chew-Graham C (2015) Access to healthcare for long-term conditions in women involved in street-based prostitution: a qualitative study. *BMC* Family Practice 16: 118.

Matties Susan B (2009) An examination of process in booster sessions. *Dissertation Abstracts International*: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering 69: 6424.

McMillan L (2018) Police officers' perceptions of false allegations of rape. *Journal of Gender Studies* 27: 9-21.

Miller E, Tancredi DJ, Decker MR, McCauley HL, Jones KA, Anderson H, James L, Silverman JG (2016) A family planning clinic-based intervention to address reproductive coercion: a cluster randomized controlled trial. *Contraception* 94: 58-67.

Moore J, Flynn M, Morgan M (2019) Social Ecological Resilience and Mental Wellbeing of Irish Emigrant Survivors of Clerical Institutional Childhood Abuse. *Child Abuse Review* 28: 52-68.

Murray C, Crowe A, Akers W (2016) How Can We End the Stigma Surrounding Domestic and Sexual Violence? A Modified Delphi Study with National Advocacy Leaders. *Journal of Family Violence* 31: 271-287.

Najdowski Cynthia J, Ullman Sarah E (2011) The effects of revictimization on coping and depression in female sexual assault victims. *Journal of Traumatic Stress* 24: 218-221.

Nguyen PT, Lamkin J, Coverdale JH, Scott S, Li K, Gordon MR (2018) Identifying Human Trafficking Victims on a Psychiatry Inpatient Service: a Case Series. *Psychiatric Quarterly* 89: 341-348.

Nielson Mary H, Strong L, Stewart Julie G (2015) Does Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner (SANE) Training Affect Attitudes of Emergency Department Nurses Toward Sexual Assault Survivors? *Journal of Forensic Nursing* 11: 137-143.

Nyiri P, Eling J (2012) A specialist clinic for destitute asylum seekers and refugees in London. *British Journal of General Practice* 62: 599-600.

Office for National Statistics (2016) *Abuse during childhood: Findings from the Crime Survey for England and Wales, year ending March* 2016.

Olsen A, Majeed-Ariss R, Teniola S, White C (2017) Improving service responses for people with learning disabilities who have been sexually assaulted: An audit of forensic services. *British Journal of Learning Disabilities* 45: 238-245.

Oram S, Abas M, Bick D, Boyle A, French R, Jakobowitz S, Khondoker M, Stanley N, Trevillion K, Howard L, Zimmerman C (2016) Human Trafficking and Health: A Survey of Male and Female Survivors in England. *American Journal of Public Health* 106: 1073-1078.

Persson S, Dhingra K, Grogan S (2018) Attributions of victim blame in stranger and acquaintance rape: A quantitative study. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 27: 2640-2649.

Phanichrat T, Townshend JM (2010) Coping strategies used by survivors of childhood sexual abuse on the journey to recovery. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse* 19: 62-78.

Pittenger SL, Schreier A, Meidlinger K, Pogue JK, Theimer K, Flood MF, Hansen DJ (2019) Psychological Distress and Revictimization Risk in Youth Victims of Sexual Abuse. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence* 34: 1930-1960.

Priano Staci J (2017) A PREA-Based Educational Module to Improve and Enhance BSN Student Forensic Environment Orientation and Preparedness. *PREA-Based Educational Module to Improve & Enhance BSN Student Forensic Environment Orientation & Preparedness*: 1-1.

Read J, Harper D, Tucker I, Kennedy A (2018) Do adult mental health services identify child abuse and neglect? A systematic review. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing* 27: 7-19.

Rennison Callie M, Addington Lynn A (2018) Comparing Violent Victimization Experiences of Male and Female College-Attending Emerging Adults. *Violence Against Women* 24: 952-972.

Renzetti Claire M, Bush A, Castellanos M, Hunt G (2015) Does training make a difference? An evaluation of a specialized human trafficking training module for law enforcement officers. *Journal of Crime & Justice* 38: 334-350.

Resnick HS, Walsh K, McCauley JL, Schumacher JA, Kilpatrick DG, Acierno RE (2012) Assault related substance use as a predictor of substance use over time within a sample of recent victims of sexual assault. *Addictive Behaviors* 37: 914-921.

Rizzo CJ, Joppa M, Barker D, Collibee C, Zlotnick C, Brown LK (2018) Project Date SMART: a Dating Violence (DV) and Sexual Risk Prevention Program for Adolescent Girls with Prior DV Exposure. *Prevention Science* 19: 416-426.

Roberts Clara J (2018) Sexual assault coping self-efficacy as moderated by legal advocacy social support.

Roe-Sepowitz Dominique E, Bedard Laura E, Pate Kerensa N, Hedberg EC (2014) Esuba: a psychoeducation group for incarcerated survivors of abuse. *International Journal of Offender Therapy & Comparative Criminology* 58: 190-208.

Schilling S, Samuels-Kalow M, Gerber JS, Scribano PV, French B, Wood JN (2015) Testing and Treatment After Adolescent Sexual Assault in Pediatric Emergency Departments. *Pediatrics* 136: e1495-1503.

Schloenhardt A, Klug B (2011) Trafficking in persons and victim health in Australia. *Journal of Law & Medicine* 19: 397-414.

Sigurvinsdottir R, Ullman SE (2016) Sexual Orientation, Race, and Trauma as Predictors of Sexual Assault Recovery. *Journal of Family Violence* 31: 913-921.

Smith O, Galey J (2018) Supporting Rape Survivors Through the Criminal Injuries Compensation Scheme: An Exploration of English and Welsh Independent Sexual Violence Advisors' Experiences. *Violence Against Women* 24: 1091-1109.

Snyder J, Aafjes-van D (2016) Utilizing measure-based feedback in control-mastery theory: A clinical error. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, Practice, Training* 53: 291-296.

Stayton Laura E (2018) Investigation of a mindfulness-based intervention with survivors of interpersonal violence. *Dissertation Abstracts International*: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering 79: No Pagination Specified.

Stockman J, Lucea M, Campbell J (2013) Forced Sexual Initiation, Sexual Intimate Partner Violence and HIV Risk in Women: A Global Review of the Literature. *AIDS & Behavior* 17: 832-847.

Sutherland MA, Hutchinson MK (2018) Intimate partner and sexual violence screening practices of college health care providers. *Applied Nursing Research* 39: 217-219.

Thapar-Björkert S, Morgan KJ (2010) 'But sometimes I think... they put themselves in the situation': exploring blame and responsibility in interpersonal violence. *Violence Against Women* 16: 32-59.

Thomas Carolyn E (2018) *Return from exile: Bringing awareness of childhood sexual abuse and recovery to clergy and Church leadership.*

Tocker L, Ben-Amitay G, Horesh-Reinman N, Lask M, Toren P (2017) Predictors of Clinical Outcomes in Sexually Abused Adolescents. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse* 26: 487-505.

Twinley R (2017) Woman-to-woman rape and sexual assault, and its impact upon the occupation of work: Victim/survivors' life roles of worker or student as disruptive and preservative. *Work* 56: 505-517.

Valerio P, Lepper G (2009) Sorrow, shame, and self-esteem: perception of self and others in groups for women survivors of child sexual abuse. *Psychoanalytic Psychotherapy* 23: 136-153.

Vazquez S, Lorena (2016) Levels of satisfaction while receiving crisis trauma healing services as a predictor of re-engagement with ongoing services. *Dissertation Abstracts International*: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering 76: No Pagination Specified.

Venner F (2009) Risk management in a survivor-led crisis service. *Mental Health Practice* 13: 18-22.

Vik BF, Nottestad JA, Schei B, Rasmussen K, Hagemann CT (2019) Psychosocial Vulnerability Among Patients Contacting a Norwegian Sexual Assault Center. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence* 34: 2138-2157.

Walker J, Allan HT (2014) Cervical screening and the aftermath of childhood sexual abuse: are clinical staff trained to recognise and manage the effect this has on their patients? *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 23: 1857-1865.

Webber R, Moors R (2015) Engaging in cyberspace: Seeking help for sexual assault. *Child & Family Social Work* 20: 40-49.

Wheatcroft Jacqueline M, Wagstaff Graham F, Moran A (2009) Revictimizing the victim? How rape victims experience the UK legal system. *Victims & Offenders* 4: 265-284.

White C (2015) Sexual assault and rape. *Obstetrics, Gynaecology & Reproductive Medicine* 25: 295-301.

Williams John K, Glover Dorie A, Wyatt Gail E, Kisler K, Honghu L, Muyu Z (2013) A Sexual Risk and Stress Reduction Intervention Designed for HIV-Positive Bisexual African American Men With Childhood Sexual Abuse Histories. *American Journal of Public Health* 103: 1476-1484.

Zerubavel N, Messman-Moore TL (2013) Sexual victimization, fear of sexual powerlessness, and cognitive emotion dysregulation as barriers to sexual assertiveness in college women. *Violence Against Women* 19: 1518-1537.

Not adults - mean age under 16 years (n=39):

Ahern Elizabeth C, Sadler Leslie A, Lamb Michael E, Gariglietti Gianna M (2017) Practitioner Perspectives on Child Sexual Exploitation: Rapport Building With Young People. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse* 26: 78-91.

Allnock D, Hynes P, Archibald M (2015) Self reported experiences of therapy following child sexual abuse: Messages from a retrospective survey of adult survivors. *Journal of Social Work* 15: 115-137.

Bailey Nicole M (2017) The efficacy of trauma focused cognitive behavioral theory vs. integrative treatment for traumatized children and adolescents within the child

welfare system. *Dissertation Abstracts International*: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering 77: No Pagination Specified.

Barron IG, Topping KJ (2013) Survivor experience of a child sexual abuse prevention program: a pilot study. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence* 28: 2797-2812.

Bicanic I, de R, van W, Sinnema G, van de P (2014) Rape-related symptoms in adolescents: short- and long-term outcome after cognitive behavior group therapy. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology* 5.

Brownlow JA, McLean CP, Gehrman PR, Harb GC, Ross RJ, Foa EB (2016) Influence of Sleep Disturbance on Global Functioning After Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Treatment. *Journal of Traumatic Stress* 29: 515-521.

Capaldi S, Asnaani A, Zandberg LJ, Carpenter JK, Foa EB (2016) Therapeutic Alliance during Prolonged Exposure Versus Client-Centered Therapy for Adolescent Posttraumatic Stress Disorder. *Journal of Clinical Psychology* 72: 1026-1036.

Ceja J (2016) Using biofeedback in a complex case of generalized anxiety, major depression, and a history of sexual trauma: A single case study. Dissertation Abstracts International: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering 77: No Pagination Specified.

Cisler JM, Sigel BA, Kramer TL, Smitherman S, Vanderzee K, Pemberton J, Kilts CD (2015) Amygdala response predicts trajectory of symptom reduction during Trauma-Focused Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy among adolescent girls with PTSD. *Journal of Psychiatric Research* 71: 33-40.

Cisler JM, Sigel BA, Steele JS, Smitherman S, Vanderzee K, Pemberton J, Kramer TL, Kilts CD (2016) Changes in functional connectivity of the amygdala during cognitive reappraisal predict symptom reduction during trauma-focused cognitive-behavioral therapy among adolescent girls with post-traumatic stress disorder. *Psychological Medicine* 46: 3013-3023.

Cohen Judith A (2018) 20.4 Treating Youth Who Experience Sexual Assault. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry* 57.

Deblinger E, Pollio E, Runyon MK, Steer RA (2017) Improvements in personal resiliency among youth who have completed trauma-focused cognitive behavioral therapy: A preliminary examination. *Child Abuse & Neglect* 65: 132-139.

Foa EB, McLean CP, Capaldi S, Rosenfield D (2013) Prolonged exposure vs supportive counseling for sexual abuse-related PTSD in adolescent girls: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA* 310: 2650-2657.

Frost N (2019) Providing support and therapy for victims and survivors of child sexual exploitation. *Journal of Public Mental Health* 18: 38-45.

Gavril AR, Kellogg ND, Nair P (2012) Value of follow-up examinations of children and adolescents evaluated for sexual abuse and assault. *Pediatrics* 129: 282-289.

Ginns-Gruenberg D, Zacks A (2012) Effectively incorporating bibliotherapy into treatment for child sexual abuse. Goodyear-Brown, Paris [Ed] (2012) *Handbook of child sexual abuse: Identification, assessment, and treatment* (pp 377-398) xxiii, 616 pp Hoboken, NJ, US: John Wiley & Sons Inc; US: 377-398.

Gonzalez Jennifer E, Wheeler Naomi J, Daire Andrew P (2017) Exploratory analyses of cognitive schemas for child and adolescent sexual abuse survivors: Implications for the research to practice gap. *Journal of Mental Health Counseling* 39: 25-38.

Grefe Chelsea N (2012) Treating adolescent victims of physical and sexual abuse: A multiple baseline design. Dissertation Abstracts International: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering 72: 4319.

Hallett S (2016) 'An Uncomfortable Comfortableness': 'Care', Child Protection and Child Sexual Exploitation. *British Journal of Social Work* 46: 2137-2152.

Hudson A, Wekerle C, Goldstein Abby L, Ellenbogen S, Waechter R, Thompson K, Stewart Sherry H (2017) Gender differences in emotion-mediated pathways from childhood sexual abuse to problem drinking in adolescents in the child welfare system. *Journal of Child & Adolescent Trauma* 10: 19-28.

Khadr S, Clarke V, Wellings K, Villalta L, Goddard A, Welch J, Bewley S, Kramer T, Viner R (2018) Mental and sexual health outcomes following sexual assault in adolescents: a prospective cohort study. *The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health* 2: 654-665.

LaJoie S (2018) Perceptions, knowledge, attitude and self-efficacy of health care professionals in dealing with human sex trafficking victims in health care settings. *Dissertation Abstracts International*: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering 79: No Pagination Specified.

Lefevre M, Hickle K, Luckock B, Ruch G (2017) Building trust with children and young people at risk of child sexual exploitation: The professional challenge. *British Journal of Social Work* 47: 2456-2473.

Lewis CC, Simons AD, Nguyen LJ, Murakami JL, Reid MW, Silva SG, March JS (2010) Impact of childhood trauma on treatment outcome in the Treatment for Adolescents with Depression Study (TADS). *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry* 49: 132-140.

Lijster G, Felten H, Kok G, Kocken P (2016) Effects of an Interactive School-Based Program for Preventing Adolescent Sexual Harassment: A Cluster-Randomized Controlled Evaluation Study. *Journal of Youth & Adolescence* 45: 874-886.

Malone E (2017) The cold truth: art as fulcrum for recovery in participants and for civic change. *Journal of Social Work Practice* 31: 227-236.

McLean CP, Yeh R, Rosenfield D, Foa EB (2015) Changes in negative cognitions mediate PTSD symptom reductions during client-centered therapy and prolonged exposure for adolescents. *Behaviour Research & Therapy* 68: 64-69.

Misurell J, Springer C, Acosta L, Liotta L, Kranzler A (2014) Game-based cognitivebehavioral therapy individual model (GB-CBT-IM) for child sexual abuse: A preliminary outcome study. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy* 6: 250-258.

Mollen CJ, Goyal M, Lavelle J, Scribano P (2015) Evaluation and Treatment of the Adolescent Sexual Assault Patient. *Adolescent Medicine* 26: 647-657.

Murphy RA, Sink HE, Ake GS, rd, Carmody KA, Amaya-Jackson LM, Briggs EC (2014) Predictors of treatment completion in a sample of youth who have experienced physical or sexual trauma. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence* 29: 3-19.

Nilsson D, Wadsby M (2010) Symboldrama, a psychotherapeutic method for adolescents with dissociative and PTSD symptoms: a pilot study. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation* 11: 308-321.

Pearce Jenny J (2011) Working with trafficked children and young people: Complexities in practice. *British Journal of Social Work* 41: 1424-1441.

Powell L, Cheshire A (2010) A preliminary evaluation of a massage program for children who have been sexually abused and their nonabusing mothers. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse* 19: 141-155.

Schroer Mary D (2015) Emotional reactive experience of nonoffending primary caregivers living with child sexual abuse disclosure. *Dissertation Abstracts International* Section A: Humanities and Social Sciences 76: No Pagination Specified.

Sidebotham P (2012) Safeguarding in an age of austerity. *Child Abuse Review* 21: 313-317.

Spencer-Hughes V, Syred J, Allison A, Holdsworth G, Baraitser P (2017) Screening for Child Sexual Exploitation in Online Sexual Health Services: An Exploratory Study of Expert Views. *Journal of Medical Internet Research* 19.

Van V, Eveline, lanctot N, Lemieux A (2016) Can institutionalized adolescent females with a substantiated history of sexual abuse benefit from cognitive behavioral treatment targeting disruptive and delinquent behaviors? *Criminal Justice and Behavior* 43: 937-950.

Walker Donald F, Reese Jennifer B, Hughes John P, Troskie Melissa J (2010) Addressing religious and spiritual issues in trauma-focused cognitive behavior therapy for children and adolescents. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice* 41: 174-180.

Zandberg L, Kaczkurkin AN, McLean CP, Rescorla L, Yadin E, Foa EB (2016) Treatment of Adolescent PTSD: The Impact of Prolonged Exposure Versus Client-Centered Therapy on Co-Occurring Emotional and Behavioral Problems. *Journal of Traumatic Stress* 29: 507-514.

A non-UK study that explores views or processes only (n=86):

(2009) Abstracts from The Australian College of Ambulance Professionals (ACAP) 2009 Conference, Auckland, New Zealand 15-17 October 2009. *Journal of Emergency Primary Health Care* 7: 1-84.

(2018) You are not alone. *Men's Health* 33: 118-123.

Abdulcadir J, McLaren S, Boulvain M, Irion O (2016) Health education and clinical care of immigrant women with female genital mutilation/cutting who request postpartum reinfibulation. *International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics* 135: 69-72.

Allen Christopher T, Ridgeway R, Swan Suzanne C (2015) College students' beliefs regarding help seeking for male and female sexual assault survivors: Even less support for male survivors. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma* 24: 102-115.

Anderson K, van E (2018) Mothers with children born of sexual violence: Perceptions of global experts regarding support in social care settings. *Health Care for Women International*: 1-19.

Ashmore T, Spangaro J, McNamara L (2015) 'I was raped by Santa Claus': Responding to disclosures of sexual assault in mental health inpatient facilities. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing* 24: 139-148.

Bailey Kendrick D (2018) Treating military sexual trauma in female veterans diagnosed with post-traumatic stress disorder.

Baker Debra A, Grover Elizabeth A (2013) Responding to victims of human trafficking: Interagency awareness, housing services, and spiritual care. *Social Work & Christianity* 40: 308-321.

Baldwin Tricia A (2018) Improving clinical practice per clinicians' understanding of how disclosure of sexual abuse occurs: An appreciative inquiry. *Dissertation Abstracts International* Section A: Humanities and Social Sciences 79: No Pagination Specified.

Bell Margret E, Dardis Christina M, Vento Stephanie A, Street Amy E (2018) Victims of sexual harassment and sexual assault in the military: Understanding risks and promoting recovery. *Military Psychology* (American Psychological Association) 30: 219-228.

Bennett C, Cho S, Botuck S (2011) Describing intimate partner stalking over time: an effort to inform victim-centered service provision. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence* 26: 3428-3454.

Birkhoff EM, Krouwel EM, Nicolai MP, de B, B J, Beck JJ, Putter H, Pelger RC, Elzevier HW (2016) Dealing with patients facing a history of sexual abuse: A cross-sectional survey among Dutch general practitioners. *European Journal of General Practice* 22: 126-133.

Bluntzer Laurel H (2017) Befriending the survivor: a qualitative analysis of yoga as an adjunctive therapy for female survivors of sexual abuse. *Dissertation Abstracts International*: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering 78: No Pagination Specified.

Campbell Pearl P (2009) Sexual violence in the lives of lesbian rape survivors. *Dissertation Abstracts International* Section A: Humanities and Social Sciences 69: 2904.

Campbell R, Patterson D, Bybee D, Dworkin Emily R (2009) Predicting sexual assault prosecution outcomes: The role of medical forensic evidence collected by sexual assault nurse examiners. *Criminal Justice and Behavior* 36: 712-727.

Campbell R, Patterson D, Fehler-Cabral G (2010) Using ecological theory to evaluate the effectiveness of an indigenous community intervention: A study of Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner (SANE) programs. *American Journal of Community Psychology* 46: 263-276.

Caretta Martina A (2015) Casa Rut: A Multilevel Analysis of a "Good Practice" in the Social Assistance of Sexually Trafficked Nigerian Women. *Affilia: Journal of Women & Social Work* 30: 546-559.

Cascio Katherine A (2019) Providing trauma-informed care to women exiting prostitution: assessing programmatic responses to severe trauma. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation* 20: 100-113.

Chilaka Carol C (2019) Exploring restorative factors for trafficked and sexually exploited women. *Dissertation Abstracts International*: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering 80: No Pagination Specified.

Cignacco E, Zu S-W, Senac C, Hurni A, Wyssmuller D, Grand-Guillaume-Perrenoud JA, Berger A (2018) Sexual and reproductive healthcare for women asylum seekers in Switzerland: a multi-method evaluation. *BMC Health Services Research* 18: 712.

Cole Amy N (2017) Empowered fitness: Review and evaluation of empowerment outcomes for sexual assault victims in women's only fitness. *Dissertation Abstracts International* Section A: Humanities and Social Sciences 77: No Pagination Specified.

Colvin ML, Pruett JA, Young SM, Holosko MJ (2017) An Exploratory Case Study of a Sexual Assault Telephone Hotline: Training and Practice Implications. *Violence Against Women* 23: 973-992.

Cook Carrie L (2010) Jail staff professional orientation & attitudes towards victimization. *Dissertation Abstracts International* Section A: Humanities and Social Sciences 70: 2740.

Corey Benjamin L (2017) Blessed are the shalom-makers: Toward a shalom-focused human trafficking aftercare social movement. *Dissertation Abstracts International* Section A: Humanities and Social Sciences 77: No Pagination Specified.

Davis Mildred A (2015) Understanding sexual assault survivors' willingness to participate in the judicial system. *Dissertation Abstracts International* Section A: Humanities and Social Sciences 76: No Pagination Specified.

Department of Health, An Roinn S (2019) *Department of Health Policy Review: Sexual Assault Treatment Units (SATUs)*.

Di G, Patrizia, Cavallo A, Bagnasco A, Sartini M, Sasso L (2017) Violence against women: knowledge, attitudes and beliefs of nurses and midwives. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 26: 2307-2316.

Dichter ME, Gelles RJ (2012) Women's perceptions of safety and risk following police intervention for intimate partner violence. *Violence Against Women* 18: 44-63.

Du M, Macdonald S, White M, Turner L (2013) "She was truly an angel": Women with disabilities' satisfaction with hospital-based sexual assault and domestic violence services. *Journal of Forensic Nursing* 9: 129-139.

Eave Michele L (2012) *The experiences of novice counselors as they work with their first clients who are adult survivors of childhood sexual abuse.*

Fontenot Holly B (2012) *Intersection of HPV and sexual assault: An opportunity for practice change.*

Ford Hannah A, Nangle Douglas W (2015) Treatment guided by an online course: A single case evaluation of TF-CBT for an adolescent with chronic posttraumatic stress disorder. *Clinical Case Studies* 14: 227-243.
Garrity Mary K (2010) Working with survivors of sexual violence: An exploration of female trauma therapists' intimate relationships.

Greeson Megan R (2014) The heterogeneity of Sexual Assault Response Teams (SARTS): A national study of SART implementation and its implications for SART effectiveness. *Dissertation Abstracts International*: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering 74: No Pagination Specified.

Greeson MR, Campbell R, Fehler-Cabral G (2014) Cold or caring? Adolescent sexual assault victims' perceptions of their interactions with the police. *Violence & Victims* 29: 636-651.

Halstead Valerie A (2016) A multilevel exploration of the role of student health centers in addressing campus sexual violence. *Multilevel Exploration of the Role of Student Health Centers in Addressing Campus Sexual Violence*: 1-1.

Hanisch D, Moulding N (2011) Power, gender, and social work responses to child sexual abuse. *Affilia: Journal of Women & Social Work* 26: 278-290.

Harrison T, Foster AM, Martin SB, de la T, McClorin L, Blanchard K, Dennis A (2010) Assessing sexual assault survivors' access to emergency contraception: results from a mixed methods study in South Carolina. *Womens Health Issues* 20: 248-253.

Hickle Kristine E (2017) Resiliency and women exiting sex trade industry work. *Journal of Social Work* 17: 302-323.

Hirakata P (2009) Narratives of dissociation: insights into the treatment of dissociation in individuals who were sexually abused as children. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation* 10: 297-314.

Hirschmann S, Lev-Ari L (2016) Short-term Focused Inpatient Treatment Combined with Sensory Regulation of Sexual Trauma Victims – Summary of 100 First Hospitalizations. *Israel Journal of Psychiatry & Related Sciences* 53: 26-31.

Holland Kathryn J, Rabelo Veronica C, Cortina Lilia M (2016) Collateral damage: Military sexual trauma and help-seeking barriers. *Psychology of Violence* 6: 253-261.

Holland Kathryn J (2018) Sexual assault response systems in an evolving legal landscape: implications for reporting and help-seeking. *Dissertation Abstracts International* Section A: Humanities and Social Sciences 79: No Pagination Specified.

Ijadi-Maghsoodi R, Bath E, Cook M, Textor L, Barnert E (2018) Commercially sexually exploited youths' health care experiences, barriers, and recommendations: A qualitative analysis. *Child Abuse & Neglect* 76: 334-341.

Isman E, Mahmoud W, Johansson A, Fried S, Berggren V (2013) Midwives' Experiences in Providing Care and Counselling to Women with Female Genital Mutilation (FGM) Related Problems. *Obstetrics & Gynecology International* 2013: 785148.

Jaffee WB, Chu JA, Woody GE (2009) Trauma, dissociation, and substance dependence in an adolescent male. *Harvard Review of Psychiatry* 17: 60-67.

Jancey J, Meuleners L, Phillips M (2011) Health professionals' perceptions of sexual assault management: A Delphi Study. *Health Education Journal* 70: 249-259.

Jani N (2018) Ethno-theatre: Exploring a narrative intervention for trafficking survivors. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment* 28: 548-556.

Jenkins SR, Mitchell JL, Baird S, Whitfield SR, Meyer HL (2011) The counselor's trauma as counseling motivation: vulnerability or stress inoculation? *Journal of Interpersonal Violence* 26: 2392-2412.

Johansen REB (2017) Virility, pleasure and female genital mutilation/cutting. A qualitative study of perceptions and experiences of medicalized defibulation among Somali and Sudanese migrants in Norway. *Reproductive Health* 14: 1-12.

Johnson L, Sapiro B, Buttner C, Postmus Judy L (2018) Ambiguous Agency as a Diagnostic of Power: Efforts of Child Welfare Providers to Promote Responsible Agency Among Youth Involved in Sex Trades. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma* 27: 577-597.

Kalmakis KA (2011) Struggling to survive: the experiences of women sexually assaulted while intoxicated. *Journal of Forensic Nursing* 7: 60-67.

Kelleher C, McGilloway S (2009) 'Nobody ever chooses this ...': a qualitative study of service providers working in the sexual violence sector – key issues and challenges. *Health & Social Care in the Community* 17: 295-303.

Kelly Brian L, Gates Trevor G (2010) Using the strengths perspective in the social work interview with young adults who have experienced childhood sexual abuse. *Social Work in Mental Health* 8: 421-437.

Kenny Maureen C, Helpingstine Claire E, Harrington Maria C, McEachern Adriana G (2018) A Comprehensive Group Approach for Commercially Sexually Exploited Girls. *Journal for Specialists in Group Work* 43: 376-398.

Kieffer L, Turell Susan C (2011) Child Custody and Safe Exchange/Visitation: An Assessment of Marginalized Battered Parents' Needs. *Journal of Child Custody* 8: 301-322.

Kim HW, Park T, Quiring S, Barrett D (2018) The anti-human trafficking collaboration model and serving victims: Providers' perspectives on the impact and experience. *Journal of Evidence-Informed Social Work* 15: 185-202.

Knox Brittany N (2018) Infant feeding determinants. *Dissertation Abstracts International*: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering 79: No Pagination Specified.

Littleton H, Buck K, Rosman L, Grills-Taquechel A (2012) From Survivor to Thriver: A Pilot Study of an Online Program for Rape Victims. *Cognitive & Behavioral Practice* 19: 315-327.

Martsolf DS, Draucker CB, Cook CB, Ross R, Stidham AW, Mweemba P (2010) A Meta-Summary of Qualitative Findings about Professional Services for Survivors of Sexual Violence. *The Qualitative Report* 15: 489-506.

McGregor K, Glover M, Gautam J, Julich S (2010) Working sensitively with child sexual abuse survivors: what female child sexual abuse survivors want from health professionals. *Women & Health* 50: 737-755.

McKenzie-Mohr S (2010) Out from and beyond trauma: Women's experiences of the process from rape to living well. *Dissertation Abstracts International* Section A: Humanities and Social Sciences 71: 334.

Morrison Jennifer M (2017) Incorporating values into trauma work: Understanding the current status of treatments for Posttraumatic Stress Disorder and creating a protocol to integrate values into treatment. *Dissertation Abstracts International*: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering 77: No Pagination Specified.

Mullen K, Holliday R, Morris E, Raja A, Suris A (2014) Cognitive processing therapy for male veterans with military sexual trauma-related posttraumatic stress disorder. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders* 28: 761-764.

Myers Keith J (2018) Exploring trauma therapists' perceptions about protective factors and risk factors of Secondary Traumatic Stress. *Dissertation Abstracts International*: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering 78: No Pagination Specified.

O'Sullivan LF, Byers ES, Brotto LA, Majerovich JA (2015) Access to and use of sexual health care services among young Canadians with and without a history of sexual coercion. *Canadian Family Physician* 61: e467-473.

Palimere D (2012) Psychosexual group therapy for adult female survivors of sexual abuse: A case study. *Dissertation Abstracts International*: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering 73: 3981.

Patterson D, Resko S (2015) Predictors of Attrition for a Sexual Assault Forensic Examiner (SAFE) Blended Learning Training Program. *Journal of Continuing Education in the Health Professions* 35: 99-108.

Perry Destiny D (2014) Healing strategies for women survivors of both intimate partner violence and childhood sexual abuse. *Dissertation Abstracts International*: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering 74: No Pagination Specified.

Powell Martine B, Cauchi R (2013) Victims' perceptions of a new model of sexual assault investigation adopted by Victoria Police. *Police Practice & Research* 14: 228-241.

Prentice K, Blair B, O'Mullan C (2017) Sexual and Family Violence: Overcoming Barriers to Service Access for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Clients. *Australian Social Work* 70: 241-252.

Reeves A, Stewart Suzanne L (2015) Exploring the integration of indigenous healing and Western psychotherapy for sexual trauma survivors who use mental health services at Anishnawbe Health Toronto. *Canadian Journal of Counselling and Psychotherapy* 49: 57-78.

Reim I, Emily, Miller A (2016) Social action art therapy as an intervention for compassion fatigue. *The Arts in Psychotherapy* 50: 34-39.

Rich K, Seffrin P (2013) Police officers' collaboration with rape victim advocates: barriers and facilitators. *Violence & Victims* 28: 681-696.

Richmond H (2015) The recovery of sexual health after sexual assault. *Dissertation Abstracts International*: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering 75: No Pagination Specified.

Sabina C, Verdiglione N, Zadnik E (2017) Campus responses to dating violence and sexual assault: Information from university representatives. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma* 26: 88-102.

Sigurdardottir S, Halldorsdottir S (2013) Repressed and silent suffering: consequences of childhood sexual abuse for women's health and well-being. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences* 27: 422-432.

Starzynski LL, Ullman SE (2014) Correlates of perceived helpfulness of mental health professionals following disclosure of sexual assault. *Violence Against Women* 20: 74-94.

Steiner JJ, Kynn J, Stylianou AM, Postmus JL (2018) Providing services to trafficking survivors: Understanding practices across the globe. *Journal of Evidence-Informed Social Work* 15: 150-168.

Sweeney L-A, FitzGerald S (2017) A case for a health promotion framework: the psychosocial experiences of female, migrant sex workers in Ireland. International *Journal of Migration, Health & Social Care* 13: 419-431.

Taylor SW, Goshe BM, Marquez SM, Safren SA, O'Cleirigh C (2018) Evaluating a novel intervention to reduce trauma symptoms and sexual risk taking: qualitative exit interviews with sexual minority men with childhood sexual abuse. *Psychology Health & Medicine* 23: 454-464.

Vedders Roberta H (2018) Qualitative study of baccalaureate nurse preparedness to care for obstetric abuse survivors. *Dissertation Abstracts International*: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering 79: No Pagination Specified.

Viviani Anna M (2013) Counselor meaning-making: Working with childhood sexual abuse survivors. *Dissertation Abstracts International* Section A: Humanities and Social Sciences 73: No Pagination Specified.

Voth S, Edmond TE (2018) Treatment Goals, Assessment, and Evaluation Practices in Rape Crisis Centers. *Violence & Victims* 33: 1055-1071.

Whigham Shryl A (2009) Improving the treatment retention of female survivors of sexual abuse in dual diagnosis treatment programs. *Dissertation Abstracts International*: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering 69: 7155.

Young Susan E (2012) A qualitative analysis of aftercare service provision for survivors of sex trafficking in North Carolina.

Not a study of views or an evaluation of intervention outcomes or processes (n=69):

(2013) Sexual Assault Response Training. Alaska Nurse 63: 15-15.

Allen P (2009) ABUSE & IC: is there a connection worth examining? *Urology Times* 37: 1-54.

Allen Vincent C, Myers Hector F, Williams John K (2014) Depression among Black bisexual men with early and later life adversities. *Cultural Diversity & Ethnic Minority Psychology* 20: 128-137.

Borgmann E, Kleindienst N, Vocks S, Dyer AS (2014) Standardized mirror confrontation: Body-related emotions, cognitions and level of dissociation in patients with Posttraumatic Stress Disorder after childhood sexual abuse. *Borderline Personality Disorder and Emotion Dysregulation* 1: 10.

Brew-Graves E, Morgan L (2015) Injuries and allegations of oral rape: A retrospective review of patients presenting to a London sexual assault referral centre. *Journal of Forensic & Legal Medicine* 34: 155-158.

Brooker C, Tocque K (2016) Mental health risk factors in sexual assault: What should Sexual Assault Referral Centre staff be aware of? *Journal of Forensic & Legal Medicine* 40: 28-33.

Brown R, Du M, Macdonald S, Bainbridge D (2013) A comparative analysis of victims of sexual assault with and without mental health histories: acute and follow-up care characteristics. *Journal of Forensic Nursing* 9: 76-83.

Bruce LC, Heimberg RG, Goldin PR, Gross JJ (2013) Childhood maltreatment and response to cognitive behavioral therapy among individuals with social anxiety disorder. *Depression & Anxiety* 30: 662-669.

Cambridge P, Beadle-Brown J, Milne A, Mansell J, Whelton B (2011) Patterns of risk in adult protection referrals for sexual abuse and people with intellectual disability. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities* 24: 118-132.

Campbell R, Bybee D, Kelley Kathleen D, Dworkin Emily R, Patterson D (2012a) The impact of sexual assault nurse examiner (SANE) program services on law enforcement investigational practices: A mediational analysis. *Criminal Justice and Behavior* 39: 169-184.

Campbell R, Greeson MR, Bybee D, Fehler-Cabral G (2012b) Adolescent sexual assault victims and the legal system: building community relationships to improve prosecution rates. *American Journal of Community Psychology* 50: 141-154.

Cary M, Oram S, Howard LM, Trevillion K, Byford S (2016) Human trafficking and severe mental illness: an economic analysis of survivors' use of psychiatric services. *BMC Health Services Research* 16: 284.

Castellini G, Lo S, Lelli L, Godini L, Vignozzi L, Rellini AH, Faravelli C, Maggi M, Ricca V (2013) Childhood sexual abuse moderates the relationship between sexual functioning and eating disorder psychopathology in anorexia nervosa and bulimia nervosa: a 1-year follow-up study. *Journal of Sexual Medicine* 10: 2190-2200.

Chisolm-Straker M, Baldwin S, Gaigbe-Togbe B, Ndukwe N, Johnson PN, Richardson LD (2016) Health Care and Human Trafficking: We are Seeing the Unseen. *Journal of Health Care for the Poor & Underserved* 27: 1220-1233.

Choi G-Y (2011) Organizational Impacts on the Secondary Traumatic Stress of Social Workers Assisting Family Violence or Sexual Assault Survivors. *Administration in Social Work* 35: 225-242.

Cort NA, Gamble SA, Smith PN, Chaudron LH, Lu N, He H, Talbot NL (2012) Predictors of treatment outcomes among depressed women with childhood sexual abuse histories. *Depression & Anxiety* 29: 479-486.

De B, Michael D, Woolley Donald P, Hooper Stephen R (2013) Neuropsychological Findings in Pediatric Maltreatment: Relationship of PTSD, Dissociative Symptoms, and Abuse/Neglect Indices to Neurocognitive Outcomes. *Child Maltreatment* 18: 171-183.

Decker Suzanne E, Rosenheck Robert A, Tsai J, Hoff R, Harpaz-Rotem I (2013) Military Sexual Assault and Homeless Women Veterans: Clinical Correlates and Treatment Preferences. *Women's Health Issues* 23: e373-380.

Draughon JE, Hauda WE, nd, Price B, Rotolo S, Austin KW, Sheridan DJ (2015) Factors Associated With Forensic Nurses Offering HIV nPEP Status Post Sexual Assault. *Western Journal of Nursing Research* 37: 1194-1213.

Du M, Macdonald S, White M, Turner L (2013) Male victims of adult sexual assault: a descriptive study of survivors' use of sexual assault treatment services. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence* 28: 2676-2694.

Du M, Macdonald S, White M, Turner L, White D, Kaplan S, Smith T (2014) Client satisfaction with nursing-led sexual assault and domestic violence services in Ontario. *Journal of Forensic Nursing* 10: 122-134.

Du M, Van L, Kosa D, Macdonald S (2018) Exploring Receipt of HIV PEP Counseling Among Women Sexually Assaulted by an Intimate Partner. *The open AIDS journal* 12: 1-5.

Dworkin ER, Sorell NR, Allen NE (2016) Individual-and Setting-Level Correlates of Secondary Traumatic Stress in Rape Crisis Center Staff. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence* 31: 743-752.

Eckerlin Denise M, Kovalesky A, Jakupcak M (2016) Military Sexual Trauma in Male Service Members. *AJN American Journal of Nursing* 116: 34-45.

Etling John A (2018) Impact of secondary traumatic stress on self-efficacy and outcome expectancy for therapists treating sexual abuse victims and offenders.

Farmer E, Shah-Armon D (2011) Acceptance and change: Working with complex cases. Hill, Robert [Ed]; Harris, Jennifer [Ed] (2011) *Principles and practice of group work in addictions* (pp 205-216) xxv, 245 pp New York, NY, US: Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group; US: 205-216.

Fletcher S, Elklit A, Shevlin M, Armour C (2017) Predicting Time Spent in Treatment in a Sample of Danish Survivors of Child Sexual Abuse. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse* 26: 535-552.

Gill A (2009) Narratives of survival: South Asian women's experience of rape. Horvath, Miranda [Ed]; Brown, Jennifer [Ed] (2009) *Rape: Challenging contemporary thinking* (pp 161-183) xxvi, 353 pp Devon, United Kingdom: Willan Publishing; United Kingdom: 161-183.

Gisladottir A, Luque-Fernandez MA, Harlow BL, Gudmundsdottir B, Jonsdottir E, Bjarnadottir RI, Hauksdottir A, Aspelund T, Cnattingius S, Valdimarsdottir UA (2016) Obstetric Outcomes of Mothers Previously Exposed to Sexual Violence. *PLoS ONE* [Electronic Resource] 11: e0150726. Green JG, Johnson RM, Dunn EC, Lindsey M, Xuan Z, Zaslavsky AM (2014) Mental health service use among high school students exposed to interpersonal violence. *Journal of School Health* 84: 141-149.

Halstead V, Williams JR, Gattamorta K, Gonzalez-Guarda R (2017) Sexual violence screening practices of student health centers located on universities in Florida. *Journal of American College Health* 65: 548-557.

Halstead Valerie A (2016) A multilevel exploration of the role of student health centers in addressing campus sexual violence. *Multilevel Exploration of the Role of Student Health Centers in Addressing Campus Sexual Violence*: 1-1.

Heke S, Forster G, d'Ardenne P (2009) Risk identification and management of adults following acute sexual assault. *Sexual and Relationship Therapy* 24: 4-15.

Hines Kristin K (2016) Effects of military sexual trauma on treatment outcomes and patterns of attrition in cognitive processing therapy. *Dissertation Abstracts International*: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering 77: No Pagination Specified.

Holder N, Holliday R, Suris A (2019) The effect of childhood sexual assault history on outpatient cognitive processing therapy for military sexual trauma-related posttraumatic stress disorder: A preliminary investigation. *Stress & Health* 35: 98-103.

Holly J, Miranda AHH (2012) A question of commitment – improving practitioner responses to domestic and sexual violence, problematic substance use and mental ill-health. *Advances in Dual Diagnosis* 5: 59-67.

Hornor G, Scribano P, Curran S, Stevens J (2009) Emotional response to the anogenital examination of suspected sexual abuse. *Journal of Forensic Nursing* 5: 124-130.

Hunter BA, Robison E, Jason LA (2012) Characteristics of sexual assault and disclosure among women in substance abuse recovery homes. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence* 27: 2627-2644.

Jackson S, Newall E, Backett-Milburn K (2015) Children's narratives of sexual abuse. *Child & Family Social Work* 20: 322-332.

Jesness Todd Christopher W (2009) Childhood sexual abuse: Are marriage and family therapists less likely to hypothesize sexual abuse in men as compared to women? *Dissertation Abstracts International* Section A: Humanities and Social Sciences 69: 2878.

Kaukinen C, Demaris A (2009) Sexual assault and current mental health: the role of help-seeking and police response. *Violence Against Women* 15: 1331-1357.

Kellam Melanie D (2014) The therapeutic alliance as a mediator between attachment and symptom distress: Comparing women with and without a history of child sexual abuse. *Dissertation Abstracts International* Section A: Humanities and Social Sciences 75: No Pagination Specified.

Kennedy KM, Green PG, Payne-James JJ (2017) Complaints against health-care professionals providing police custodial and forensic medical/health-care services and sexual offence examiner services in England, Wales and Northern Ireland. *Medicine, Science & the Law* 57: 12-32.

Khalifeh H, Oram S, Osborn D, Howard LM, Johnson S (2016) Recent physical and sexual violence against adults with severe mental illness: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Review of Psychiatry* 28: 433-451.

Larsen ML, Hilden M (2016) Male victims of sexual assault; 10 years' experience from a Danish Assault Center. *Journal of Forensic & Legal Medicine* 43: 8-11.

Leiner AS, Kearns MC, Jackson JL, Astin MC, Rothbaum BO (2012) Avoidant coping and treatment outcome in rape-related posttraumatic stress disorder. *Journal of Consulting* & *Clinical Psychology* 80: 317-321.

Manning D, Majeed-Ariss R, Mattison M, White C (2019) The high prevalence of preexisting mental health complaints in clients attending Saint Mary's Sexual Assault Referral Centre: Implications for initial management and engagement with the Independent Sexual Violence Advisor service at the centre. *Journal of Forensic & Legal Medicine* 61: 102-107.

Marschall A (2014) Sexual assault crisis intervention and safe space training for resident advisers (RAS) on undergraduate university campuses. *Dissertation Abstracts International*: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering 75: No Pagination Specified.

Miron Lynsey R, Seligowski Antonia V, Boykin Derrecka M, Orcutt Holly K (2016) The potential indirect effect of childhood abuse on posttrauma pathology through self-compassion and fear of self-compassion. *Mindfulness* 7: 596-605.

Mott JM, Galovski TE, Walsh RM, Elwood LS (2015) Change in Trauma Narratives and Perceived Recall Ability over a Course of Cognitive Processing Therapy for PTSD. *Traumatology* 21: 47-54.

Murphy Teri M (2019) Support and barriers to help-seeking attitudes of college students regarding sexual assault: rape myth acceptance as a moderator of compassion and stigma. *Dissertation Abstracts International* Section A: Humanities and Social Sciences 80: No Pagination Specified.

Olsen A, Carter C (2016) Responding to the needs of people with learning disabilities who have been raped: co-production in action. *Tizard Learning Disability Review* 21: 30-38.

Park SM, Choi JS, Lee JS, Lee JY, Lee S, Jung HY (2018) Impaired Executive Functioning of Sexual Assault Survivors with Acute Stress Disorder. *Journal of Clinical Medicine* 7: 16.

Penny C, Whyte S (2009) Trust services for psychiatrists victimised by stalkers. *Psychiatric Bulletin* 33: 155-156.

Rabinovitz S, Goldman K, Rosca P, Barda J, Levine SZ (2019) The role of substance use and adult sexual assault severity in the course of schizophrenia: An epidemiological catchment study of sexual assault victims. *Schizophrenia Research* 14: 14.

Recchia N, McGarry J (2017) "Don't judge me": Narratives of living with FGM. *International Journal of Human Rights in Healthcare* 10: 4-13.

Reid-Cunningham AR (2009) Parent-child relationship and mother's sexual assault history. *Violence Against Women* 15: 920-932.

Rizkalla N, Zeevi-Barkay M, Segal SP (2017) Rape Crisis Counseling: Trauma Contagion and Supervision. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*: 886260517736877.

Sarah D, Lizzie M (2017) Survival and beyond: the domestic abuse report 2017.

Smith PN, Gamble SA, Cort NA, Ward EA, He H, Talbot NL (2012) Attachment and alliance in the treatment of depressed, sexually abused women. *Depression & Anxiety* 29: 123-130.

Stoner JE, Cramer RJ (2017) Sexual Violence Victimization Among College Females: A Systematic Review of Rates, Barriers, and Facilitators of Health Service Utilization on Campus. *Trauma Violence & Abuse*: 1524838017721245.

Treworgy Shanna L (2011) Supportive and strength-based supervision as predictive factors of compassion fatigue, burnout and compassion satisfaction among female sexual assault advocates. *Dissertation Abstracts International*: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering 72: 1823.

Tutty Leslie M (2017) "A place to go to when I had no place to go to": Journeys of violence against women's emergency shelter residents. Augusta-Scott, Tod [Ed]; Scott, Katreena [Ed]; Tutty, Leslie M [Ed] (2017) *Innovations in interventions to address intimate partner violence: Research and practice* (pp 3-17) xxi, 266 pp New York, NY, US: Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group; US: 3-17.

van R, M S, Schim van der L, M F, van K, de V, H JC (2018) Sexually Transmitted Infection Positivity Rate and Treatment Uptake Among Female and Male Sexual Assault Victims Attending The Amsterdam STI Clinic Between 2005 and 2016. *Sexually Transmitted Diseases* 45: 534-541.

Vijeyarasa R, Stein RA (2010) HIV and human trafficking-related stigma: health interventions for trafficked populations. *JAMA* 304: 344-345.

Walter KH, Hobfoll SE (2009) Resource loss and naturalistic reduction of PTSD among inner-city women. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence* 24: 482-498.

Westmarland N, Alderson S (2013) The health, mental health, and well-being benefits of rape crisis counseling. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence* 28: 3265-3282.

Whitemarsh Savannah M (2016) The relationship between measures of resilience and response to treatment in survivors of sexual abuse. *Dissertation Abstracts International*: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering 77: No Pagination Specified.

You S, Talbot NL, He H, Conner KR (2012) Emotions and suicidal ideation among depressed women with childhood sexual abuse histories. *Suicide & Life-Threatening Behavior* 42: 244-254.

No empirical data (n=77):

(2010) Forced marriage e-learning training tool. Practising Midwife 13: 8-8.

(2013) Helping Patients Who Are Victims of Domestic or Sexual Violence. *Nursing Newsletter* (Kansas Board of Nursing) 26: 7-7.

(2017a) Human Sex Trafficking. Women's Healthcare: A Clinical Journal for NPs 5: 8-11.

(2017b) *Violence against Women and Girls report tenth edition*. Crown Prosecution Service.

Aaron E, Criniti S, Bonacquisti A, Geller Pamela A (2013) Providing sensitive care for adult HIV-infected women with a history of childhood sexual abuse. *JANAC: Journal of the Association of Nurses in AIDS Care* 24: 355-367.

Ades V, Wu SX, Rabinowitz E, Chemouni B, Goddard B, Pearson A, Greene J (2019) An Integrated, Trauma-Informed Care Model for Female Survivors of Sexual Violence: The Engage, Motivate, Protect, Organize, Self-Worth, Educate, Respect (EMPOWER) Clinic. *Obstetrics & Gynecology* 133: 803-809.

Ahc M (2019) Adolescents Too: Young People Affected by Sexual Harassment and Assault. *Contraceptive Technology Update* 40: 0-0.

Ashworth L, Franklin C, Viada Jane H (2014) Campus Sexual Assault: Prevention, Response, and Aftercare. (cover story). *Sexual Assault Report* 18: 17-31.

Bari S, Jawad R (2010) Management of sexual assault and the importance of Sexual Assault Referral Centres (SARCs). *Journal of Family Planning & Reproductive Health Care* 36: 115-116.

Basset F, Lee Deborah A (2018) Let's talk about... RAPE: Psychotherapists Frances Basset and Deborah A Lee break the silence that surrounds personal experience of sexual violence. *Therapy Today* 29: 20-23.

Bent-Goodley Tricia B (2018) Empowerment in Action: #SWLeadAdvocateChampion. *Social Work* 63: 101-103.

Campbell Lesley M, Jones Susie J (2016) An Innovative Response to Family Violence After the Canterbury Earthquake Events: Canterbury Family Violence Collaboration's Achievements, Successes, and Challenges. *Australasian Journal of Disaster & Trauma Studies* 20: 89-100.

Campbell R, Patterson D, Bybee D (2011) Using Mixed Methods to Evaluate a Community Intervention for Sexual Assault Survivors: A Methodological Tale. *Violence Against Women* 17: 376-388.

Campbell R, Gregory Katie A, Patterson D, Bybee D (2012) Integrating qualitative and quantitative approaches: An example of mixed methods research. Jason, Leonard [Ed]; Glenwick, David [Ed] (2012) *Methodological approaches to community-based research* (pp 51-68) xxii, 260 pp Washington, DC, US: American Psychological Association; US: 51-68.

Conrad C (2012) Supporting the Survivor: Creating an Evidence-Based Program That Helps Survivors of Sexual Abuse Plan for Labor and Birth. *Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic & Neonatal Nursing* 41: S15-S15.

Cook-DanieIs L (2014) New Tools to Address Sexual Assault of People With Disabilities. *Victimization of the Elderly & Disabled* 16: 85-96.

Cornine Christopher K (2013) EMDR, sexual confusion, and god-image: A case study. *Journal of Psychology and Christianity* 32: 83-89.

Cunningham N (2012) Sexual assault consultations – from high risk to high reliability. *Journal of Forensic & Legal Medicine* 19: 53-59.

Cybulska B (2013) Immediate medical care after sexual assault. *Best Practice & Research in Clinical Obstetrics & Gynaecology* 27: 141-149.

Deines K (2014) Statutory Rape Training. Nevada RNformation 23: 12-12.

Derenne J, Roberts Laura W (2010) Considering the effect of sexual trauma when teaching physicians about human sexuality. *Academic Psychiatry* 34: 409-413.

Devries K, Abrahams N (2018) Failure to adequately protect adolescents presenting to London sexual assault services. *The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health* 2: 625-626.

Di C, Melissa (2014) Helping victims of violence. Registered Nurse Journal 26: 12-17.

Doran P (2015) Working with sexual trauma. *Healthcare Counselling & Psychotherapy Journal* 15: 12-15.

Elamin W, Mason-Jones A (2015) Female genital mutilation: African women speak. A qualitative systematic review. *International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics*: E109.

Etherington K (2009) Supervising helpers who work with the trauma of sexual abuse. *British Journal of Guidance & Counselling* 37: 179-194.

Farrell D, Dworkin M, Keenan P, Spierings J (2010) Using EMDR with survivors or sexual abuse perpetrated by Roman Catholic priests. *Journal of EMDR Practice and Research* 4: 124-133.

Foley M, Cummins I (2015) Reading the death of Mrs A: a serious case review. *Journal of Adult Protection* 17: 321-330.

Foynes Melissa M, Makin-Byrd K, Skidmore W, King Matthew W, Bell Margret E, Karpenko J (2018) Developing systems that promote veterans' recovery from military sexual trauma: Recommendations from the Veterans Health Administration national program implementation. *Military Psychology* 30: 270-281.

Funston L (2013) Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander worldviews and cultural safety transforming sexual assault service provision for children and young people. *International Journal of Environmental Research & Public Health* [Electronic Resource] 10: 3818-3833.

Furj-Kuhn J (2019) Social work practice with survivors of sex trafficking and commercial sexual exploitation. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment* 29: 548-549.

Gallagher MW, Resick PA (2012) Mechanisms of Change in Cognitive Processing Therapy and Prolonged Exposure Therapy for PTSD: Preliminary Evidence for the Differential Effects of Hopelessness and Habituation. *Cognitive Therapy & Research* 36.

Hegarty K, Tarzia L, Hooker L, Taft A (2016) Interventions to support recovery after domestic and sexual violence in primary care. *International Review of Psychiatry* 28: 519-532.

Hepple J (2012) Cognitive-Analytic Therapy In A Group: Reflections On A Dialogic Approach. *British Journal of Psychotherapy* 28: 474-495.

Hodgkinson S, Lewin A, Chang B, Beers L, Silber T (2014) Informed consent and the implications for statutory rape reporting in research with adolescents. *American Journal of Bioethics* 14: 54-55.

Hughes E, Lucock M, Brooker C (2019) Sexual violence and mental health services: a call to action. *Epidemiology & Psychiatric Science*: 1-4.

Imkaan (2014) Successful commissioning: a guide for commissioning services that support women and children survivors of violence.

Kelly-Trombley Holli MMSL (2011) Survivors: What we can learn from how they cope with horrific tragedy. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy* 37: 268-269.

Koch Sabine C, Weidinger-von der R, Beatrix (2009) Traumatised refugees: An integrated dance and verbal therapy approach. *The Arts in Psychotherapy* 36: 289-296.

Learner S (2012) Compassion in a time of crisis. Nursing Standard 26: 22-23.

Lee G (2012) 'The Invisible War' Insight to Military Sexual Trauma and PTSD. *Journal of Nurse Life Care Planning* 12: 715-720.

Levitt Jessica M, Hoagwood Kimberly E, Greene L, Rodriguez J, Radigan M (2012) Mental health care for children in the wake of disasters. Neria, Yuval [Ed]; Galea, Sandro [Ed]; Norris, Fran H [Ed] (2012) *Mental health and disasters* (pp 350-365) xvi, 624 pp New York, NY, US: Cambridge University Press; US: 350-365.

Lipetz C (2011) Dealing with sexual assault in primary care. *Primary Care Women's Health Journal* 3: 145-147.

Longwill S, Vennard J, Charnaud A, Harrison E, Yexley M, Leverett K, Perry G, Apea V, Stoops S, Forster G (2012) Independent sexual violence advisors: a successful outreach intervention in East London. *Sexually Transmitted Infections* 88: 70.

Lowe M (2018) Male sexual assault survivors: lessons for UK services. *Journal of Aggression, Conflict & Peace Research* 10: 181-188.

Marai L, Sumanta R, Imkaan (2014) This is not my destiny: Reflecting on responses to forced. *Rights of Women*.

McFarlane L, Stannow L (2011) Corrections Officials + Advocates = Safer Prisons and Jails. *Corrections Today* 73: 52-58.

Miller E (2010) Violence Against Women and Unintended Pregnancy: Building Connections. *Women's Health Activist* 35: 4-6.

Montgomery James C (2012) Illegal Images. *Sexual Addiction & Compulsivity* 19: 184-186.

Moore G (2015) Sexual assault screening in the outpatient setting. *American Nurse Today* 10: 25-25.

Moyer A (2015) The Power of One. Pennsylvania Nurse 70: 12-13.

Nasim R, Nadan Y (2013) Couples therapy with childhood sexual abuse survivors (CSA) and their partners: establishing a context for witnessing. *Family Process* 52: 368-377.

No a (2017) British midwives struggle with battlefield illness. *Midwifery News*: 23-23.

O'Brien C, Keith J, Shoemaker L (2015) Don't tell: Military culture and male rape. *Psychological Services* 12: 357-365.

Pack M (2013) Vicarious Traumatisation and Resilience: An Ecological Systems Approach to Sexual Abuse Counsellors' Trauma And Stress. *Sexual Abuse in Australia & New Zealand* 5: 69-76.

Pearsall B (2013) Evaluating Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner Programs. *National Institute of Justice Journal*: 40-44.

Perrin S (2013) Prolonged exposure therapy for PTSD in sexually abused adolescents. *JAMA* 310: 2619-2620.

Posmontier B, Dovydaitis T, Lipman K (2010) Sexual violence: psychiatric healing with eye movement reprocessing and desensitization. *Health Care for Women International* 31: 755-768.

Preble Kathleen M (2018) Client-centered harm reduction, commercial sex, and trafficking: Implications for rights-based social work practice. Nichols, Andrea J [Ed]; Edmond, Tonya [Ed]; Heil, Erin C [Ed] (2018) *Social work practice with survivors of sex trafficking and commercial sexual exploitation* (pp 97-116) xvii, 423 pp New York, NY, US: Columbia University Press; US: 97-116.

Rasmussen C, Zaglifa C (2013) Military sexual trauma. Scurfield, Raymond Monsour [Ed]; Platoni, Katherine Theresa [Ed] (2013) *War trauma and its wake: Expanding the circle of healing* (pp 172-192) xxii, 341 pp New York, NY, US: Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group; US: 172-192.

Rich K (2014) Developing empathy for co-victims of rape. Bean, Roy A [Ed]; Davis, Sean D [Ed]; Davey, Maureen P [Ed] (2014) *Clinical supervision activities for increasing competence and self-awareness* (pp 263-269) xv, 336 pp Hoboken, NJ, US: John Wiley & Sons Inc; US: 263-269.

Roberts Sushma T, Watlington Christina G, Nett Sara D, Batten Sonja V (2010) Sexual trauma disclosure in clinical settings: Addressing diversity. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation* 11: 244-259.

Robins K (2018) *The effectiveness of group and psychodrama therapies with female survivors of sexual trauma.*

Roldan E (2017) New Howard Brown health program expands advocacy, support for survivors of sexual assault. *IPHCA Health Source Newsletter* 20: 14-14.

Sher M (2015) A partnership of policing and health systems: Containing the dynamics of sexual violence. Armstrong, David [Ed]; Rustin, Michael [Ed] (2015) *Social defences against anxiety: Explorations in a paradigm* (pp 161-175) xix, 380 pp London, England: Karnac Books; England: 161-175.

Siân H, Katy T (2015) *The Changing Landscape of Domestic and Sexual Violence Services*: All-Party Parliamentary Group on Domestic and Sexual Violence Inquiry. Simmonds L (2016) The potential impact of local commissioning on victim services in England and Wales. *International Review of Victimology* 22: 223-237.

Sims Rhonda Y (2014) *Development of a Sexual Assault Response Team resource module.*

Siva N (2010) Stopping traffic. *Lancet* 376: 2057-2058.

Smith H, Stein K (2017) Psychological and counselling interventions for female genital mutilation. *International Journal of Gynaecology & Obstetrics* 136 Suppl 1: 60-64.

Suzuki Yumi E (2014) Alternatives to Calling the Police: Survey Results on the College Student's Advice to a Rape Victim. *Family & Intimate Partner Violence Quarterly* 7: 59-63.

Sweet T (2018) Definitions Of Healthcare. *Healthcare Counselling & Psychotherapy Journal* 18: 24-25.

Taylor D (2017) Treating sexual trauma through couples therapy. Gingrich, Heather Davediuk [Ed]; Gingrich, Fred C [Ed] (2017) *Treating trauma in Christian counseling* (pp 119-140) 487 pp Downers Grove, IL, US: InterVarsity Press; US: 119-140.

Tingle J (2018) Highlighting concerns about patient safety in mental health care. *British Journal of Nursing* 27: 1078-1079.

Trueland J (2015) When fear becomes the barrier to care. *Nursing Standard* 30: 18-20.

Valerie CloudClearer R (2018) Healing From Sexual Violence by Empathizing With Sex Offenders. *Sexual Assault Report* 21: 49-63.

Ward C, Whitfield D, Piggott Samantha A (2013) Supporting victims of sexual violence: whose responsibility? *Journal of Integrated Care* 21: 238-247.

Published before 2009 (n=9):

Galovski TE, Monson C, Bruce SE, Resick PA (2009) Does cognitive-behavioral therapy for PTSD improve perceived health and sleep impairment? *Journal of Traumatic Stress* 22: 197-204.

Jayawickreme N, Cahill SP, Riggs DS, Rauch SA, Resick PA, Rothbaum BO, Foa EB (2014) Primum non nocere (first do no harm): symptom worsening and improvement in female assault victims after prolonged exposure for PTSD. *Depression & Anxiety* 31: 412-419.

Keefe JR, Wiltsey S, Cohen ZD, DeRubeis RJ, Smith BN, Resick PA (2018) In rape trauma PTSD, patient characteristics indicate which trauma-focused treatment they are most likely to complete. *Depression & Anxiety* 35: 330-338.

Lindahl J (2015) Satisfaction and use: Comparing first-time victims and victims of multiple sexual assaults. *Dissertation Abstracts International*: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering 76: No Pagination Specified.

Mitchell KS, Wells SY, Mendes A, Resick PA (2012) Treatment improves symptoms shared by PTSD and disordered eating. *Journal of Traumatic Stress* 25: 535-542.

Rauch SA, Grunfeld TE, Yadin E, Cahill SP, Hembree E, Foa EB (2009) Changes in reported physical health symptoms and social function with prolonged exposure therapy for chronic posttraumatic stress disorder. *Depression & Anxiety* 26: 732-738.

Resick PA, Williams LF, Suvak MK, Monson CM, Gradus JL (2012) Long-term outcomes of cognitive-behavioral treatments for posttraumatic stress disorder among female rape survivors. *Journal of Consulting & Clinical Psychology* 80: 201-210.

Rizvi SL, Vogt DS, Resick PA (2009) Cognitive and affective predictors of treatment outcome in Cognitive Processing Therapy and Prolonged Exposure for posttraumatic stress disorder. *Behaviour Research & Therapy* 47: 737-743.

Sobel AA, Resick PA, Rabalais AE (2009) The effect of cognitive processing therapy on cognitions: impact statement coding. *Journal of Traumatic Stress* 22: 205-211.

Case study with fewer than five cases (n=68):

Abbas A, Macfie J (2013) Supportive and insight-oriented psychodynamic psychotherapy for posttraumatic stress disorder in an adult male survivor of sexual assault. *Clinical Case Studies* 12: 145-156.

Abdulcadir J, Rodriguez MI, Petignat P, Say L (2015) Clitoral reconstruction after female genital mutilation/cutting: case studies. *Journal of Sexual Medicine* 12: 274-281.

Akinsulure-Smith Adeyinka M (2012) Responding to the trauma of sexual violence in asylum seekers: A clinical case study. *Clinical Case Studies* 11: 285-298.

Baggett LR, Eisen E, Gonzalez-Rivas S, Olson LA, Cameron RP, Mona LR (2017) Sex-Positive Assessment and Treatment Among Female Trauma Survivors. *Journal of Clinical Psychology* 73: 965-974.

Bloom S (2018) The sanctuary model and sex trafficking: Creating moral systems to counteract exploitation and dehumanization. Nichols, Andrea J [Ed]; Edmond, Tonya [Ed]; Heil, Erin C [Ed] (2018) *Social work practice with survivors of sex trafficking and commercial sexual exploitation* (pp 241-273) xvii, 423 pp New York, NY, US: Columbia University Press; US: 241-273.

Bowyer L, Wallis J, Lee D (2014) Developing a compassionate mind to enhance traumafocused CBT with an adolescent female: a case study. *Behavioural & Cognitive Psychotherapy* 42: 248-254.

Brooker C, Tocque K, Paul S (2018) Assessment of the mental health status of a one year cohort attending a two Sexual Assault Referral Centres in England. *Journal of Forensic & Legal Medicine* 54: 44-49.

Burrows Caroline J (2013) Acceptance and commitment therapy with survivors of adult sexual assault: A case study. *Clinical Case Studies* 12: 246-259.

Campbell R, Townsend SM, Shaw J, Karim N, Markowitz J (2014) Evaluating the legal impact of Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner programs: an empirically validated toolkit for practitioners. *Journal of Forensic Nursing* 10: 208-216.

Campbell R, Shaw J, Fehler-Cabral G (2018) Evaluation of a Victim-Centered, Trauma-Informed Victim Notification Protocol for Untested Sexual Assault Kits (SAKs). *Violence Against Women* 24: 379-400. Chkhaidze N (2018) Incorporating visual communication desensitization in the treatment of depression in women with sexual trauma histories. *Dissertation Abstracts International*: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering 79: No Pagination Specified.

Christos C, Malone M (2013) Delivering compassionate care in school nursing: A case of female genital mutilation. *British Journal of School Nursing* 8: 181-184.

Cloitre M, Jackson C, Schmidt JA (2016) Case Reports: STAIR for Strengthening Social Support and Relationships Among Veterans With Military Sexual Trauma and PTSD. *Military Medicine* 181: e183-187.

Delacroix J, Brown J, Kadenhe-Chiweshe A, Bodenstein L, Stimell-Rauch M, Lowe T (2011) Rectal perforation secondary to rape and fisting in a female adolescent. *Pediatric Emergency Care* 27: 116-119.

Driggs Deborah A (2017) Spiritually Oriented Cognitive Processing Therapy for Spiritual Struggle in Christian Sexual Assault Survivors with Posttraumatic Stress Disorder. Spiritually Oriented Cognitive Processing Therapy for Spiritual Struggle in Christian Sexual Assault Survivors With Posttraumatic Stress Disorder: 1-1.

Driggs Deborah A (2018) Spiritually oriented cognitive processing therapy for spiritual struggle in christian sexual assault survivors with posttraumatic stress disorder. *Dissertation Abstracts International*: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering 79: No Pagination Specified.

Dunleavy K, Kubo S (2012) Emergence of delayed posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms related to sexual trauma: patient-centered and trauma-cognizant management by physical therapists. *Physical Therapy* 92: 339-351.

Ferdinand LG, Kelly UA, Skelton K, Stephens KJ, Bradley B (2011) An evolving integrative treatment program for military sexual trauma (MST) and one veteran's experience. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing* 32: 552-559.

Franklin Cortney A, Jin Hae R, Ashworth Lindsay M, Viada Jane H (2016) Sexual Assault Resource Availability on Texas Higher Education Campuses: A Web Site Content Analysis. *Women & Criminal Justice* 26: 354-380.

Frye Lauren A, Spates C (2012) Prolonged exposure, mindfulness, and emotion regulation for the treatment of PTSD. *Clinical Case Studies* 11: 184-200.

Gidycz Christine A, Johnson Shannon M (2017) Violence against women: Treatment considerations. Kopala, Mary [Ed]; Keitel, Merle [Ed] (2017) *Handbook of counseling women*, 2nd ed (pp 91-106) xii, 684 pp Thousand Oaks, CA, US: Sage Publications, Inc; US: 91-106.

Glyn J (2016) Don't tell me I'm normal: inpatient psychotherapy of a severely abused patient at the Cassel Hospital. *Psychoanalytic Psychotherapy* 30: 240-255.

Gonzalez C (2017) Recovering Process from Child Sexual Abuse During Adulthood from an Integrative Approach to Solution-Focused Therapy: A Case Study. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse* 26: 785-805.

Gupta Sanjeev K (2018) Sexual abuse of children and adults with intellectual disabilities: Preventive, supportive, and intervention strategies for clinical practice. Gopalan, Rejani Thudalikunnil [Ed], ORCID: 0000-0002-5957-8144 (2018) *Social*,

psychological, and forensic perspectives on sexual abuse (pp 197-206) xix, 374 pp Hershey, PA, US: Information Science Reference/IGI Global; US: 197-206.

Gustavson Cynthia B (2013) The use of poetry therapy for the treatment of sexual abuse trauma. Loue, Sana [Ed] (2013) *Expressive therapies for sexual issues: A social work perspective* (pp 55-84) xiii, 237 pp New York, NY, US: Springer Science + Business Media; US: 55-84.

Harding-Jones C (2019) Counselling Survivors Of Sex Trafficking: Cate Harding-Jones describes the challenges of working as part of a team in a safe house for women who have escaped sexual slavery. *Therapy Today* 30: 20-24.

Harper G, Mammen O (2014) Fulminant somatization: Medical investigation in trauma survivors. *Adolescent Psychiatry* 4: 207-211.

Hassija Christina M, Turchik Jessica A (2016) An examination of disclosure, mental health treatment use, and posttraumatic growth among college women who experienced sexual victimization. *Journal of Loss and Trauma* 21: 124-136.

Hiraoka R, Cook Andrew J, Bivona Jenny M, Meyer Eric C, Morissette Sandra B (2016) Acceptance and Commitment Therapy in the treatment of depression related to military sexual trauma in a woman veteran: A case study. *Clinical Case Studies* 15: 84-97.

Hodges Elizabeth A, Myers Jane E (2010) Counseling adult women survivors of childhood sexual abuse: Benefits of a wellness approach. *Journal of Mental Health Counseling* 32: 139-154.

Hughes Anthony A, Bean Roy A, Harper James M (2015) Sexual abuse and subsequent risky sexual behaviors: A competency model for treatment of adolescent females. *American Journal of Family Therapy* 43: 326-338.

Johnson K (2017) The DSM-5 Definition of PTSD. *Journal of Legal Nurse Consulting* 28: 25-29.

Jung K, Steil R (2012) The feeling of being contaminated in adult survivors of childhood sexual abuse and its treatment via a two-session program of cognitive restructuring and imagery modification: a case study. *Behavior Modification* 36: 67-86.

Kakooza P (2017) Treat Us Like People... Prossy Kakooza. Therapy Today 28: 28-32.

Kramer U (2009) Individualizing exposure therapy for PTSD: The case of Caroline. *Pragmatic Case Studies in Psychotherapy* 5: 1-24.

Kroese Biza S, Taylor F (2011) 'It's OK, you get used to it': Forced marriage and learning disabilities. *Journal of Critical Psychology, Counselling and Psychotherapy* 11: 156-164.

Larsen SE (2019) Hypersexual Behavior as a Symptom of PTSD: Using Cognitive Processing Therapy in a Veteran with Military Sexual Trauma-Related PTSD. *Archives of Sexual Behavior* 48: 987-993.

Lawson David M (2017) Treating adults with complex trauma: An evidence-based case study. *Journal of Counseling & Development* 95: 288-298.

Leigh J (2013) Effective counselling methods and strategies, based on my personal experiences, for victims of trauma & abuse. *Asia Pacific Journal of Counselling and Psychotherapy* 4: 175-184.

Leonard MM (2010) 'I did what I was directed to do but he didn't touch me': The impact of being a victim of Internet offending. *Journal of Sexual Aggression* 16: 249-256.

Mauritz MW, van de S, Goossens PJ, van A, Draijer N (2014) Phase-based treatment of a complex severely mentally ill case involving complex posttraumatic stress disorder and psychosis related to Dandy Walker syndrome. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation* 15: 588-606.

Mevissen L, Lievegoed R, Seubert A, De J (2011) Do persons with intellectual disability and limited verbal capacities respond to trauma treatment? *Journal of Intellectual & Developmental Disability* 36: 274-279.

Mori S (2018) Memories of sexual abuse previously shrouded in darkness: Intersubjective exchanges involving joint attention. *International Forum of Psychoanalysis* 27: 166-175.

Mott Juliette M, Menefee Deleene S, Leopoulos Wendy S (2012) Treating PTSD and disordered eating in the wake of military sexual trauma: A case study. *Clinical Case Studies* 11: 104-118.

Muller Katherine L (2009) Manualized psychotherapies in the "real world". *Pragmatic Case Studies in Psychotherapy* 5: 28-34.

Nijdam Mirjam J, van der P, Marthe M, Dekens Ron E, Olff M, Denys D (2013) Treatment of sexual trauma dissolves contamination fear: Case report. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology* Vol 4 2013, ArtID 19157 4.

Palmer E, Foley M (2017) 'I have my life back': Recovering from child sexual exploitation. *British Journal of Social Work* 47: 1094-1110.

Peskin M, Markowitz John C, Difede J (2018) Interpersonal psychotherapy for posttraumatic stress disorder due to military sexual trauma: A case report. *Journal of Psychotherapy Integration* 28: 556-566.

Porta CM, Johnson E, Finn C (2018) Male Help-Seeking After Sexual Assault: A Series of Case Studies Informing Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner Practice. *Journal of Forensic Nursing* 14: 106-111.

Pukay-Martin Nicole D, Torbit L, Landy Meredith S, Macdonald A, Monson Candice M (2017) Present- and trauma-focused cognitive-behavioral conjoint therapy for posttraumatic stress disorder: A case study. *Couple and Family Psychology: Research and Practice* 6: 61-78.

Rocha Genesis M, Tellez A (2016) Use of clinical hypnosis and EMDR in kidnapping and rape: A case report. *Australian Journal of Clinical & Experimental Hypnosis* 41: 115-133.

Rosenberg LB, Gibson K, Shulman JF (2009) When cultures collide: female genital cutting and U.S. obstetric practice. *Obstetrics & Gynecology* 113: 931-934.

Rossiter AG, Smith S (2014) The invisible wounds of war: caring for women veterans who have experienced military sexual trauma. *Journal of the American Association of Nurse Practitioners* 26: 364-369.

Sarno M (2012) Emotionally-focused therapy (EFT) as a primary intervention of change for a survivor of sexual abuse with co-occurring alcohol abuse. *Dissertation Abstracts International*: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering 72: 4974.

Schmitz M (2013) The case: Treating Jared through Seeking Safety. *Journal of Clinical Psychology* 69: 490-493.

Schneider Judith S (2012) Healing through horses: Equine assisted counseling-No place to hide. Trotter, Kay Sudekum [Ed] (2012) *Harnessing the power of equine-assisted counseling: Adding animal assisted therapy to your practice* (pp 73-80) xxxi, 276 pp New York, NY, US: Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group; US: 73-80.

Shaw J, Campbell R (2011) Rape crisis centers: Serving survivors and their communities. Bryant-Davis, Thema [Ed] (2011) *Surviving sexual violence: A guide to recovery and empowerment* (pp 112-128) ix, 372 pp Lanham, MD, US: Rowman & Littlefield; US: 112-128.

Snyder Vanessa R (2016) The impact of trauma-informed care education and training on aftercare providers of sex trafficking survivors. *Dissertation Abstracts International*: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering 76: No Pagination Specified.

Stace Sonia M (2014) Therapeutic Doll Making in Art Psychotherapy for Complex Trauma. *Art Therapy: Journal of the American Art Therapy Association* 31: 12-20.

Tizzano Germayne B (2014) Facilitating women's need for sexual recovery. *Addiction Professional* 12: 29-32.

Tsai Adam G (2013) Tender points. Patient Education and Counseling 93: 357-358.

Walker Donald F, Ahmed S, Milevsky A, Quagliana Heather L, Bagasra A (2013) Sacred texts. Walker, Donald F [Ed]; Hathaway, William L [Ed] (2013) *Spiritual interventions in child and adolescent psychotherapy* (pp 155-180) xi, 282 pp Washington, DC, US: American Psychological Association; US: 155-180.

Wang Y-W (2011) Voices from the margin: A case study of a rural lesbian's experience with woman-to-woman sexual violence. *Journal of Lesbian Studies* 15: 166-175.

Whittaker L (2017) A single case evaluation of the efficacy of empowerment imagery rehearsal therapy in a woman with post traumatic stress disorder. *Dissertation Abstracts International*: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering 78: No Pagination Specified.

Williams MT, Malcoun E, Sawyer BA, Davis DM, Bahojb N, Bruce SL (2014) Cultural adaptations of prolonged exposure therapy for treatment and prevention of posttraumatic stress disorder in african americans. *Behavioral sciences* 4: 102-124.

Wilson Laura C, Jones Russell T (2010) Therapists as trauma survivors: A case study detailing cognitive processing therapy for rape victims with a psychology graduate student. *Clinical Case Studies* 9: 442-456.

Witt Jacki S, Carlson K, Colbert S, Cordle C, Hitchcock K, Kelly Patricia J (2015) Sane-A-Palooza: A Clinical Immersion Experience to Close the Gap for New Sexual Assault Nurse Examiners. *Journal of Forensic Nursing* 11: 101-106.

Yoshimura Christina G, Campbell Kimberly B (2016) Interpersonal violence and sexual assault: Trauma-informed communication approaches in university counseling centers. *Journal of College Student Psychotherapy* 30: 300-312.

Conference abstract or incomplete report (n=8):

(2016) Female genital mutilation survey. Therapy Today 27: 48-48.

Commission on women facing d, sexual v, mult (2019) *Breaking down the barriers*.

Gaboian Shushanik MSW, Ijadi-Maghsoodi Roya MD, Barnert Elizabeth MDMPHMS, Cook Mekeila Ph D, Textor Lauren BA, Bath Eraka MD (2016) 4.47 Commercially sexually exploited youth voices: perspectives on health care needs and barriers to treatment. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry* 55.

Marshall D, McHugh A, Gannon M (2017) Pushing the Boundaries: The Impact of the Role of the Clinical Nurse/Midwife Specialist (CN/MS) Sexual Assault Forensic Examination (SAFE) in Ireland. *International Journal of Integrated Care* (IJIC) 17: 1-3.

O'Nolan C, Zinsstag E, Keenan M (2018) Researching 'Under the Radar' Practices: Exploring Restorative Practices in Sexual Violence Cases. Istraživanje praksi "u nedovoljno istraženom polju": *Analiza restorativnih pristupa u slučajevima seksualnog nasilja* 21: 107-129.

Robinson A (2009) Multi-Agency Responses to Sexual Violence in the UK. Conference Papers – *American Society of Criminology*: 1.

Smith E, Schuler P, Cosio-Lima L, Rotunda R (2011) A Treatment for Rape Victims with Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Utilizing Therapy and Aerobic Exercise. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise* 43: 818-818.

Thomas R, D'Arcy K (2017) Combatting child sexual exploitation with young people and parents: Contributions to a twenty-first-century family support agenda. *British Journal of Social Work* 47: 1686-1703.

Duplicate (n=5):

Cash Ghee AC, Bolling LC, Johnson CS (2009) The efficacy of a condensed Seeking Safety intervention for women in residential chemical dependence treatment at 30 days posttreatment. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse* 18: 475-488.

Ghee AC, Bolling LC, Johnson CS (2009) Adult survivors of child sexual abuse. The efficacy of a condensed Seeking Safety intervention for women in residential chemical dependence treatment at 30 days posttreatment. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse* 18: 475-488.

Hester M, Lilley SJ (2018) More than support to court: Rape victims and specialist sexual violence services. *International Review of Victimology* 24: 313-328.

Lazar Susan G, Lazar Susan G, Offenkrantz W (2010) *Psychotherapy in the treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder*. *Psychotherapy is worth it: A comprehensive review of its cost-effectiveness*.

Suris A, Link-Malcolm J, Chard K, Ahn C, North C (2013) A randomized clinical trial of cognitive processing therapy for veterans with PTSD related to military sexual trauma. *Journal of Traumatic Stress* 26: 28-37.

Appendix C: List of included views studies n=36 from 41 reports

Bick D, Howard LM, Oram S, Zimmerman C (2017) Maternity care for trafficked women: Survivor experiences and clinicians' perspectives in the United Kingdom's National Health Service. *PLoS ONE* [Electronic Resource] 12: e0187856.

Bows H (2018) Practitioner Views on the Impacts, Challenges, and Barriers in Supporting Older Survivors of Sexual Violence. *Violence Against Women* 24: 1070-1090.

Brooker C, Durmaz E (2015) Mental health, sexual violence and the work of Sexual Assault Referral centres (SARCs) in England. *Journal of Forensic & Legal Medicine* 31: 47-51.

Brooker C, Paul S, Sirdifield C (2018) Mental health in Sexual Assault Referral Centres: A survey of forensic physicians. *Journal of Forensic & Legal Medicine* 58: 117-121.

Canning V (2014) International conflict, sexual violence and asylum policy: Merseyside as a case study. *Critical Social Policy* 34: 23-45.

Chouliara Z, Karatzias T, Scott-Brien G, Macdonald A, MacArthur J, Frazer N (2011) Talking therapy services for adult survivors of childhood sexual abuse (CSA) in Scotland: perspectives of service users and professionals. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse* 20: 128-156.

Chouliara Z, Karatzias T, Gullone A (2014) Recovering from childhood sexual abuse: a theoretical framework for practice and research. *Journal of Psychiatric & Mental Health Nursing* 21: 69-78.

Cowley R, Walsh E, Horrocks J (2014) The Role of the Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner in England: Nurse Experiences and Perspectives. *Journal of Forensic Nursing* 10: 77-83.

Domoney J, Howard LM, Abas M, Broadbent M, Oram S (2015) Mental health service responses to human trafficking: a qualitative study of professionals' experiences of providing care. *BMC Psychiatry* 15: 289.

Doran P (2015) Working with sexual trauma. *Healthcare Counselling & Psychotherapy Journal* 15: 12-15.

Franklin A, Smeaton E (2017) Recognising and responding to young people with learning disabilities who experience, or are at risk of, child sexual exploitation in the UK. *Children and Youth Services Review* 73: 474-481.

Gill AK, Harrison K (2016) Police Responses to Intimate Partner Sexual Violence in South Asian Communities. *Policing: A Journal of Policy & Practice* 10: 446-455.

Gilligan P (2016) Turning it around: What do young women say helps them to move on from child sexual exploitation? *Child Abuse Review* 25: 115-127.

Gray FV, Garner M (2015) Crossing the Boundaries: assessing the needs of victimsurvivors in the London Borough of Newham, Rape Crisis South London. London: RASASC. <u>http://www.rasasc.org.uk/wp/wp-content/uploads/2013/11/Crossing-the-Boundaries.pdf</u> Hailes A, Sterling A, Girling A, Winfield C, Sharpen J, Rigby M, Iqbal N, Williams P, White R, Braham S, Edwards S, Collins V (2018) *Hand in Hand: Survivors of Multiple Disadvantage Discuss Service and Support*. London: AVA (Against Violence & Abuse) and Agenda.

Hester M, Lilley S-J (2018) More than support to court. *International Review of Victimology* 24: 313-328.

Linked report:

Hester M, Lilley S-J (2017) Rape investigation and attrition in acquaintance, domestic violence and historical rape cases. *Journal of Investigative Psychology and Offender Profiling*. 14: 175-188.

Idriss Mohammad M (2018) Key agent and survivor recommendations for intervention in honour-based violence in the UK. *International Journal of Comparative & Applied Criminal Justice* 42: 321-339.

Imkaan and Rights of Women (2016a) *Creating a clear pathway for practice: Working towards a more effective reposonse to survivors of forced marriage.* <u>https://rightsofwomen.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Creating-a-clear-pathway-for-practice.pdf</u> [accessed 07.11.19]

Imkaan, Positively UK and Rape Crisis England and Wales (2016b) *Women's Mental Health and Wellbeing: Access to and quality of mental health services*. London: Women's Health and Equality Consortium

Imkaan (2018) From survival to sustainability: critical issues for the specialist black and 'minority ethnic' ending.

https://docs.wixstatic.com/ugd/2f475d_9cab044d7d25404d85da289b70978237.pdf [accessed 07.11.19]

Jackson KB, Fraser D (2009) A study exploring UK midwives' knowledge and attitudes towards caring for women who have been sexually abused. *Midwifery* 25: 253-263.

Jackson C (2017) Counselling professionals' awareness and understanding of female genital mutilation/cutting: Training needs for working therapeutically with survivors. *Counselling and Psychotherapy Research* 17: 309-319.

Javaid A (2018) 'Poison ivy': Queer masculinities, sexualities, homophobia and sexual violence. *European Journal of Criminology* 15: 748-766.

Linked reports:

Javaid Aliraza. (2017). Making the invisible visible: (un)meeting male rape victims' needs in the third sector. *Journal of Aggression, and Conflict and Peace Research*, 9, pp.106-115.

Javaid Aliraza. (2019). The invisible, the alien and the marginal: Social and cultural constructions of male rape in voluntary agencies. *International Review of Victimology*, 25, pp.107.

Javaid Aliraza. (2017). Giving a Voice to the Voiceless: Police Responses to Male Rape. Policing: *A Journal of Policy & Practice*, 11, pp.146-156

Kliner M, Stroud L (2012) Psychological and health impact of working with victims of sex trafficking. *Journal of Occupational Health* 54: 9-15.

Matthew L, Barron Ian G (2015) Participatory Action Research on Help-Seeking Behaviors of Self-Defined Ritual Abuse Survivors: A Brief Report. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse* 24: 429-443.

McCarry M, Larkins C, Berry V, Radford L, Stanley N (2018) The Potential for Coproduction in Developing Violence against Women Services in Wales. *Social Policy and Society* 17: 193-208.

Linked report:

Berry V, Stanley N, Radford L, McCarry M, Larkins C (2014) *Building effective responses: an independent review of violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence services in Wales.* Welsh Government, Government Social Research Analysis for Policy: Cardiff

McMillan L (2015) The role of the specially trained officer in rape and sexual offence cases. *Policing & Society* 25: 622-640.

Montgomery E, Pope C, Rogers J (2015) A feminist narrative study of the maternity care experiences of women who were sexually abused in childhood. *Midwifery* 31: 54-60.

Ranjbar V, Speer Susan A (2013) Revictimization and recovery from sexual assault: Implications for health professionals. *Violence and Victims* 28: 274-287.

Robinson A, Hudson K (2011) Different yet complementary: Two approaches to supporting victims of sexual violence in the UK. *Criminology & Criminal Justice: An International Journal* 11: 515-533.

Sarsas (2015) Somerset & Avon Rape & Sexual abuse support – Survivors of Sexual Violence Group Research Project Report. Somersert UK: Somerset and Avon Rape and Sexual Abuse Support. <u>http://www.sarsas.org.uk/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2015/06/Group-work-research-June-2015-final-to-share_website.pdf</u>

Shah S, Tsitsou L, Woodin S (2016) Hidden Voices: Disabled Women's Experiences of Violence and Support Over the Life Course. *Violence Against Women* 22: 1189-1210.

Smith N, Dogaru CM, Ellis F (2015) *Hear me. Believe me. Respect me. A survey of adult survivors of child sexual abuse and their experience of support services.* Suffolk: Healthwatch Suffolk

Stanley N, Oram S, Jakobowitz S, Westwood J, Borschmann R, Zimmerman C, Howard LM (2016) The health needs and healthcare experiences of young people trafficked into the UK. *Child Abuse & Neglect* 59: 100-110.

Thiara KT, Sumanta R, Ng P (2015) *Between the lines: Service Responses to Black and Minority Ethnic (BME).*

Voscur (2018) *Sexual Violence Needs Assessment for Avon and Somerset*. Bristol UK: VOSCUR. <u>https://www.voscur.org/system/files/Needs%20Assessment_0.pdf</u>

Appendix D: Study details for UK views studies

Table of UK views studies (n=36) Author(s), year. [Linked reports]	Aim of study	Populationlation characteristics	Type of sexual violence	Service/ setting	Any other information
Bick et al. (2017)	To explore health care needs, service use and challenges among women who became pregnant while in the trafficking situation in the United Kingdom (UK) and clinicians' perspectives of maternity care for trafficked persons.	Population type: Professionals staff Age: 18+ Gender: not stated Ethnicity: not stated	Trafficked women	Maternity care for trafficked persons.	
Bows (2018)	To examine practitioner perceptions of the effects of sexual violence on people aged 60 and over, the impact that age has on experience and challenges this creates in accessing and providing support services, and the current gaps in service provision.	Population type: Professionals and victims Age: 18+ Gender: female only Ethnicity: mainly Minority ethnicity	Rape/abuse as an adult	Range of services	Older people (defined as 60 years +)

Brooker & Durmaz (2015)	To investigate the mental health status of SARCs' victims and the extent to which this is being addressed 2) to elicit basic information about the work of SARCs (Sexual Assault Referral	Population type: Professionals Age: not stated Gender: not stated Ethnicity: not stated	Rape/abuse at any point in life	SARCS	Already known to mental health services
Brooker et al. (2018)	centres) in the field of mental health The aim of the survey was to elicit forensic physicians' (FPs) views about the assessment of mental health in Sexual Assault Referral Centres (SARCs) both for children/young people and adults). A further aim was to obtain FPs' views about the adequacy of mental health pathways out of a SARCs for follow-up care	Population type: Professionals Age: not stated Gender: not stated Ethnicity: not stated	Rape/abuse at any point in life	SARCs + mental health services (pathways)	The majority were female (80%); The whole sample had worked in a SARC for an average of 9 years and assessed on average 4.45 adults (SD=4.379) and 3.71 children/young people (SD=4.452) per month
Canning (2014)	To explore conflict related sexual violence support for women seeking asylum in Merseyside.	Population type: Professionals and victims Age: not stated	Women fleeing conflict/ seeking asylum	organisations supporting women who are seeking asylum in Merseyside.	

		Gender: female only Ethnicity: mainly Minority ethnicity		
Chouliara (2011)	To elicit the perspectives of adult survivors of Childhood Sexual Abuse (CSA) and of professionals working therapeutically in this field about talking therapy services, especially regarding helpful and hindering experiences and perceived satisfaction of needs.	Population type: Professionals and victims Age: 18+ Gender: female only Ethnicity: not stated	Sexual abuse as a child who have not used mental health services	Out of the 31 professionals, 16 worked in the statutory and 15 in the voluntary sector, six were male and 21 were female. Victims: data on participants' age, ethnic background, and the abuse itself were not collected. This was a pragmatic choice in order to minimize intrusion and ensure acceptability of the study by heads of services and participants as much as possible.

Chouliara (2014)	To elicit experiences of recovery from CSA in male and female survivors who have/have not utilized mental health services to propose a theoretical model of personally meaningful recovery.	Population type: Professionals Age: not stated Gender: not stated Ethnicity: not stated	Sexual abuse as a child	Talking therapy services	
Cowley et al. (2014)	To explore the role of SANEs currently working in England.	Population type: Professionals and victims Age: 18+ Gender: female only Ethnicity: not stated	Rape/abuse at any point	Not stated	5 SANEs were White British women aged 40–55 years and worked in SARCs in different areas of England.
Domoney et al. (2015)	To understand how people are identified as potential victims of trafficking within mental health services and the challenges that mental health professionals experience in responding to trafficked people's needs.	Population type: Professionals and victims Age: mixed age (age16-18) and over.	Trafficked women	South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust	Medical notes written up in medical encounters at South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust (SLaM) and stored on the Biomedical Research Centre (BRC) Case Register Interactive

		Gender: Mixed gender			Search (CRIS) database.
		Ethnicity: not stated			The SLaM Patient Journey System (PJS), an integrated electronic clinical record used across all SLaM services that provides a comprehensive record of all clinical information recorded during patients' contacts with SLaM, has over 200,000 cases which are returnable through the CRIS system.
Doran (2015)	To illuminate the experiences of sexual violence counsellors (n=4), working both in an NHS SARC and a specialist voluntary agency in the North West of England	Population type: Professionals Age: not stated Gender: not stated Ethnicity: not stated	Trafficked people	NHS SARC	

Franklin & Smeaton (2017)	 detail current provision of services for disabled children explore the views of practitioners, managers and local and national policymakers looking into both enablers of and barriers to good practice understand the needs of children and young people with learning disabilities who are at risk of, or who have experienced, CSE, and gather their views on current practice identify gaps in policy, provision, evidence and research generate evidence-based recommendations for future developments in this area of work. These aims were defined by the funder. 	Population type: Professionals and victims Age: includes under 16yrs (12-23) Gender: mixed Ethnicity: not stated	Child Sexual Exploitation	Learning disabilities services	Learning disability
Gill & Harrison (2016)	To explore the barriers preventing women and children from South Asian communities,	Population type: Professionals and victims	Women and children from South Asian communities/ sexual abuse.	Police from four police areas in England and Wales	

	living in England and Wales, from reporting sexual abuse.	Age: not stated Gender: female only Ethnicity: mainly minority ethnic			
Gilligan (2016)	What Do Young Women (current or former service users of two voluntary-sector projects specialising in services for young people and who have been or are at risk of child sexual exploitation (CSE), say Helps them to Move On from Child Sexual Exploitation?	Population type: Victims/survivors Age: includes under 16yrs Gender: mixed Ethnicity: not stated	Child sexual exploitation	Two voluntary- sector projects	
Gray & Garner (2015)	The Rape and Sexual Abuse Support Centre (Rape Crisis South London) was commissioned by the London Borough of Newham in October 2014 to conduct a needs assessment for victim- survivors of sexual violence in the Borough, focused on identifying and understanding the needs of victim-survivors of sexual	Population type: Professionals and victims Age: 18+ Gender: mixed Ethnicity: mixed	Rape/abuse at any point	Range of sexual and domestic violence and social care services across Newham	

	violence in Newham aged over 16 years.				
Hailes et al. (2018)	Peer researchers conducted interviews with other women in their communities to ensure that the voices of those with lived experience shape the recommendations of a national commission focusing on domestic & sexual abuse against women facing multiple disadvantage	Population type: Victims/survivor Age: 18+ Gender: female only Ethnicity: mixed	Rape/abuse at any point	Range – including police, health, mental health, housing, substance use and children's services.	Women with lived experience of domestic and sexual abuse, but also multiple disadvantage: 38% of women specifically mentioned being diagnosed with some form of mental health issue, and all women clearly described the traumatic impacts of abuse. 30% disclosed using substances, with cocaine and heroin being the most common. Less women mentioned using alcohol – 13% discussed this. However, some women mentioned parents' or partners' problematic drinking negatively affecting them. 25% of women had experienced some form of social services

					involvement in relation to their children.
Hester & Lilley (2018) [Linked paper: Hester & Lilley (2017)]	To explore the ISVA role(s), including emotional support, the link with other sexual violence services, and the ways in which the needs of victims/survivors are experienced by the victims/survivors themselves and how well they see these as being met.	Population type: Professionals and victims Age: not stated Gender: mixed (12 women and 3 men) Ethnicity: not stated	Rape/abuse at any point	ISVAs Independent Sexual Violence Advisors	During the research period there were eight ISVAs employed in the research location, four full-time and four part- time, including a male ISVA and a specialist children's and young person's ISVA. A Life Enhancement Skills Adviser (LESA) worked as part of the ISVA team to specifically support victims with regard to practical issues
Idriss (2018)	To consider whether the recommendations made by the House of Commons Home Affairs Committee (HCHAC) about Honour Based Violence emergency responses and intervention have been acted upon eight years since the report was first published. It will consider the responses of 38,	Population type: Professionals and victims Age: not stated Gender: female only Ethnicity: mainly minority ethnicity	Forced Marriage	Range – police, education, social care, health	Survivors: All but one of the eight survivors were South-Asian and Muslim (one survivor was a South-Asian Hindu). All were residing in Northern and Central England at the time of interview. Five of the survivors were born in Pakistan,

mainly female, participants		two were born in the
who have directly witnessed		UK, and the remaining
_		-
or experienced emergency		survivor was born in
responses and intervention		India. Many had little
from public agencies,		or no post-16
whether as victims or as		education as they
frontline professionals.		were prevented from
		going to college or had
		arranged marriages at
		a young age. Only one
		UK-born survivor had
		university
		qualifications and was
		in full-time
		employment during
		her abuse.
		Professionals: Most of
		the key agent sample
		were drawn from
		refuge or support work
		(18); others were
		employed by the
		criminal justice
		system as serving
		police officers of
		various ranks (8);
		solicitors/legal
		workers in the CPS (2);
		and local authority
		-
		employees (2).

lmkaan (2016a)	This report documents the findings of a series of events held in Cardiff, London, Manchester and Sheffield by Imkaan and Rights of Women to reflect on local and regional responses to forced marriage in 2015.	Population type: Professionals Age: not stated Gender: female only Ethnicity: not stated	Forced marriage	Statutory and voluntary organisations	Participants were from different sectors, including: academic; CJS (criminal justice system); legal practitioners; statutory health services; specialist VAWG services
Imkaan (2016b)	The discussions focused on women's experiences of mental health and wellbeing, access to services provision as well as the quality of services they may have received.	Population type: Professionals and victims Age: not stated Gender: female only Ethnicity: not stated	Rape/abuse at any point	Mental health services UK	BME specialist organisation – Ethnicity not reported
Imkaan (2018)	To inform Imkaan's public policy work and Oak Foundation's Issues Affecting Women Programme strategy for the UK; as well as providing further evidence about the state of the BME ending VAWG sector.	Population type: Professionals Age: not stated Gender: female only Ethnicity: not stated	Rape/abuse at any point	Rape crisis, sexual violence service providers	Providers mainly in BME sector

Jackson & Fraser (2009)	To investigate midwives' knowledge and attitudes in relation to caring for women who have been sexually abused.	Population type: Professionals Age: not stated Gender: female only Ethnicity: not stated	Rape/abuse at any point	Community and hospital midwifery – four NHS trusts in Midlands	Caring for pregnant women in childbirth after SV
Jackson (2017)	There is a dearth of literature that has looked at the psychological impact of female genital mutilation/cutting (FGM/C), and little is known about the understanding and awareness of FGM/C amongst counselling professionals	Population type: Professionals Age: 18+ Gender: mixed Ethnicity: not stated	FGM	Counselling professionals	Over half of respondents (n = 1133, 54.7%) indicated that they work in private practice (defined her as practitioners who work independently) and/or the third/charitable/volue ary (TCV) sector (n = 939, 45.3%). Almost three-quarters (n = 1509, 72.8%) had trained in a humanistic/person- centred therapy.
					Despite the relatively low response rate, the demographic and workplace characteristics of survey respondents are broadly reflective of the wider BACP membership (BACP, 2016), suggesting that the sample was fairly representative of BACP members more generally
--	---	--	--------------------------------	-------------------------------------	---
Javaid (2018) [Linked reports: Javaid (2017, 2017, 2019)]	To explore: * how notions of sexualities affect British state and voluntary agencies' understanding of male rape and their views of men as victims of rape; * how do notions of gender, sexualities and masculinities affect and shape state and voluntary agencies' understanding of male rape and their views of men as victims of rape? * what roles do gender, sexualities and masculinities play in the discourse of male sexual victimization?	Population type: Professionals Age: not stated Gender: male only Ethnicity: not stated	Rape and abuse at any point	police and voluntary agencies	Specialist police officers (4); police detectives (4); police constables (34); police sergeants (9); police response officers (2); male rape counsellors (7); male rape therapists (3); and voluntary agency caseworkers (7). In terms of gender, the participants comprised 33 males and 37 females. The sample is predominantly white

		and most of the
		participants are under
		40 years of age and are
		mostly from highly
		educated and middle-
		class backgrounds.
		The respondents
		provide services for
		many male rape
		victims. On average,
		the respondents have
		had around seven
		years of experience of
		working with male
		rape victims and male
		victims of sexual
		assault; most of their
		clients are middle-
		class men. Some of
		my participants had no
		training in relation to
		male rape and sexual
		assault against men,
		but most had training
		in female rape and
		sexual assault against
		women, considering
		that violence against
		women is still a salient
		issue

Kliner & Stroud (2012)	This study aims to assess the psychological and physical impact on health and social care staff working with an identified sex-trafficked population in a Northern City within England and identify methods to assist staff to manage this complex population.	Population type: Professionals Age: not stated Gender: female only Ethnicity: not stated	Sex trafficked	Health and social care staff, Northern city in England	Twelve participants were chosen by purposive sampling and included staff within the voluntary and community sector managing the women's overall care, a wide range of healthcare professionals in general practice managing the women's health needs and support workers who manage the women's daily needs in order to ensure that a wide range of views and experiences were included in the study.
Matthew & Barron (2015)	Participatory action research was utilized to design a survey and semi-structured interview to investigate ritual abuse survivor experience of seeking help.	Population type: Victims and survivors Age: 18+ Gender: mixed Ethnicity: not stated	Ritual abuse	Range. Rape services, police, domestic violence, health, and social services	

McCarry et al. (2018) [Linked report: Berry et al. (2014)]	Draws on focus groups and interviews with fifty-three service users and thirty-one purposively selected service providers to explore their perspectives on Violence Against Women (VAW) service provision in Wales.	Population type: Professionals and victims Age: not stated Gender: female only Ethnicity: not stated	Rape/and abuse by intimate partner	Violence Against Women Services in Wales	Stakeholders: Eight were key strategic leads holding commissioning and/or policy roles and twenty-three were direct service providers in the VAW sector.
McMillan (2015)	To explore factors influencing attrition (from police service) in rape cases 'to explore the role of the STO in rape and sexual offence cases from the perspective of the officers who perform this role and those who work directly on rape and sexual offence reports.'	Population type: Professionals Age: not stated Gender: not stated Ethnicity: not stated	Rape/abuse at any point	Police. STO in one county in England	14 Female and 26 Male officers Ethnicity not reported
Montgomery et al. (2015)	To inform practice by exploring the impact that childhood sexual abuse has on the maternity care experiences of adult women	Population type: Victims/survivor Age: 18+ Gender: female only	Sexual abuse as a child	Maternity	Participants were all users of one maternity service in the South of England. women for whom speaking or understanding English was difficult were excluded

		Ethnicity: white			
Ranjbar & Speer (2013)	This study explores participants' own accounts of recovery from an experience of sexual assault, and to identify factors that they perceived as facilitating or impeding their recovery process.	Population type: Victims/survivors Age: 18+ Gender: female only Ethnicity: not stated	Rape/abuse at any point	Participants recruited through British organizations that address sexual assault	Participants experienced sexual assault and considered themselves as having "recovered". self- defined experience of sexual assault after the age of 13 years
Robinson & Hudson (2011	To compare the advantages and limitations of different models of support for victims of sexual violence (SARCs and voluntary-sector-based projects, each with and without Independent Sexual Violence Advisors)	Population type: Professionals and victims Age: not stated Gender: mixed Ethnicity: not stated	Rape/abuse at any point	SARCs (Sexual Assault Referral Centres) with specialist support workers (ISVAs - Independent Sexual Violence Advisor);	
Shah et al. (2016)	To generate data about the social world of a sample of disabled women across the United Kingdom who are survivors of violence and	Population type: Victims/survivors Age: 18+ Gender: female only	Rape/abuse as an adult by intimate partner	support services	women with disabilities (including cognitive, sensory, and physical) from different ethnic backgrounds

	have experience of specialist support services	Ethnicity: mixed			
Smith et al. (2015)	 The research aims to identify: what services are used by adult CSA survivors in the UK; to what extent services met survivors needs; and the adequacy and availability of information about services. 	Population type: Victims/survivors Age: 18+ Gender: mixed Ethnicity: not stated	Sexual abuse as child	All settings – national survey	87% female, 13% male
Somerset & Avon Rape Sexual Abuse Support (SARSAS) (2018)	To investigate and provide a valid experience of current group work service provision from a broad and thorough cross section of consultation with other specialist organisations local and nationally who currently deliver group work with survivors of sexual violence and to investigate and provide a valid experience of current service users' experience of group work.	Population type: Professionals and victims Age: not stated Gender: female only Ethnicity: not stated	Rape/abuse at any point	Group work	

Stanley et al. (2016) Thiara et al. (2015)	 Young people who have been trafficked may have experienced significant trauma and violence but little is known about their health and healthcare needs. This UK study aimed to address that gap. To generate an initial body of evidence about the extent to which BME women and girls are disclosing sexual violence and accessing support services; To gather evidence on emerging barriers and gaps to accessing support. 	Population type: Professionals and victims Age: mixed aged Gender: mixed Ethnicity: All BME Population type: Professionals Age: Mixed age Gender: female only Ethnicity: All BME	Young people who have been trafficked.	Health services in UK Sexual violence services and a sample of specialist BME domestic violence services	16 to 21 years 24 female, five male Participants originated from 12 countries, including Nigeria, Albania, and Slovakia. The majority originated from African countries, with two-fifths (10) of the young women from Nigeria. Nearly a third (7) of the young women were Eastern European. Marginalised women from BME communities also in the table included Young women (14-18 years)
Voscur (2018)	The aim of this research is to ascertain the needs of survivors, and consider how adult sexual violence services in Avon and	Population type: Professionals and victims	Rape/Abuse at any point	Adult sexual violence services in Somerset & Avon	Aged 16-25 years

Somerset can bett those needs.	er meet Age: mixed Gender: mixed	
	Ethnicity: not stated	

Appendix E: List of included evaluation studies n=106

UK studies are marked with *

Ades V, Sedlander E, Jay M, Zephyrin L, Dognin J (2017) Acceptability, feasibility, and effectiveness of interdisciplinary group education sessions for women veterans with a history of sexual trauma. *Violence and Gender* **4**: 55-64.

Anderson T, Fende G, Luthra R, Edwards KM (2010) Effects of clinician-assisted emotional disclosure for sexual assault survivors: a pilot study. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence* 25: 1113-1131.

Auringer Melissa L (2011) Clinical efficacy of a brief hypnotic intervention for hyperarousal symptoms in sexual trauma. *Dissertation Abstracts International: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering* 71: 6431.

Auten JD, Ross EM, French MA, Li IZ, Robinson L, Brown N, King KJ, Tanen DA (2015) Low-fidelity hybrid sexual assault simulation training's effect on the comfort and competency of resident physicians. *Journal of Emergency Medicine* 48: 344-350.

Becker Carol-Lynne J (2014) *Feasibility of an integrated cognitive-behavioral and art therapy for adult survivors of childhood sexual abuse with post traumatic stress disorder.*

Belleville G, Dube-Frenette M, Rousseau A (2018) Efficacy of Imagery Rehearsal Therapy and Cognitive Behavioral Therapy in Sexual Assault Victims With Posttraumatic Stress Disorder: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Journal of Traumatic Stress* 31: 591-601.

Bohus M, Dyer AS, Priebe K, Kruger A, Kleindienst N, Schmahl C, Niedtfeld I, Steil R (2013) Dialectical behaviour therapy for post-traumatic stress disorder after childhood sexual abuse in patients with and without borderline personality disorder: a randomised controlled trial. *Psychotherapy & Psychosomatics* 82: 221-233.

Bongaerts H, Van M, Agnes, de J, Ad (2017) Intensive EMDR to treat patients with complex posttraumatic stress disorder: A case series. *Journal of EMDR Practice and Research* 11: 84-95.

Bowland S, Edmond T, Fallot RD (2012) Evaluation of a Spiritually Focused Intervention with Older Trauma Survivors. *Social Work* 57: 73-82.

Britton DJ, Bloch RB, Strout TD, Baumann MR (2013) Impact of a computerized order set on adherence to Centers for Disease Control guidelines for the treatment of victims of sexual assault. *Journal of Emergency Medicine* 44: 528-535.

*Brooks-Hay O, Burman M, Bradley L, Kyle D (2018) *Evaluation of the Rape Crisis Scotland national advocacy project; final report 2018.* Glasgow Scotland, UK: The Scottish Centre for Crime & Justice Research.

https://www.sccjr.ac.uk/publications/evaluation-of-the-rape-crisis-scotland-nationaladvocacy-project-final-report-2018/

*Brooks O, Burman M (2017) Reporting rape: Victim perspectives on advocacy support in the criminal justice process. *Criminology & Criminal Justice: An International Journal* 17: 209-225. Brotto LA, Seal BN, Rellini A (2012) Pilot study of a brief cognitive behavioral versus mindfulness-based intervention for women with sexual distress and a history of childhood sexual abuse. *Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy* 38: 1-27.

*Calvert R, Kellett S, Hagan T (2015) Group cognitive analytic therapy for female survivors of childhood sexual abuse. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology* 54: 391-413.

Campbell R, Patterson D, Bybee D (2012) Prosecution of adult sexual assault cases: a longitudinal analysis of the impact of a sexual assault nurse examiner program. *Violence Against Women* 18: 223-244.

Campbell R, Bybee D, Townsend SM, Shaw J, Karim N, Markowitz J (2014) The Impact of Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner Programs on Criminal Justice Case Outcomes: A Multisite Replication Study. *Violence Against Women* 20: 607-625.

Cash G, Anna, Bolling Lanny C, Johnson Candace S (2009) The Efficacy of a Condensed Seeking Safety Intervention for Women in Residential Chemical Dependence Treatment at 30 Days Posttreatment. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse* 18: 475-488.

*Clifford G, Meiser-Stedman R, Johnson RD, Hitchcock C, Dalgleish T (2018) Developing an Emotion- and Memory-Processing Group Intervention for PTSD with complex features: a group case series with survivors of repeated interpersonal trauma. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology* 9: 1495980.

Cloitre M, Stovall-McClough KC, Nooner K, Zorbas P, Cherry S, Jackson CL, Gan W, Petkova E (2010) Treatment for PTSD related to childhood abuse: a randomized controlled trial. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 167: 915-924.

Decker MR, Tomko C, Wingo E, Sawyer A, Peitzmeier S, Glass N, Sherman SG (2017) A brief, trauma-informed intervention increases safety behavior and reduces HIV risk for drug-involved women who trade sex. *BMC Public Health* 18: 75.

Dombo EA, Bass AP (2014) The trials and tribulations of a practitioner-researcher: challenges and lessons learned through testing a feminist-cognitive-relational social work model of practice. *Journal of Evidence-Based Social Work* 11: 43-57.

*Donohoe J (2010) Uncovering sexual abuse: evaluation of the effectiveness of The Victims of Violence and Abuse Prevention Programme. *Journal of Psychiatric & Mental Health Nursing* 17: 9-18.

*Donovan C, Ballantyne N, Wilcock A (2011) *Tyneside Rape Crisis Centre Grace – Northumberland Sexual Violence Project Evaluation and Sustainability Report.* Sunderland England, UK: Northern Rock Foundation; Centre for Children, Young People and families. <u>https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Tyneside-Rape-Crisis-Centre-Grace-Northumberland-Donovan-</u> <u>Roberts/aa13ace1135e2941fe6988c04d7b784c9675c838</u>

Dorrepaal E, Thomaes K, Smit JH, van B, A J, Veltman DJ, Hoogendoorn AW, Draijer N (2012) Stabilizing group treatment for complex posttraumatic stress disorder related to child abuse based on psychoeducation and cognitive behavioural therapy: a multisite randomized controlled trial. *Psychotherapy & Psychosomatics* 81: 217-225.

Du M, Janice, Kosa D, Yang R, Solomon S, Macdonald S (2017) Determining the effectiveness of an Elder Abuse Nurse Examiner Curriculum: A pilot study. *Nurse Education Today* 55: 71-76.

Duberstein Paul R, Ward Erin A, Chaudron Linda H, He H, Toth Sheree L, Wang W, Van O, Kimberly A, Gamble Stephanie A, Talbot Nancy L (2018) Effectiveness of interpersonal psychotherapy-trauma for depressed women with childhood abuse histories. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 86: 868-878.

Dutton Mary A, Dahlgren S, Franco-Rahman M, Martinez M, Serrano A, Mete M (2017) A holistic healing arts model for counselors, advocates, and lawyers serving trauma survivors: Joyful Heart Foundation Retreat. *Traumatology* 23: 143-152.

Earley MD, Chesney MA, Frye J, Greene PA, Berman B, Kimbrough E (2014) Mindfulness intervention for child abuse survivors: a 2.5-year follow-up. *Journal of Clinical Psychology* 70: 933-941.

Elkjaer H, Kristensen E, Mortensen EL, Poulsen S, Lau M (2014) Analytic versus systemic group therapy for women with a history of child sexual abuse: 1-year followup of a randomized controlled trial. *Psychology & Psychotherapy: Theory, Research & Practice* 87: 191-208.

Elklit A (2015) Treatment of Danish Survivors of Child Sexual Abuse-A Cohort Study. *Behavioral sciences* **5:** 589-601.

*Ellis F (2012) Rehabilitation programme for adult survivors of childhood sexual abuse. *Journal of Public Mental Health* 11: 88-92.

Embregts P, Heestermans M, van den B, Kjhm (2017) A Training Course for Psychologists: Learning to Assess (Alleged) Sexual Abuse Among Victims and Perpetrators Who Have Intellectual Disabilities. *Sexuality & Disability* 35: 39-44.

Fitzpatrick M, Ta A, Lenchus J, Arheart KL, Rosen LF, Birnbach DJ (2012) Sexual assault forensic examiners' training and assessment using simulation technology. *Journal of Emergency Nursing* 38: 85-90.e86.

Fletcher S, Elklit A, Shevlin M, Armour C (2017) Predictors of PTSD Treatment Response Trajectories in a Sample of Childhood Sexual Abuse Survivors: The Roles of Social Support, Coping, and PTSD Symptom Clusters. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*: 886260517741212.

Gerardi M, Rothbaum BO, Astin MC, Kelley M (2010) Cortisol Response Following Exposure Treatment for PTSD in Rape Victims. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma* 19: 349-356.

Glass Nancy E, Perrin Nancy A, Hanson Ginger C, Bloom Tina L, Messing Jill T, Clough Amber S, Campbell Jacquelyn C, Gielen Andrea C, Case J, Eden Karen B (2017) The longitudinal impact of an internet safety decision aid for abused women. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 52: 606-615.

Gooch S (2019) Relationship variables in group psychotherapy treatment for sexual trauma survivors. *Dissertation Abstracts International: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering* 80: No Pagination Specified.

Gutner CA, Casement MD, Stavitsky G, Resick PA (2013) Change in sleep symptoms across Cognitive Processing Therapy and Prolonged Exposure: a longitudinal perspective. *Behaviour Research & Therapy* 51: 817-822.

Ha N, Bae S-M, Hyun M-H (2019) The effect of forgiveness writing therapy on post-traumatic growth in survivors of sexual abuse. *Sexual and Relationship Therapy* 34: 10-22.

Habib M, Labruna V, Newman J (2013) Complex Histories and Complex Presentations: Implementation of a Manually-Guided Group Treatment for Traumatized Adolescents. *Journal of Family Violence* 28: 717-728.

*Harding-Jones C (2018) Counselling sex-trafficked clients using trauma-focused cognitive behavioural therapy. *Healthcare Counselling & Psychotherapy Journal* 18: 16-19.

Harper K, Richter NL, Gorey KM (2009) Group work with female survivors of childhood sexual abuse: evidence of poorer outcomes among those with eating disorders. *Eating Behaviors* 10: 45-48.

Hassija C, Gray MJ (2011) The effectiveness and feasibility of videoconferencing technology to provide evidence-based treatment to rural domestic violence and sexual assault populations. *Telemedicine Journal & E-Health* 17: 309-315.

Hemma G, McNab A, Katz Lori S (2018) Efficacy of Treating Sexual Trauma in a Substance Abuse Residential Program for Women. *Journal of Contemporary Psychotherapy* 48: 1-8.

Hill JM, Vernig PM, Lee JK, Brown C, Orsillo SM (2011) The development of a brief acceptance and mindfulness-based program aimed at reducing sexual revictimization among college women with a history of childhood sexual abuse. *Journal of Clinical Psychology* 67: 969-980.

Holder N, Holliday R, Williams R, Mullen K, Suris A (2018) A preliminary examination of the role of psychotherapist fidelity on outcomes of cognitive processing therapy during an RCT for military sexual trauma-related PTSD. *Cognitive Behaviour Therapy* 47: 76-89.

Holliday R, Link-Malcolm J, Morris EE, Suris A (2014) Effects of cognitive processing therapy on PTSD-related negative cognitions in veterans with military sexual trauma. *Military Medicine* 179: 1077-1082.

Holliday R, Williams R, Bird J, Mullen K, Suris A (2015) The role of cognitive processing therapy in improving psychosocial functioning, health, and quality of life in veterans with military sexual trauma-related posttraumatic stress disorder. *Psychological Services* 12: 428-434.

Holliday R, Holder N, Monteith Lindsey L, Suris A (2018) Decreases in suicide cognitions after cognitive processing therapy among veterans with posttraumatic stress disorder due to military sexual trauma: A preliminary examination. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease* 206: 575-578.

Holliday RP, Holder ND, Williamson MLC, Suris A (2017) Therapeutic response to Cognitive Processing Therapy in White and Black female veterans with military sexual trauma-related PTSD. *Cognitive Behaviour Therapy* 46: 432-446.

Jepsen EK, Svagaard T, Thelle MI, McCullough L, Martinsen EW (2009) Inpatient treatment for adult survivors of childhood sexual abuse: a preliminary outcome study. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation* 10: 315-333.

Jung K, Steil R (2013) A randomized controlled trial on cognitive restructuring and imagery modification to reduce the feeling of being contaminated in adult survivors of childhood sexual abuse suffering from posttraumatic stress disorder. *Psychotherapy & Psychosomatics* 82: 213-220.

*Karatzias T, Ferguson S, Chouliara Z, Gullone A, Cosgrove K, Douglas A (2014) Effectiveness and acceptability of group psychoeducation for the management of mental health problems in survivors of child sexual abuse (CSA). *International Journal of Group Psychotherapy* 64: 493-514.

Katz Lori S, Cojucar G, Douglas S, Huffman C (2014a) Renew: An integrative psychotherapy program for women veterans with sexual trauma. *Journal of Contemporary Psychotherapy: On the Cutting Edge of Modern Developments in Psychotherapy* 44: 163-171.

Katz Lori S, Douglas S, Zaleski K, Williams J, Huffman C, Cojucar G (2014b) Comparing holographic reprocessing and prolonged exposure for women veterans with sexual trauma: A pilot randomized trial. *Journal of Contemporary Psychotherapy: On the Cutting Edge of Modern Developments in Psychotherapy* 44: 9-19.

Katz Lori S, Cojucar G, Hoff Rani A, Lindl C, Huffman C, Drew T (2015) Longitudinal outcomes of women veterans enrolled in the Renew sexual trauma treatment program. *Journal of Contemporary Psychotherapy: On the Cutting Edge of Modern Developments in Psychotherapy* 45: 143-150.

Katz LS, Park SE, Cojucar G, Huffman C, Douglas S (2016) Improved Attachment Style for Female Veterans Who Graduated Warrior Renew Sexual Trauma Treatment. *Violence & Victims* 31: 680-691.

Katz LS, Sawyer WN (2019) Pragmatic trial of brief warrior renew group therapy for military sexual trauma in VA primary care. *Psychological Services* 24: 24.

Kearns MC, Edwards KM, Calhoun KS, Gidycz CA (2010) Disclosure of sexual victimization: the effects of Pennebaker's emotional disclosure paradigm on physical and psychological distress. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation* 11: 193-209.

Kimbrough E, Magyari T, Langenberg P, Chesney M, Berman B (2010) Mindfulness intervention for child abuse survivors. *Journal of Clinical Psychology* 66: 17-33.

Kip KE, Hernandez DF, Shuman A, Witt A, Diamond DM, Davis S, Kip R, Abhayakumar A, Wittenberg T, Girling SA, Witt S, Rosenzweig L (2015) Comparison of Accelerated Resolution Therapy (ART) for Treatment of Symptoms of PTSD and Sexual Trauma Between Civilian and Military Adults. *Military Medicine* 180: 964-971.

Kruger A, Ehring T, Priebe K, Dyer Anne S, Steil R, Bohus M (2014) Sudden losses and sudden gains during a DBT-PTSD treatment for posttraumatic stress disorder following

childhood sexual abuse. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology Vol 5 2014, ArtID 24470* 5.

Kumar T, Sampsel K, Stiell Ian G (2017) Two, three, and four-drug regimens for HIV post-exposure prophylaxis in a North American sexual assault victim population. *American Journal of Emergency Medicine* 35: 1798-1803.

Lange A, Ruwaard J (2010) Ethical dilemmas in online research and treatment of sexually abused adolescents. *Journal of Medical Internet Research* 12: e58.

Lange Robin E (2013) Group treatment for adult survivors of sexual trauma: The relationship between social bonds and symptom severity. *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 353. https://digitalcommons.du.edu/etd/353.

Lee WJ, Clark L, Wortmann K, Taylor LA, Pock AR (2019) Interprofessional Healthcare Student Training in the Care of Sexual Assault Patients Utilizing Standardized Patient Methodology. *Simulation in Healthcare: The Journal of The Society for Medical Simulation* 14: 10-17.

Littleton H, Grills AE, Kline KD, Schoemann AM, Dodd JC (2016) The From Survivor to Thriver program: RCT of an online therapist-facilitated program for rape-related PTSD. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders* 43: 41-51.

Loucks L, Yasinski C, Norrholm SD, Maples-Keller J, Post L, Zwiebach L, Fiorillo D, Goodlin M, Jovanovic T, Rizzo AA, Rothbaum BO (2019) You can do that?!: Feasibility of virtual reality exposure therapy in the treatment of PTSD due to military sexual trauma. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders* 61: 55-63.

Macdonald S, Solomon S, Kosa Sarah D, Mont Janice D (2018) Development and evaluation of sexual assault training for emergency department staff in Ontario, Canada. *Nurse Education Today* 70: 124.

MacIntosh Heather B, Cloitre M, Kortis K, Peck A, Weiss Brandon J (2018) Implementation and Evaluation of the Skills Training in Affective and Interpersonal Regulation (STAIR) in a Community Setting in the Context of Childhood Sexual Abuse. *Research on Social Work Practice* 28: 595-602.

Matulis S, Resick PA, Rosner R, Steil R (2014) Developmentally adapted cognitive processing therapy for adolescents suffering from posttraumatic stress disorder after childhood sexual or physical abuse: a pilot study. *Clinical Child & Family Psychology Review* 17: 173-190.

Meade CS, Drabkin AS, Hansen NB, Wilson PA, Kochman A, Sikkema KJ (2010) Reductions in alcohol and cocaine use following a group coping intervention for HIVpositive adults with childhood sexual abuse histories. *Addiction* 105: 1942-1951.

Miller KE, Cranston CC, Davis JL, Newman E, Resnick H (2015) Psychological Outcomes After a Sexual Assault Video Intervention: A Randomized Trial. *Journal of Forensic Nursing* 11: 129-136.

Mouilso ER, Calhoun KS, Gidycz CA (2011) Effects of participation in a sexual assault risk reduction program on psychological distress following revictimization. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence* 26: 769-788.

Munsey S, Miller HE, Rugg T (2018) GenerateHope: a comprehensive treatment model for sex-trafficked women. *Journal of Evidence-Informed Social Work* 15: 420-431.

Nixon Reginald D, Best T, Wilksch Sarah R, Angelakis S, Beatty Lisa J, Weber N (2016) Cognitive processing therapy for the treatment of acute stress disorder following sexual assault: A randomised effectiveness study. *Behaviour Change* 33: 232-250.

*O'Neill M (2016) Independent evaluation Supporting 'Historic' Victims/Survivors of Child Sex Exploitation (CSE) in Leeds, a pilot project administered by the Office of the Norfolk Police & Crime Commissioner: final draft. Basis Yorkshire. <u>https://basisyorkshire.org.uk/historic-cse/</u>

Pence PG, Katz LS, Huffman C, Cojucar G (2014) Delivering Integrative Restoration-Yoga Nidra Meditation (iRest) to Women with Sexual Trauma at a Veteran's Medical Center: A Pilot Study. *International Journal of Yoga Therapy* 24: 53-62.

Poleshuck EL, Talbot NL, Su H, Tu X, Chaudron L, Gamble S, Giles DE (2009) Pain as a predictor of depression treatment outcomes in women with childhood sexual abuse. *Comprehensive Psychiatry* 50: 215-220.

Pulverman CS, Boyd RL, Stanton AM, Meston CM (2017) Changes in the sexual selfschema of women with a history of childhood sexual abuse following expressive writing treatment. *Psychological Trauma:Theory, Pesearch, Practice and Policy* **9:** 181-188.

*Robjant K, Roberts J, Katona C (2017) Treating posttraumatic stress disorder in female victims of trafficking using narrative exposure therapy: A retrospective audit. *Frontiers in Psychiatry Vol 8 2017, ArtID 63* 8.

Rothbaum BO, Kearns MC, Price M, Malcoun E, Davis M, Ressler KJ, Lang D, Houry D (2012) Early intervention may prevent the development of posttraumatic stress disorder: a randomized pilot civilian study with modified prolonged exposure. *Biological Psychiatry* 72: 957-963.

Rousseau A, Dube-Frenette M, Belleville G (2018) Self-efficacy as a Mechanism of Action of Imagery Rehearsal Therapy's Effectiveness: An Exploratory Mediation Analysis. *Journal of Nervous & Mental Disease* 206: 749-756.

*Rumney PNS, McPhee D, Fenton RA, Williams A (2019) A police specialist rape investigation unit: a comparative analysis of performance and victim care. *Policing and Society*: 1-21.

*Saha S, Chung Man C, Thorne L (2011) A narrative exploration of the sense of self of women recovering from childhood sexual abuse. *Counselling Psychology Quarterly* 24: 101-113.

Scher CD, Suvak MK, Resick PA (2017) Trauma cognitions are related to symptoms up to 10 years after cognitive behavioral treatment for posttraumatic stress disorder. *Psychological Trauma:Theory, Pesearch, Practice and Policy* **9:** 750-757.

Schiff M, Nacasch N, Levit S, Katz N, Foa EB (2015) Prolonged Exposure for Treating PTSD Among Female Methadone Patients Who Were Survivors of Sexual Abuse in Israel. *Social Work in Health Care* 54: 687-707.

Sharma-Patel K, Brown Elissa J, Chaplin William F (2012) Emotional and Cognitive Processing in Sexual Assault Survivors' Narratives. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma* 21: 149-170.

Signal T, Taylor N, Botros H, Prentice K, Lazarus K (2013) Whispering to Horses: Childhood Sexual Abuse, Depression and the Efficacy of Equine Facilitated Therapy. *Sexual Abuse in Australia and New Zealand* 5: 24-32.

Sikkema Kathleen J, Ranby Krista W, Meade Christina S, Hansen Nathan B, Wilson Patrick A, Kochman A (2013) Reductions in traumatic stress following a coping intervention were mediated by decreases in avoidant coping for people living with HIV/AIDS and childhood sexual abuse. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 81: 274-283.

Spinhoven P, Slee N, Garnefski N, Arensman E (2009) Childhood sexual abuse differentially predicts outcome of cognitive-behavioral therapy for deliberate self-harm. *Journal of Nervous & Mental Disease* 197: 455-457.

Steil R, Dyer A, Priebe K, Kleindienst N, Bohus M (2011a) Dialectical behavior therapy for posttraumatic stress disorder related to childhood sexual abuse: a pilot study of an intensive residential treatment program. *Journal of Traumatic Stress* 24: 102-106.

Steil R, Jung K, Stangier U (2011b) Efficacy of a two-session program of cognitive restructuring and imagery modification to reduce the feeling of being contaminated in adult survivors of childhood sexual abuse: a pilot study. *Journal of Behavior Therapy & Experimental Psychiatry* 42: 325-329.

Steil R, Dittmann C, Muller-Engelmann M, Dyer A, Maasch A-M, Priebe K (2018) Dialectical behaviour therapy for posttraumatic stress disorder related to childhood sexual abuse: A pilot study in an outpatient treatment setting. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology Vol 9(1), 2018, ArtID 1423832* 9.

Suris A, Link-Malcolm J, Chard K, Ahn C, North C (2013) A Randomized Clinical Trial of Cognitive Processing Therapy for Veterans With PTSD Related to Military Sexual Trauma. *Journal of Traumatic Stress* 26: 28-37.

Talbot NL, Chaudron LH, Ward EA, Duberstein PR, Conwell Y, O'Hara MW, Tu X, Lu N, He H, Stuart S (2011) A randomized effectiveness trial of interpersonal psychotherapy for depressed women with sexual abuse histories. *Psychiatric Services* 62: 374-380.

Tarquinio C, Brennstuhl M, Reichenbach S, Rydberg J, Tarquinio P (2012a) Early treatment of rape victims: Presentation of an emergency EMDR protocol. *Sexologies: European Journal of Sexology and Sexual Health / Revue europeenne de sexologie et de sante sexuelle* 21: 113-121.

Tarquinio C, Schmitt A, Tarquinio P, Rydberg J, Spitz E (2012b) Benefits of "eye movement desensitization and reprocessing" psychotherapy in the treatment of female victims of intimate partner rape. *Sexologies: European Journal of Sexology and Sexual Health / Revue europeenne de sexologie et de sante sexuelle* 21: 60-67.

*van Staden L, Lawrence J (2010) A qualitative study of a dedicated sexual assault investigation unit. *Research Report 48, London Home Office*.

Voelkel E, Pukay-Martin ND, Walter KH, Chard KM (2015) Effectiveness of Cognitive Processing Therapy for Male and Female U.S. Veterans With and Without Military Sexual Trauma. *Journal of Traumatic Stress* 28: 174-182.

Wachen Jennifer S, Jimenez S, Smith K, Resick Patricia A (2014) Long-term functional outcomes of women receiving cognitive processing therapy and prolonged exposure. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy* **6:** S58-S65.

Wagenmans A, Van M, Sleijpen M, De J (2018) The impact of childhood sexual abuse on the outcome of intensive trauma-focused treatment for PTSD. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology* 9: 1430962.

Walter KH, Buckley A, Simpson JM, Chard KM (2014) Residential PTSD treatment for female veterans with military sexual trauma: does a history of childhood sexual abuse influence outcome? *Journal of Interpersonal Violence* 29: 971-986.

*Williams R (2017) An exploration of the experience of women attending a specialist psychotherapy service for survivors of childhood sexual abuse.

Wilson D, Vidal B, Wilson W, Salyer S (2012) Overcoming sequelae of childhood sexual abuse with stress management. *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing* 19: 587-593.

Witt Jacki S, Carlson K, Colbert S, Cordle C, Hitchcock K, Kelly Patricia J (2015) SANE-A-PALOOZA: A Clinical Immersion Experience to Close the Gap for New Sexual Assault Nurse Examiners. *Journal of Forensic Nursing* 11: 101-106.

Appendix F: Study details for UK evaluations

No.	First Author (Year)	Location	Design	Gender of victim-survivors
		Population	Intervention	Age of victim-survivors
		Type of Sexual Violence	Comparator	Ethnicity of victim-survivors
		Setting	Outcomes	Specific population
Outo	ome evaluations			
10	Calvert (2015)	UK – England	Non-randomised controlled	Women only
		Victim-Survivors	Therapy – CAT	Aged 18 and over only
		Sexual abuse as a child Public healthcare – NHS	No treatment or waiting list control Scales – wellbeing and functioning; depression or anxiety	Mainly White No specific population
14	Clifford (2018)	UK – England Victim-Survivors Rape/abuse as an adult – perpetrator not specified Specialist sexual violence services	Before and after Therapy – STAIR NA Scales – PTSD; depression or anxiety	Women only Aged 18 and over only Mixed ethnicity PTSD
23	Ellis (2012)	UK – England Victim-Survivors Sexual abuse as a child	Before and after Therapy – Other NA	Women only Aged 18 and over only Not stated

No.	First Author (Year)	Location	Design	Gender of victim-survivors
		Population	Intervention	Age of victim-survivors
		Type of Sexual Violence	Comparator	Ethnicity of victim-survivors
		Setting	Outcomes	Specific population
		A mixture of settings	Scales – wellbeing and functioning; suicide	No specific population
65	Robjant (2017)	UK – England	Before and after	Women only
		Victim-Survivors	Therapy – Writing	Aged 18 and over only
		Trafficked sex slavery	NA	Mainly minority ethnicity
		Specialist sexual violence services	Scales – PTSD	PTSD
Outo	come and process evalu	ations	I	
91	Harding-Jones (2018)	UK – England	Before and after	Women only
		Both Profess and VS	Therapy – general CBT	Aged 18 and over only
		Trafficked sex slavery	NA	Not stated
		Specialist sexual violence services	Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning. Views	No specific population
93	Karatzias (2014)	UK – Scotland	Before and after	Mixed gender
		Victim-Survivors	Education – for victims	Aged 18 and over only
		Sexual abuse as a child	NA	Not stated
		Public healthcare – NHS		No specific population

No.	First Author (Year)	Location	Design	Gender of victim-survivors
		Population	Intervention	Age of victim-survivors
		Type of Sexual Violence	Comparator	Ethnicity of victim-survivors
		Setting	Outcomes	Specific population
			Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning; depression or anxiety; Dissociation. Views; Behaviour including service use	
98	Rumney (2019)	UK – England	Service – police	Mixed gender
		Both Profess and VS	Usual care control	Includes people aged <16
		Rape/abuse at any point in life Police or legal	Legal; Views; Referrals to specialist support services	Mainly White Law enforcement/legal
Proc	ess evaluations		I	
99	Brooks (2017)	UK – Scotland	Process evaluation	Women only
		Victim-Survivors	Service – advocacy	Aged 18 and over only
		Rape/abuse as an adult – perpetrator not specified	NA	Not stated
		Specialist sexual violence services	Views	No specific population
100	Brooks-Hay (2018)	UK – Scotland	Process evaluation	Mixed gender
		Both Profess and VS	Service – advocacy	Includes people aged <16
		Rape/abuse at any point in life	NA	Not stated

No.	First Author (Year)	Location	Design	Gender of victim-survivors
		Population	Intervention	Age of victim-survivors
		Type of Sexual Violence	Comparator	Ethnicity of victim-survivors
		Setting	Outcomes	Specific population
		Specialist sexual violence services	Views	No specific population
101	Donohoe (2010)	UK – England	Process evaluation	NA
		Professional Staff	Education – for professionals	NA
		Rape/abuse at any point in life	NA	NA
		Public healthcare – NHS	Knowledge, attitudes or skill assessment; Views; Behaviour including service use	Health professionals
102	Donovan (2011)	UK – England	Process evaluation	Women only
		Both Profess and VS	Service – support and	Aged 18 and over only
		Rape/abuse at any point in life	advocacy	Not stated
		Specialist sexual violence services	NA Views	No specific population
103	O'Neill (2016)	UK – England	Process evaluation	Women only
		Both Profess and VS	Service – support and advocacy	Aged 18 and over only
		Sexual abuse as a child	NA	Not stated
		Specialist sexual violence services	Views	No specific population

No.	First Author (Year)	Location	Design	Gender of victim-survivors
		Population	Intervention	Age of victim-survivors
		Type of Sexual Violence	Comparator	Ethnicity of victim-survivors
		Setting	Outcomes	Specific population
104	Saha (2011)	UK – England	Process evaluation	Women only
		Victim-Survivors	Therapy – Other	Aged 18 and over only
		Sexual abuse as a child	NA	All White
		Specialist sexual violence services	Views	No specific population
105	Van Staden (2010)	UK – England	Process evaluation	NA
		Professional Staff	Service – police	NA
		Rape/abuse at any point in life	NA	NA
		Police or legal	Views	Law enforcement/legal
106	Williams (2017)	UK – England	Process evaluation	Women only
		Victim-Survivors	Therapy – Other	Aged 18 and over only
		Sexual abuse as a child	NA	Not stated
		Specialist sexual violence services	Views	No specific population

NA = not applicable – no comparator, or no victim-survivors

Appendix G: Study details for 106 included evaluations

Population, sexual violence and setting

Highlighted rows are evaluations conducted in the UK.

	Author	Aim	Country	Study Design	Gender
			Population	Intervention type	Age
			Type of sexual violence	Comparator	Ethnicity
			Service setting	Outcome types	Specific population
Outco	omes only				
1	Anderson (2010)	To assess the effects of	USA	RCT	Women only
		clinician-assisted emotional disclosure	Victim-Survivors	Therapy – CAED	Aged 18 and over only
		(CAED), in ameliorating distress experienced by survivors of sexual	Rape/abuse as an adult – perpetrator not specified	No treatment or waiting list control	Mainly Caucasian University/college
		assault	University/education	Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning; Depression or Anxiety	students
2	Auten (2015)	To determine the	USA	Before and after	NA
		effectiveness of a low- fidelity hybrid simulation-	Professional Staff	Education – for NA	NA
		based educational intervention in improving	Rape/abuse at any age	professionals	NA
		the comfort and	Military medical	NA	Health professionals
		competence of physicians in training at a		Knowledge, attitudes or skill assessment	

	Author	Aim	Country	Study Design	Gender
			Population	Intervention type	Age
			Type of sexual violence	Comparator	Ethnicity
			Service setting	Outcome types	Specific population
		residency programme without a pre-existing SANE programme			
3	Becker (2014)	To examine the feasibility of an integrated CBT and AT group treatment for adult CSA survivors	USA Victim-Survivors Sexual abuse as a child Public healthcare	Before and after Therapy – Other NA Scales – PTSD; Depression or Anxiety; Dissociation	Mixed gender Aged 18 and over only Mixed ethnicity PTSD
4	Belleville (2018)	To evaluate the efficacy of a combination of CBT and nightmare therapy (imagery rehearsal therapy; IRT) compared with CBT alone for the treatment of PTSD	Canada Victim-Survivors Rape/abuse at any age Not stated	RCT Therapy – IRT No treatment or waiting list control Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning. Sleep quality & other sleep related symptoms	Mixed gender Aged 18 and over only Not stated PTSD
5	Bohus (2013)	To assess the effects of dialectical behaviour therapy for PTSD (DBT- PTSD) on PTSD	Germany Victim-Survivors	RCT Therapy – DBT	Women only

	Author	Aim	Country	Study Design	Gender
			Population	Intervention type	Age
			Type of sexual violence	Comparator	Ethnicity
			Service setting	Outcome types	Specific population
		symptoms in people with CSA-related PTSD with or without borderline personality disorder, compared with usual care	Sexual abuse as a child Residential care	Usual care control Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning; Depression or Anxiety	Mixed age (aged 16 – 18 and over) Not stated PTSD
6	Bongaerts (2017)	To determine the safety and effectiveness of an intensive EMDR programme for CSA patients suffering from severe PTSD	Netherlands Victim-Survivors Rape/abuse at any age Public healthcare	Before and after Therapy – EMDR NA Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning	Mixed gender Mixed age (aged 16 - 18 and over) Not stated PTSD
7	Britton (2013)	To evaluate the implementation of a standardised order set, for the care of adult sexual assault patients, that provided clinicians with treatment recommendations consistent with CDC guidelines	USA Professional Staff Rape/abuse at any age University/education	RCT Service – SANE Control not described Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning; Depression or Anxiety	Women only Aged 18 and over only Mainly Caucasian Older or elderly

8	Author Brotto (2012) Bowland (2012)	Aim To compare the efficacy of a cognitive behavioural or mindfulness-based group treatment to address sexual distress To evaluate the effectiveness of an 11- session, spiritually focused group intervention with older women survivors of interpersonal trauma (child abuse, sexual assault, or domestic violence) in reducing PTSD	Country Population Type of sexual violence Service setting Canada Victim-Survivors Sexual abuse as a child Public healthcare USA Victim-Survivors Sexual abuse as a child University/education	Study Design Intervention type Comparator Outcome types Before and after Therapy – Mindfulness NA Adherence to guidelines RCT Therapy – holistic/residential Active control Scales – wellbeing and functioning. Sexual arousal or interest	Gender Age Ethnicity Specific population NA NA NA NA No specific population Women only Aged 18 and over only Mainly Caucasian No specific population
10	Calvert (2015)	To investigate the effectiveness of 24 sessions of group cognitive analytic therapy (GCAT) delivered in routine practice for female survivors of CSA	UK – England Victim-Survivors Sexual abuse as a child Public healthcare	Non-randomised controlled Therapy – CAT No treatment or waiting list control	Women only Aged 18 and over only Mainly Caucasian No specific population

	Author	Aim	Country Population Type of sexual violence Service setting	Study Design Intervention type Comparator Outcome types Scales – wellbeing and functioning; Depression or Anxiety	Gender Age Ethnicity Specific population
11	Campbell (2012)	To assess the impact of the SANE programme on criminal justice case outcomes	USA Victim-Survivors Rape/abuse as an adult – perpetrator not specified Specialist sexual violence services	Before and after Service – SANE NA Legal	Not stated Aged 18 and over only Not stated No specific population
12	Campbell (2014)	To assess how implementation of SANE programmes affects adult sexual assault prosecution rates	USA Victim-Survivors Rape/abuse as an adult – perpetrator not specified Specialist sexual violence services	Before and after Service – SANE NA Legal	Not stated Aged 18 and over only Not stated No specific population
13	Cash (2009)	To examine the efficacy of the Seeking Safety intervention in reducing trauma-related symptoms and improved	USA Victim-Survivors Sexual abuse as a child	RCT Therapy – Seeking Safety Usual care control	Women only Aged 18 and over only Mixed ethnicity

	Author	Aim drug abstinence among women in residential chemical dependence treatment	Country Population Type of sexual violence Service setting Residential care	Study Design Intervention type Comparator Outcome types Scales – PTSD. Drug/hormone test	Gender Age Ethnicity Specific population Substance abuse
14	Clifford (2018)	To examine the efficacy of a 12-session Emotion- and Memory-Processing Group Programme on PTSD	UK – England Victim-Survivors Rape/abuse as an adult – perpetrator not specified Specialist sexual violence services	Before and after Therapy – STAIR Scales – PTSD; Depression or Anxiety	Women only Aged 18 and over only Mixed ethnicity PTSD
15	Cloitre (2010)	To evaluate the benefits and risks of a treatment combining an initial preparatory phase of skills training in affect and interpersonal regulation (STAIR) on PTSD	USA Victim-Survivors Sexual abuse as a child Not stated	RCT Therapy – STAIR Active control Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning; Depression or Anxiety; Other mood states; Social support	Women only Aged 18 and over only Mixed ethnicity PTSD
16	Dombo (2014)	To test the effects of The Feminist-Cognitive-	USA	RCT	Women only

	Author	Aim	Country	Study Design	Gender
			Population	Intervention type	Age
			Type of sexual violence	Comparator	Ethnicity
			Service setting	Outcome types	Specific population
		Relational Social Work Intervention (FCRSWI) on relational health in CSA survivors	Victim-Survivors Sexual abuse as a child Voluntary services	Therapy – feminist cognitive Usual care control Scales – wellbeing and functioning	Aged 18 and over only Mixed ethnicity No specific population
17	Dorrepaal (2012)	To test the efficacy of a behavioural stabilising group treatment on PTSD severity in people with history of childhood abuse (physical and sexual abuse)	Netherlands Victim-Survivors Sexual abuse as a child Public healthcare	RCT Therapy – general CBT Usual care control Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning	Mixed gender Aged 18 and over only Not stated PTSD
18	Duberstein (2018)	To compare Interpersonal Psychotherapy-Trauma (IPT-T), for depressed women with child abuse histories, with clinic psychotherapy (CP)	USA Victim-Survivors Sexual abuse as a child Public healthcare	RCT Therapy – psychotherapy Usual care control Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning; Depression or Anxiety; Social support; Physical health.	Women only Aged 18 and over only Mixed ethnicity Depression

	Author	Aim	Country Population Type of sexual violence Service setting	Study DesignIntervention typeComparatorOutcome typesKnowledge, attitudes or skill assessment	Gender Age Ethnicity Specific population
19	Dutton (2017)	To evaluate the preliminary effectiveness of the JHF Holistic Healing Retreat for improving wellbeing and resilience among counsellors, advocates and lawyers who deliver services to survivors of child abuse, domestic violence, and sexual assault	USA Professional Staff Rape/abuse at any age A mixture of settings	 Before and after Therapy – holistic/residential NA Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning; Depression or Anxiety. Sleep quality & other sleep related symptoms. Knowledge, attitudes or skill assessment. 	NA NA No specific population
20	Earley (2014) Follow-up study, at 2.5 years, to Kimbrough 2010	To examine the long-term effects of a mindfulness- based stress reduction (MBSR) programme on PTSD for adult survivors of CSA	USA Victim-Survivors Sexual abuse as a child Public healthcare	Before and after Therapy – Mindfulness NA Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning; Depression or Anxiety	Not stated Aged 18 and over only Mainly Caucasian No specific population

	Author	Aim	Country	Study Design	Gender
			Population	Intervention type	Age
			Type of sexual violence	Comparator	Ethnicity
			Service setting	Outcome types	Specific population
21	Elkjaer (2014)	To ascertain the	Denmark	RCT	Women only
		durability of gains achieved one year after	Victim-Survivors	Therapy – CAT	Aged 18 and over only
	Follow-up study,	treatment completion by the women in Lau &	Sexual abuse as a child	Active control	Not stated
	at one year, to Lau, 2007	Kristensen, 2007	Public healthcare	Scales – wellbeing and functioning	No specific population
22	Elklit (2015)	To investigate the	Denmark	Before and after	Mixed gender
		changes in psychological and social domains	Victim-Survivors	Therapy – STAIR	Includes people aged <16
		associated with	Sexual abuse as a child	NA	All Caucasian
		treatment in survivors of CSA	Public healthcare	Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning	No specific population
23	Ellis (2012)	To demonstrate the	UK – England	Before and after	Women only
		effectiveness of the Butterfly Programme (a	Victim-Survivors	Therapy – Other	Aged 18 and over only
		group therapy	Sexual abuse as a child	NA	Not stated
		programme) for adult survivors of CSA	A mixture of settings	Scales – wellbeing and functioning; suicide	No specific population
24	Embregts (2017)	To evaluate a five-day	Netherlands	Before and after	NA
		training programme for psychologists to detect	Professional Staff		NA

	Author	Aim	Country Population Type of sexual violence Service setting	Study Design Intervention type Comparator Outcome types	Gender Age Ethnicity Specific population
		and assess (alleged) sexual abuse among people with intellectual disabilities who have been either the victim or the perpetrator of sexual abuse	Rape/abuse at any age Public healthcare	Education – for professionals NA Knowledge, attitudes or skill assessment	NA Learning disabilities
25	Fitzpatrick (2012)	To evaluate the competence of advanced registered nurse practitioner (ARNP)s in performing examinations independently, after attending state-wide sexual assault nurse examination training using simulation technology	USA Professional Staff Rape/abuse at any age Public healthcare	Before and after Education – for professionals NA Knowledge, attitudes or skill assessment	NA NA NA Health professionals
26	Fletcher (2017)	To assess the effectiveness of personalised	Denmark Victim-Survivors	Before and after Therapy – psychotherapy	Mixed gender Includes people aged <16
		psychotherapy (including cognitive, psychodynamic, and	Sexual abuse as a child Public healthcare	NA	All Caucasian PTSD

	Author	Aim	Country	Study Design	Gender
			Population	Intervention type	Age
			Type of sexual violence	Comparator	Ethnicity
			Service setting	Outcome types	Specific population
		behavioural treatments) on PTSD in CSA survivors		Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning	
27	Gerardi (2010)	To examine changes in	USA	RCT	Women only
		salivary cortisol levels in response to EMDR	Victim-Survivors	Therapy – EMDR	Aged 18 and over only
	-	treatment in female rape	Rape/abuse at any age	Active control	Not stated
		victims with PISD	Public healthcare	Scales – PTSD; Depression or Anxiety.	PTSD
				Drug/hormone test	
28	Glass (2017)	To test the effectiveness	USA	RCT	Women only
		of a tailored online safety information and safety planning aid for women experiencing intimate	Victim-Survivors Rape/abuse as adult	Therapy – By computer or video No treatment or waiting list	Aged 18 and over only Mixed ethnicity
		partner violence	by intimate partner	control	No specific population
			Online	Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning; Depression or Anxiety	
29	Gooch (2019)	To examine relational group psychotherapy processes including group cohesion and bond	USA Victim-Survivors	Before and after Therapy – general CBT	Women only Aged 18 and over only

	Author	Aim	Country	Study Design	Gender
			Population	Intervention type	Age
			Type of sexual violence	Comparator	Ethnicity
			Service setting	Outcome types	Specific population
		with the group leaders as	Rape/abuse at any age	NA	Mixed ethnicity
		vital components in treatment for sexual trauma	Voluntary services	Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning	No specific population
30	Gutner (2013)	To examine the impact of Cognitive Processing Therapy (CPT) and Prolonged Exposure (PE) on subjective measures of sleep disturbance among female rape victims	USA	RCT	Women only
			Victim-Survivors	Therapy – CPT	Aged 18 and over only
			Rape/abuse at any age	Active control	Mixed ethnicity
			Not stated	Scales – PTSD.	PTSD
				Sleep quality & other sleep related symptoms	
31	Ha Neul (2019)	To examine the therapeutic effects of forgiveness writing therapy in victims of sexual abuse	South Korea	RCT	Mixed gender
			Victim-Survivors	Therapy – Writing	Aged 18 and over only
			Rape/abuse as an adult – perpetrator not specified	No treatment or waiting list control	Not stated University/college
			Not stated	Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning; Depression or Anxiety	students
32	Habib (2013)	To assess the effectiveness of Structured	USA	Before and after	Mixed gender

	Author	Aim	Country	Study Design	Gender
			Population	Intervention type	Age
			Type of sexual violence	Comparator	Ethnicity
			Service setting	Outcome types	Specific population
		Psychotherapy for Adolescents Responding	Victim-Survivors Rape/abuse at any age	Therapy – psychotherapy NA	Includes people aged <16 Mixed ethnicity
	to Chronic Stress (SPARCS)	Residential care	Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning	No specific population	
33	Harper (2009)	To assess the effectiveness of CSA group treatment in survivors with and without histories of eating disorders	USA Victim-Survivors Sexual abuse as a child A mixture of settings	Alternative population comparison Therapy – general CBT NA Scales – wellbeing and functioning; Depression or Anxiety	Women only Aged 18 and over only Mainly Caucasian No specific population
34	Hassija (2011)	To evaluate the effectiveness and feasibility of providing evidence-based, trauma- focused treatment via videoconferencing to rural survivors of domestic violence and sexual assault	USA Victim-Survivors Rape/abuse at any age Voluntary services	Before and after Therapy – By computer or video NA Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning; Depression or Anxiety	Women only Aged 18 and over only Not stated PTSD

	Author	Aim	Country Population Type of sexual violence Service setting	Study Design Intervention type Comparator Outcome types	Gender Age Ethnicity Specific population
35	Hemma (2018)	To evaluate the efficacy of the Warrior Renew intervention for treating sexual trauma in a substance abuse residential programme for women	USA Victim-Survivors Sexual abuse as a child Residential care	Before and after Therapy – Warrior Renew NA Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning	Women only Aged 18 and over only Mixed ethnicity Substance abuse
36	Hill (2011)	To examine the efficacy of a brief mindfulness- based programme in reducing rates of sexual assault and re- victimisation in college women	USA Victim-Survivors Sexual abuse as a child University/education	Non-randomised controlled Therapy – Mindfulness Control not described Scales – wellbeing and functioning. Re-victimisation. Knowledge, attitudes or skill assessment	Women only Aged 18 and over only Mixed ethnicity University/college students
37	Holliday (2014)	To assess the effects of cognitive processing therapy and present- centred therapy on negative conditions	USA Victim-Survivors Military sexual trauma	RCT Therapy – CPT Active control	Mixed gender Aged 18 and over only Mixed ethnicity
	Author	Aim	Country	Study Design	Gender
----	-------------------------------------	--	-------------------------	--	-----------------------
			Population	Intervention type	Age
			Type of sexual violence	Comparator	Ethnicity
			Service setting	Outcome types	Specific population
		among veterans diagnosed with MST	Military medical	Scales – PTSD	Military
38	Holliday (2015)	To examine the	USA	RCT	Mixed gender
		effectiveness of CPT in addressing psychosocial,	Victim-Survivors	Therapy – CPT	Aged 18 and over only
		health, and quality of life	Military sexual trauma	Active control	Mixed ethnicity
		in veterans with MST- related PTSD	Military medical	Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning	Military with PTSD
39	Holliday (2017)	To evaluate the	USA	Alternative population	Women only
		effectiveness of CPT for Black and White female	Victim-Survivors	comparison	Aged 18 and over only
	Secondary	veterans with MST- related PTSD	Military sexual trauma	Therapy – CPT	Mixed ethnicity
	analysis of: Suris et al. (2013)	related PTSD	Military medical	NA	Military with PTSD
				Scales – PTSD	
40	Holliday (2018)	To examine the effectiveness of CPT in	USA	Before and after	Mixed gender
		reducing suicide-specific	Victim-Survivors	Therapy – CPT	Aged 18 and over only
		beliefs among veterans with MST-related PTSD	Military sexual trauma	NA	Mixed ethnicity
			Military medical	Scales – suicide	Military with PTSD

	Author	Aim	Country	Study Design	Gender
			Population	Intervention type	Age
			Type of sexual violence	Comparator	Ethnicity
			Service setting	Outcome types	Specific population
41	Jepsen (2009)	To examine the changes in psychiatric symptoms and interpersonal problems in adults with a	Norway Victim-Survivors Sexual abuse as a child	Alternative population comparison Therapy –	Mixed gender Aged 18 and over only Not stated
		history of CSA and post- traumatic stress disorder who attended an inpatient treatment programme	Residential care	holistic/residential NA Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning; Depression or Anxiety	PTSD
42	Jung (2013)	To examine the efficacy of Cognitive Restructuring and Imagery Modification (CRIM) for the treatment of PTSD and the feeling of being contaminated following CSA	Germany Victim-Survivors Sexual abuse as a child Public healthcare	RCT Therapy – CRIM No treatment or waiting list control Scales – PTSD; Depression or Anxiety; Other mood states; contamination	Women only Aged 18 and over only Mainly Caucasian PTSD
43	Katz (2014)	To assess the effectiveness of Renew for women Veterans with complex issues including sexual trauma, PTSD, medical problems,	USA Victim-Survivors Military sexual trauma	Before and after Therapy – Warrior Renew NA	Women only Aged 18 and over only Mixed ethnicity

	Author	Aim	Country	Study Design	Gender
			Population	Intervention type	Age
			Type of sexual violence	Comparator	Ethnicity
			Service setting	Outcome types	Specific population
		chronic pain, and histories of homelessness and substance abuse	Military medical	Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning; Other mood states	Military
44	Katz (2014)	To assess whether holographic processing (HR) and PE reduce symptoms related to trauma more so than	USA Victim-Survivors Military sexual trauma	RCT Therapy – Other Active control	Women only Aged 18 and over only Mixed ethnicity
		person-centred (PC) therapy	Military medical	Scales – PTSD; Other mood states	Military
45	Katz (2015)	To (re)-evaluate the effectiveness of the Renew sexual trauma	USA Victim-Survivors	Before and after Therapy – Warrior Renew	Women only Aged 18 and over only
	Follow-up, at one year, to Katz (2014)	treatment programme for female veterans and assess results at one year follow-up	Military sexual trauma Military medical	NA Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning	Mixed ethnicity Military
46	Katz (2016)	To examine the change in perceived attachment style in relationships in	USA Victim-Survivors	Before and after Therapy – Warrior Renew	Women only Aged 18 and over only
		graduates of the Warrior	Military sexual trauma	NA	Mixed ethnicity

	Author	Aim	Country	Study Design	Gender
			Population	Intervention type	Age
			Type of sexual violence	Comparator	Ethnicity
			Service setting	Outcome types	Specific population
		Renew programme for sexual trauma treatment	Military medical	Scales – wellbeing and functioning; Other mood states	Military
47	Katz (2019)	To determine whether a brief version of Warrior Renew delivered in Veteran Affairs (VA) primary care is feasible and effective in reducing negative cognitions, anxiety, depression, and post-traumatic symptoms	USA Victim-Survivors Military sexual trauma Military medical	Before and after Therapy – Warrior Renew NA Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning; Depression or Anxiety. Views	Women only Aged 18 and over only Mixed ethnicity Military
48	Kearns (2010)	To assess the effectiveness of Pennebaker's emotional disclosure paradigm with sexual assault survivors	USA Victim-Survivors Rape/abuse as an adult -perpetrator not specified University/education	RCT Therapy – Writing Active control Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning; Other mood states; Physical health	Women only Aged 18 and over only Mainly Caucasian University/college students

	Author	Aim	Country	Study Design	Gender
			Population	Intervention type	Age
			Type of sexual violence	Comparator	Ethnicity
			Service setting	Outcome types	Specific population
49	Kimbrough (2010)	To assess the efficacy of mindfulness meditation-	USA Victim-Survivors	Before and after Therapy – Mindfulness	Mixed gender Aged 18 and over only
	Linked to Earley	based stress reduction (MBSR) on PTSD among adult CSA trauma	Sexual abuse as a child	NA	Mainly Caucasian
	2014	survivors	University/education	Scales – PTSD; Depression or Anxiety.	No specific population
				Side-effects; Knowledge, attitudes or skill assessment; Views	
50	Kip (2015)	To compare the effectiveness of Accelerated Resolution Therapy (ART) for the treatment of symptoms of PTSD and sexual trauma between civilian and military adults	USA Victim-Survivors Rape/abuse as an adult – perpetrator not specified A mixture of settings	 Alternative population comparison Therapy – ART NA Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning; Depression or Anxiety; Other mood states. Sleep quality & other sleep related symptoms; Behaviour including service use 	Mixed gender Aged 18 and over only Mainly Caucasian Military

	Author	Aim	Country	Study Design	Gender
			Population Type of sexual violence	Intervention type Comparator	Age Ethnicity
			Service setting	Outcome types	Specific population
51	Kruger (2014)	To explore the course of an exposure-based	Germany Victim-Survivors	RCT Therapy – DBT	Women only Aged 18 and over only
		treatment programme for female patients suffering from PTSD related to CSA who also show severe comorbidity	Sexual abuse as a child Residential care	No treatment or waiting list control Scales – PTSD	Not stated PTSD
52	Kumar (2017)	To compare two, three, and four-drug regimens, and their associated outcomes for patients at a sexual assault care facility	Canada Victim-Survivors Rape/abuse as an adult – perpetrator not specified Public healthcare	Non-randomised controlled Secondary prevention – HIV Active control Side-effects; Behaviour including service use	Mixed gender Includes people aged <16 Not stated No specific population
53	Lange (2013)	To confirm the effects of online treatment (therapist-assisted Web- based treatment) of adolescent victims of sexual abuse	USA Victim-Survivors Rape/abuse at any age A mixture of settings	Before and after Therapy – Other NA Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning; Social support	Women only Aged 18 and over only Mainly Caucasian No specific population

	Author	Aim	Country Population Type of sexual violence Service setting	Study Design Intervention type Comparator Outcome types	Gender Age Ethnicity Specific population
54	Lee (2019)	To develop an inter- professional simulation event that would foster sexual assault interview skills, foster effective communication with patients, and increase learner confidence in assessing sexual assault patients	USA Professional Staff Military sexual trauma Military medical	Before and after Education – for professionals NA Knowledge, attitudes or skill assessment	NA NA NA Military
55	Littleton (2016)	To compare the efficacy of the From Survivor to Thriver programme with a self-help psycho- educational website among a sample of college women who met full diagnostic criteria for rape-related PTSD	USA Victim-Survivors Rape/abuse as an adult – perpetrator not specified Online	RCT Therapy – By computer or video Active control Scales – PTSD; Depression or Anxiety; suicide. Knowledge, attitudes or skill assessment; Behaviour including service use	Women only Aged 18 and over only Mixed ethnicity PTSD
56	Loucks (2019)	To examine the use of virtual reality exposure	USA	Before and after	Mixed gender

	Author	Aim	Country	Study Design	Gender
			Population	Intervention type	Age
			Type of sexual violence	Comparator	Ethnicity
			Service setting	Outcome types	Specific population
		therapy (VRE) in the treatment of MST-related PTSD	Victim-Survivors Military sexual trauma Military medical	Therapy – By computer or video NA Scales – PTSD; Depression or Anxiety. Psychophysiological assessment	Aged 18 and over only Mixed ethnicity Military with PTSD
57	Matulis (2014)	To evaluate the feasibility and efficacy of Developmentally Adapted Cognitive Processing Therapy (D- CPT)	USA Victim-Survivors Sexual abuse as a child Public healthcare	Before and after Therapy – CPT NA Scales – PTSD; Depression or Anxiety; Other mood states; Dissociation	Mixed gender Includes people aged <16 Mainly Caucasian PTSD
58	Meade (2010)	To test the effects of a coping group intervention for HIV-positive adults with CSA histories on alcohol, cocaine and marijuana use	USA Victim-Survivors Sexual abuse as a child A mixture of settings	RCT Therapy – general CBT Active control Behaviour including service use	Mixed gender Aged 18 and over only Mainly minority ethnicity HIV+

	Author	Aim	Country	Study Design	Gender
			Population	Intervention type	Age
			Type of sexual violence	Comparator	Ethnicity
			Service setting	Outcome types	Specific population
59	Miller (2015)	To examine the efficacy of a nine-minute video- based intervention that provided psycho- education and modelling of coping strategies	USA Victim-Survivors Rape/abuse as an adult – perpetrator not specified Public healthcare	RCT Therapy – By computer or video Usual care control Scales – PTSD; Depression	Women only Aged 18 and over only Mixed ethnicity No specific population
60	Mouilso (2011)	To explore the effects of participating in a sexual	USA Victim-Survivors	or Anxiety RCT Therapy – Other	Women only Aged 18 and over only
		assault risk reduction programme on distress in women who were later re-victimised	Rape/abuse as an adult – perpetrator not specified University/education	No treatment or waiting list control Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning; Other mood states; Coping/avoidant coping strategies. Re-victimisation	Mainly Caucasian University/college students
61	Munsey (2018)	To examine the GenerateHope residential programme and provide early	USA Victim-Survivors	Before and after Therapy – Other	Women only Aged 18 and over only

	Author	Aim	Country	Study Design	Gender
			Population	Intervention type	Age
			Type of sexual violence	Comparator	Ethnicity
			Service setting	Outcome types	Specific population
		outcome results for	Trafficked sex slavery	NA	Mixed ethnicity
		residents living at the GH programme for six to 12 months	Residential care	Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning; Depression or Anxiety	No specific population
62	Nixon (2016)	To evaluate the efficacy of Cognitive Processing	Australia	RCT	Mixed gender
		Therapy, in a wholly	Victim-Survivors	Therapy – CPT	Aged 18 and over only
	Initial trial:	sexual assault sample,	Rape/abuse at any age	Usual care control	Mainly Caucasian
	Nixon, 2012	delivered by non-CBT oriented, non-selected therapists within a community sexual assault centre	Specialist sexual violence services	Scales – PTSD; Depression or Anxiety	Acute Stress Disorder
63	Poleshuck (2009)	To examine whether	USA	RCT	Women only
		clinically significant pain is associated with worse	Victim-Survivors	Therapy – psychotherapy	Aged 18 and over only
		depression and	Sexual abuse as a child	Usual care control	Mixed ethnicity
		functioning outcomes among women with CSA histories treated with interpersonal psychotherapy	Public healthcare	Scales – wellbeing and functioning; Depression or Anxiety	Depression

	Author	Aim	Country	Study Design	Gender
			Population	Intervention type	Age
			Type of sexual violence	Comparator	Ethnicity
			Service setting	Outcome types	Specific population
64	Pulverman	To examine changes in	USA	Before and after	Women only
	(2017)	theme prominence after an expressive writing	Victim-Survivors	Therapy – Writing	Aged 18 and over only
		treatment for seven themes: family and	Sexual abuse as a child	NA	Mixed ethnicity
		development, virginity, abuse, relationship, sexual activity, attraction, and existentialism	University/education	Writing themes	No specific population
65	Robjant (2017)	To assess NET in treating	UK – England	Before and after	Women only
		10 women who had been trafficked for sexual	Victim-Survivors	Therapy – Writing	Aged 18 and over only
		exploitation who were	Trafficked sex slavery	NA	Mainly minority ethnicity
		diagnosed with PTSD	Specialist sexual violence services	Scales – PTSD	PTSD
66	Rothbaum (2012)	To test an early	USA	RCT	Mixed gender
		intervention to modify memory to prevent the	Victim-Survivors	Therapy – PE	Aged 18 and over only
		development of PTSD before memory	Rape/abuse as an adult –	No treatment or waiting list	Mainly minority ethnicity
		consolidation	perpetrator not specified	control	No specific population
			Public healthcare	Scales – PTSD; Depression or Anxiety	

	Author	Aim	Country Population Type of sexual violence Service setting	Study Design Intervention type Comparator Outcome types	Gender Age Ethnicity Specific population
67	Rousseau (2018)	To investigate how an exploratory measure of self-efficacy could mediate IRT's effectiveness	Canada Victim-Survivors Rape/abuse at any age A mixture of settings	RCT Therapy – IRT Active control Scales – PTSD. Sleep quality & other sleep related symptoms	Mixed gender Aged 18 and over only Not stated PTSD
68	Scher (2017)	To examine the relationships between trauma-related cognitions and PTSD symptoms from pre- treatment through a long period following CBT and whether these relationships were affected by treatment type	USA Victim-Survivors Rape/abuse as an adult – perpetrator not specified Not stated	RCT Therapy – CPT Active control Scales – PTSD	Women only Aged 18 and over only Not stated PTSD
69	Schiff (2015)	To test the feasibility of PE, delivered by a social worker, for female patients in methadone programme clinics who	Israel Victim-Survivors Rape/abuse at any age	Before and after Therapy – PE NA	Women only Aged 18 and over only Not stated

	Author	Aim	Country	Study Design	Gender
			Population	Intervention type	Age
			Type of sexual violence	Comparator	Ethnicity
			Service setting	Outcome types	Specific population
		were survivors of CSA or rape, and to examine its effects on PTSD, depression, and illicit drug use, before and after treatment and one year later	Public healthcare	Scales – PTSD; Depression or Anxiety. Behaviour including service use	Substance abuse
70	Sharma-Patel (2012)	To examine emotional activation and cognitive processing, across narrative writing sessions, with undergraduate sexual assault survivors	USA Victim-Survivors Rape/abuse as an adult – perpetrator not specified University/education	 Before and after Therapy – Writing NA Scales – PTSD; Depression or Anxiety. Behaviour including service use 	Women only Aged 18 and over only Mixed ethnicity University/college students
71	Signal (2013)	To evaluate and compare the efficacy of an adjunct EFT programme for the reduction of depressive symptoms across three age cohorts of CSA victims	Australia Victim-Survivors Sexual abuse as a child Specialist sexual violence services	Before and after Therapy – Other NA Scales – Depression or Anxiety	Women only Aged 18 and over only Not stated No specific population

	Author	Aim	Country Population Type of sexual violence Service setting	Study Design Intervention type Comparator Outcome types	Gender Age Ethnicity Specific population
72	Sikkema (2013)	To examine whether Living in the Face of Trauma (LIFT) significantly reduced traumatic stress, at one- year follow-up, more than an attention-matched support group, and whether reductions in avoidant coping mediated reductions in traumatic stress	USA Victim-Survivors Sexual abuse as a child A mixture of settings	RCT Therapy – Other Active control Scales – PTSD; Coping/avoidant coping strategies	Mixed gender Aged 18 and over only Mixed ethnicity HIV+
73	Spinhoven (2009)	To examine the impact of childhood abuse on the outcome of cognitive- behavioural therapy for young people who recently engaged in Deliberate Self-Harm (DSH)	Netherlands Victim-Survivors Sexual abuse as a child Not stated	RCT Therapy – general CBT Usual care control Behaviour including service use	Mixed gender Includes people aged <16 Not stated Deliberate self-harm
74	Steil (2011)	To evaluate CRIM's feasibility and efficacy in reducing the feeling of	Germany Victim-Survivors	Before and after Therapy – CRIM	Women only Aged 18 and over only

	Author	Aim	Country	Study Design	Gender
			Population	Intervention type	Age
			Type of sexual violence	Comparator	Ethnicity
			Service setting	Outcome types	Specific population
		being contaminated in	Sexual abuse as a child	NA	All Caucasian
		adult survivors of CSA	University/education	Scales – PTSD; contamination	PTSD
75	Steil (2011)	To examine the	Germany	Before and after	Women only
		acceptance, safety, and efficacy of DBT-PTSD	Victim-Survivors	Therapy – DBT	Aged 18 and over only
			Sexual abuse as a child	NA	All Caucasian
			Residential care	Scales – PTSD; Depression or Anxiety	PTSD
76	Steil (2018)	To investigate the	Germany	Before and after	Women only
		feasibility, acceptance and safety of Dialectical	Victim-Survivors	Therapy – DBT	Aged 18 and over only
		Behaviour Therapy for	Sexual abuse as a child	NA	Not stated
		PTSD in an outpatient treatment setting by therapists who were novice to the treatment	University/education	Scales – PTSD; Depression or Anxiety; Dissociation; borderline personality symptomatology	PTSD
77	Suris (2013)	To evaluate the	USA	RCT	Mixed gender
		effectiveness of individual CPT in the	Victim-Survivors	Therapy – CPT	Aged 18 and over only
		treatment of post- traumatic and depressive	Military sexual trauma	Active control	Mixed ethnicity

	Author	Aim	Country	Study Design	Gender
			Population	Intervention type	Age
			Type of sexual violence	Comparator	Ethnicity
			Service setting	Outcome types	Specific population
		symptoms related to MST, compared with present-centred therapy (PCT)	Military medical	Scales – PTSD; Depression or Anxiety	Military with PTSD
78	Talbot (2011)	To compare interpersonal psychotherapy with usual	USA Victim-Survivors	RCT Therapy – psychotherapy	Women only Aged 18 and over only
		care psychotherapy among women in a	Sexual abuse as a child	Usual care control	Mixed ethnicity
		Community Mental Health Centre	Public healthcare	Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning; Depression or Anxiety	Depression
79	Tarquinio (2012)	To test the effectiveness	France	Before and after	Women only
		of a new type of early treatment (URG-EMDR)	Victim-Survivors	Therapy – EMDR	Aged 18 and over only
		on the consequences of	Rape/abuse as an adult –	NA	Not stated
		rape	perpetrator not specified	Scales – PTSD; Other mood	No specific population
			A mixture of settings	states.	
				Sexual arousal or interest	
80	Tarquinio (2012)	To evaluate the effects of	France	Before and after	Women only
		Eye Movement Desensitisation and Reprocessing (EMDR), in	Victim-Survivors	Therapy – EMDR	Aged 18 and over only

	Author	Aim	Country	Study Design	Gender
			Population	Intervention type	Age
			Type of sexual violence	Comparator	Ethnicity
			Service setting	Outcome types	Specific population
		reducing PTSD, anxiety, and depressive symptoms, for female victims of intimate partner rape	Rape/abuse as adult by intimate partner University/education	NA Scales – PTSD; Depression or Anxiety	Not stated PTSD
81	Voelkel (2015)	To explore the effectiveness of CPT in treating full or subthreshold PTSD, comparing US veterans with MST versus those without MST	USA Victim-Survivors Military sexual trauma Military medical	 Alternative population comparison Therapy – CPT NA Scales – PTSD; Depression or Anxiety 	Mixed gender Aged 18 and over only Mixed ethnicity Military with PTSD
82	Wachen (2014) Follow-up to Galovski et al. (2005)	To examine the complete LTFU data from the parent study, to assess overall functioning, symptoms, and trajectory of change between CPT and PE treatment groups	USA Victim-Survivors Rape/abuse at any age Not stated	RCT Therapy – CPT Active control Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning; Depression or Anxiety	Women only Aged 18 and over only Mixed ethnicity PTSD
83	Wagenmans (2018)	To test the hypothesis that a history of CSA would have a detrimental	Netherlands Victim-Survivors	Alternative population comparison	Mixed gender Aged 18 and over only

	Author	Aim effect on the outcome of intensive trauma-focused treatment for those suffering from PTSD	Country Population Type of sexual violence Service setting Rape/abuse at any age Specialist sexual violence services	 Study Design Intervention type Comparator Outcome types Therapy – Combined PE & EMDR NA Scales – PTSD 	Gender Age Ethnicity Specific population Not stated PTSD
84	Walter (2014)	To examine pre- treatment PTSD and depression severity, as well as treatment outcome, between female veterans who reported experiencing MST, with and without a history of CSA	USA Victim-Survivors Military sexual trauma Military medical	Alternative population comparison Therapy – CPT NA Scales – PTSD; Depression or Anxiety	Women only Aged 18 and over only Mixed ethnicity Military with PTSD
85	Wilson (2012)	To examine if a stress- management education programme was effective in improving coping skills as measured by the Ways of Coping	USA Victim-Survivors Sexual abuse as a child Specialist sexual violence services	Before and after Education – for victims NA Scales – wellbeing and functioning	Women only Aged 18 and over only Mainly Caucasian No specific population
86	Witt (2015)	To describe an educational method for SANEs, based on adult	USA Professional Staff	Before and after	NA NA

	Author	Aim	Country	Study Design	Gender
			Population	Intervention type	Age
			Type of sexual violence	Comparator	Ethnicity
			Service setting	Outcome types	Specific population
	construc theory, a prelimina	learning principles and constructivist learning theory, and to provide preliminary quantitative evaluation data	Rape/abuse at any age University/education	Education – for professionals NA Knowledge, attitudes or skill assessment; Views	NA SANEs
Outco	omes and processes				
87	Ades (2017)	To evaluate group education sessions (GESs) for preventive health interventions for women with prior sexual violence	USA Victim-Survivors Rape/abuse at any age Military medical	Before and after Education – for victims Knowledge, attitudes or skill assessment; Views	Women only Aged 18 and over only Mainly minority ethnicity Military
88	Auringer (2011)	To determine the feasibility and effectiveness of a brief hypnotic intervention for hyperarousal PTSD symptoms in women who have experienced sexual trauma	USA Victim-Survivors Rape/abuse at any age Specialist sexual violence services	 RCT Therapy – Hypnosis Usual care control Scales – PTSD; Depression or Anxiety; Other mood states. Sleep quality & other sleep related symptoms; Views 	Women only Aged 18 and over only Mixed ethnicity PTSD

89	Author Decker (2017)	Aim To examine the efficacy of INSPIRE (Integrating Safety Promotion with HIV Risk Reduction) to improve safety and reduce HIV risk among drug-involved female sex workers (FSWs)	Country Population Type of sexual violence Service setting USA Victim-Survivors Sex Workers A mixture of settings	Study Design Intervention type Comparator Outcome types Before and after Education – for victims NA Scales – PTSD; Depression or Anxiety. Re-victimisation; Knowledge, attitudes or skill assessment; Views; Behaviour including service	Gender Age Ethnicity Specific population Women only Aged 18 and over only Mixed ethnicity Substance abuse
90	Du Mont (2017)	To pilot and evaluate a novel Elder Abuse Nurse Examiner Curriculum and materials for their efficacy in improving SANEs' knowledge of elder abuse and competence in delivering care	Canada Professional Staff Rape/abuse as an adult – perpetrator not specified Specialist sexual violence services	use Before and after Education – for professionals NA Knowledge, attitudes or skill assessment; Views	NA NA NA SANEs
91	Harding-Jones (2018)	To gauge the effectiveness of trauma- focused cognitive	UK – England	Before and after Therapy – general CBT	Women only Aged 18 and over only

	Author	Aim	Country Population Type of sexual violence Service setting	Study Design Intervention type Comparator Outcome types	Gender Age Ethnicity Specific population
		behavioural therapy (TF- CBT) with adult women who had been trafficked into the sex industry	Both professional and voluntary staff Trafficked sex slavery Specialist sexual violence services	NA Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning. Views	Not stated No specific population
92	Holder (2018)	To examine the effect of therapist treatment fidelity on patient outcomes for veterans receiving CPT for MST- related PTSD	USA Victim-Survivors Military sexual trauma Military medical	Alternative population comparison Therapy – CPT NA Scales – PTSD; Depression or Anxiety	Mixed gender Aged 18 and over only Mixed ethnicity Military with PTSD
93	Karatzias (2014)	To assess the effectiveness and acceptability of a new brief psycho-educational group intervention for managing mental health and behavioural problems associated with a history of CSA	UK – Scotland Victim-Survivors Sexual abuse as a child Public healthcare	Before and after Education – for victims NA Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning; Depression or Anxiety; Dissociation.	Mixed gender Aged 18 and over only Not stated No specific population

	Author	Aim	Country Population Type of sexual violence Service setting	Study DesignIntervention typeComparatorOutcome typesViews; Behaviour including service use	Gender Age Ethnicity Specific population
94	Lange (2010)	To examine the session- to-session change in symptom severity and social bonding ability in the participants of group treatment for survivors of sexual trauma	Netherlands Victim-Survivors Rape/abuse at any age Online	 Non-randomised controlled Therapy – By computer or video Active control Scales – wellbeing and functioning; Depression or Anxiety. Views 	Not stated Includes people aged <16 Not stated No specific population
95	Macdonald (2018)	To assess the efficacy of training to improve competence to address sexual assault among Emergency Department (ED) staff, and to compare in-person and online training modes	Canada Professional staff Rape/abuse at any age Public healthcare	Alternative population comparison Education – for professionals NA Knowledge, attitudes or skill assessment; Views	NA NA NA Health professionals

	Author	Aim	Country Population Type of sexual violence Service setting	Study Design Intervention type Comparator Outcome types	Gender Age Ethnicity Specific population
96	MacIntosh (2018)	To assess the outcomes of the first two years of the Skills Training in Affective and Inter- personal Regulations (STAIR) model at the Cedar Centre for individuals who have experienced CSA	Canada Both professional and voluntary staff Sexual abuse as a child Public healthcare	Before and after Therapy – STAIR NA Scales – PTSD; Other mood states; Dissociation; Interpersonal problems. Views	Mixed gender Aged 18 and over only Not stated No specific population
97	Pence (2014)	To explore the efficacy of iRest to reduce trauma- related symptoms in women with sexual trauma, including MST; and to monitor how well iRest was tolerated in a VA setting	USA Victim-Survivors Military sexual trauma Military medical	Before and after Therapy – Mindfulness NA Scales – PTSD; wellbeing and functioning; Depression or Anxiety. Side-effects; Views	Women only Aged 18 and over only Mixed ethnicity Military
98	Rumney (2019)	To compare a specialist (Operation Bluestone) and non-specialist policing response to rape	UK – England Both professional and voluntary staff Rape/abuse at any age	Non-randomised controlled Service – police Usual care control	Mixed gender Includes people aged <16 Mainly Caucasian

	Author	Aim	Country Population Type of sexual violence Service setting Police or legal	Study DesignIntervention typeComparatorOutcome typesLegal; Views; Referrals to specialist support services	Gender Age Ethnicity Specific population Law enforcement/legal
Proces	ss only				
99	Brooks (2017)	To evaluate an innovative advocacy model introduced in Scotland to assist reporting rape to the police	UK – Scotland Victim-Survivors Rape/abuse as an adult – perpetrator not specified Specialist sexual violence services	Process evaluation Service – advocacy NA Views	Women only Aged 18 and over only Not stated No specific population
100	Brooks-Hay (2018)	To evaluate Rape Crisis Scotland's National Advocacy Project (NAP)	UK – Scotland Both professional and voluntary staff Rape/abuse at any age Specialist sexual violence services	Process evaluation Service – advocacy NA Views	Mixed gender Includes people aged <16 Not stated No specific population
101	Donohoe (2010)	To describe the impact of the Department of Health's Victims of Violence & Abuse	UK – England Professional Staff Rape/abuse at any age	Process evaluation Education – for professionals	NA NA NA

	Author	Aim	Country Population Type of sexual violence Service setting	Study Design Intervention type Comparator Outcome types	Gender Age Ethnicity Specific population
		Prevention Programme one-day education and training course, on mental health professionals' practice and attitudes in UK Health Trusts	Public healthcare	NA Knowledge, attitudes or skill assessment; Views; Behaviour including service use	Health professionals
102	Donovan (2011)	To evaluate the Grace project (Rape Crisis) in Northumberland	UK – England Both professional and voluntary staff Rape/abuse at any age Specialist sexual violence services	Process evaluation Service – support and advocacy NA Views	Women only Aged 18 and over only Not stated No specific population
103	O'Neill (2016)	A process evaluation of the Basis Yorkshire Supporting Historic Victims/Survivors of Child Sex Exploitation in Leeds project	UK – England Both professional and voluntary staff Sexual abuse as a child Specialist sexual violence services	Process evaluation Service – support and advocacy NA Views	Women only Aged 18 and over only Not stated No specific population

	Author	Aim	Country	Study Design	Gender
			Population	Intervention type	Age
			Type of sexual violence	Comparator	Ethnicity
			Service setting	Outcome types	Specific population
104	Saha (2011)	To explore how the sense	UK – England	Process evaluation	Women only
		of self evolves through the recovery process	Victim-Survivors	Therapy – Other	Aged 18 and over only
		after intensive therapy	Sexual abuse as a child	NA	All Caucasian
		that focuses on issues pertaining to CSA	Specialist sexual violence services	Views	No specific population
105	105 Van Staden (2010)	To establish whether or not a dedicated unit improved the services provided to victims of	UK – England	Process evaluation	NA
			Professional Staff	Service – police	NA
			Rape/abuse at any age	NA	NA
		sexual assault	Police or legal	Views	Law enforcement/legal
106	Williams (2017)	To explore in depth the	UK – England	Process evaluation	Women only
		lived experience of women attending a	Victim-Survivors	Therapy – Other	Aged 18 and over only
		specialist psychotherapy service for survivors of CSA	Sexual abuse as a child	NA	Not stated
			Specialist sexual violence services	Views	No specific population

Appendix H: List of included systematic reviews n=21

Note that we used included systematic reviews published in 2014 or later.

Abayomi O, Chibuzor MT, Okusanya BO, Esu E, Odey E, Meremikwu MM (2017) Supportive psychotherapy or client education alongside surgical procedures to correct complications of female genital mutilation: A systematic review. *International Journal of Gynaecology & Obstetrics* 136 Suppl 1: 51-55.

Adelufosi A, Edet B, Arikpo D, Aquaisua E, Meremikwu MM (2017) Cognitive behavioral therapy for post-traumatic stress disorder, depression, or anxiety disorders in women and girls living with female genital mutilation: A systematic review. *International Journal of Gynaecology & Obstetrics* 136 Suppl 1: 56-59.

Bello S, Ogugbue M, Chibuzor M, Okomo U, Meremikwu MM (2017) Counselling for deinfibulation among women with type III female genital mutilation: A systematic review. *International Journal of Gynaecology & Obstetrics* 136 Suppl 1: 47-50.

Berry V, Stanley N, Radford L, McCarry M, Larkins C (2014) *Building Effective Responses: An Independent Review of Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Services in Wales.* Welsh Government Social Research.

Chen R, Gillespie A, Zhao Y, Xi Y, Ren Y, McLean L (2018) The Efficacy of Eye Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing in Children and Adults Who Have Experienced Complex Childhood Trauma: A Systematic Review of Randomized Controlled Trials. *Frontiers in Psychology* 9: 534.

Dawson A, Homer CS, Turkmani S, Black K, Varol N (2015) A systematic review of doctors' experiences and needs to support the care of women with female genital mutilation. *International journal of gynaecology and obstetrics: the official organ of the International Federation of Gynaecology and Obstetrics* 131: 35-40.

Deming ME, Bhochhibhoya A, Ingram L, Stafford C, Li X (2018) HIV/STI Interventions targeting women who experience forced sex: A systematic review of global literature. *Health care for women international*: 1-31.

Dworkin ER, Schumacher JA (2018) Preventing Posttraumatic Stress Related to Sexual Assault Through Early Intervention: A Systematic Review. *Trauma Violence & Abuse* 19: 459-472.

Ezebialu I, Okafo O, Oringanje C, Ogbonna U, Udoh E, Odey F, Meremikwu MM (2017) Surgical and nonsurgical interventions for vulvar and clitoral pain in girls and women living with female genital mutilation: A systematic review. *International Journal of Gynaecology & Obstetrics* 136 Suppl 1: 34-37.

Fraley HE, Aronowitz T, Stoklosa HM (2019) Systematic Review of Human Trafficking Educational Interventions for Health Care Providers. *Western Journal Of Nursing Research*: 193945919837366.

Hamid A, Grace KT, Warren N (2018) A Meta-Synthesis of the Birth Experiences of African Immigrant Women Affected by Female Genital Cutting. *Journal of Midwifery & Women's Health* 63: 185-195.

Korotana LM, Dobson KS, Pusch D, Josephson T (2016) A review of primary care interventions to improve health outcomes in adult survivors of adverse childhood experiences. *Clinical Psychology Review* 46: 59-90.

Menon B, Van D, Awerbuch A, Caddell L, Roberts K, Stoklosa H, Potter J (2018) Informing Human Trafficking Clinical Care Through Two Systematic Reviews on Sexual Assault and Intimate Partner Violence. *Trauma Violence & Abuse*: 1524838018809729 (p1524838018809721-1524838018809714).

O'Driscoll C, Flanagan E (2016) Sexual problems and post-traumatic stress disorder following sexual trauma: A meta-analytic review. *Psychology & Psychotherapy: Theory, Research & Practice* 89: 351-367.

Okomo U, Ogugbue M, Inyang E, Meremikwu MM (2017) Sexual counselling for treating or preventing sexual dysfunction in women living with female genital mutilation: A systematic review. International *Journal of Gynaecology & Obstetrics* 136 Suppl 1: 38-42.

Parcesepe Angela M, Martin Sandra L, Pollock McLean D, Garcia-Moreno C (2015) The effectiveness of mental health interventions for adult female survivors of sexual assault: A systematic review. *Aggression and Violent* Behavior 25: 15-25.

Parry S, Simpson J (2016) How Do Adult Survivors of Childhood Sexual Abuse Experience Formally Delivered Talking Therapy? A Systematic Review. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse* 25: 793-812.

Platt L, Grenfell P, Meiksin R, Elmes J, Sherman Susan G, Sanders T, Mwangi P, Crago A-L (2018) Associations between sex work laws and sex workers' health: A systematic review and meta-analysis of quantitative and qualitative studies. *PLoS Medicine* 15: 1-54.

Toon C, Gurusamy K (2014) Forensic Nurse Examiners versus Doctors for the Forensic Examination of Rape and Sexual Assault Complainants: A Systematic Review. *Campbell Systematic Reviews*.

Wilen Jessica S (2015) A systematic review and network meta-analysis of psychosocial interventions for adults who were sexually abused as children. *Dissertation Abstracts International* Section A: Humanities and Social Sciences 75: No Pagination Specified, UMI No. 3619714.

Zurynski Y, Sureshkumar P, Phu A, Elliott E (2015) Female genital mutilation and cutting: a systematic literature review of health professionals' knowledge, attitudes and clinical practice. *BMC international health and human rights* 15: 32.

Appendix I: Study details of the systemat	ic reviews
---	------------

Author/year	Review characteristics	Date range searched	Included studies/	Type of interventions	Type of data synthesis	Outcomes
			publication date			
Female genital	mutilation: victim-sur	vivors				
Abayomi 2017	Population: Women and girls Study Designs:	Not stated	0	Supportive psychotherapy or client education	n/a	Post-op care, stigma, patient satisfaction, sexual dysfunction,
	RCTs and NRCTs					medico-legal complaints
Adelufosi 2017	Population: Women and girls	Inception - 2015	0	Cognitive behavioral therapy CBT	n/a	PTSD, depression, or anxiety disorders
	Study Designs: RCTs and NRCTs					
Bello 2017	Population: Women and girls	Inception - 2015	0	Counselling prior to deinfibulation	n/a	Patient satisfaction, marital
	Study Designs: RCTs and NRCTs					satisfaction, and requests for re- infibulation
Ezebialu 2017	Population: Women and girls	Inception - 2015	0	*Surgical and nonsurgical interventions	n/a	Vulvar pain, adverse events

Author/year	Review characteristics	Date range searched	Included studies/	Type of interventions	Type of data synthesis	Outcomes
			publication date			
	Study Designs: Mixed methods					
Okomo 2017	Population: Women and girls	Inception - 2015	0	Sexual counselling	n/a	Sexual functioning
	Study Designs: Mixed methods					
Hamid 2018	Population: Somalian women and girls settled outside Africa (age not stated)	Inception - 2016	14 (published 2000-2016 [3 UK studies])	Views of services	Thematic	Labour and birth experiences: pain, anxiety, provider knowledge and support
	Study Designs: Qualitative					
Female genital	mutilation: Healthcare	professionals (H	ICP)			
Dawson 2015	Population: Nurses, midwives, doctors, gynaecologists	2004-2014	10 (published 2003-2013 [2 UK studies])	Views and perceived training needs	Narrative	Experience and needs in supporting women with FGM
	Study Designs: Mixed methods					

Author/year	Review characteristics	Date range searched	Included studies/	Type of interventions	Type of data synthesis	Outcomes
			publication date			
Zurynski 2015	Population: Nurses, midwives, obstetricians, social workers, psychologists	2000-2014	18 (published 2002-2014 [3 UK studies])	Views of services	Narrative	Knowledge and attitudes of FGM in clinical practice
	Study Designs: Mixed methods					
Sexual abuse a	nd violence: victim-surv	vivors				
Berry 2014	Population: Adult women (age not stated)	2000-2014	10 (published 2001-2013 [1 UK study)	Hental health/psychological interventions	Narrative	PTSD, anxiety, depression, satisfaction
	Study Designs: Mixed methods					
Parcesepe 2015	Population: Adult women (age	1985-2012	9 (published 1991-2012)	Hental health/psychological interventions	Narrative	PTSD, anxiety, depression,
	not stated)					distress-fear
	Study Designs: RCTs and NRCTs					
Dworkin 2018	Population:	Not stated	15 (published	Timing of response/	Narrative	PTSD
	Adult men and women (age not		1995-2014 [2 UK studies])	Interventions		

Author/year	Review characteristics	Date range searched	Included studies/	Type of interventions	Type of data synthesis	Outcomes
			publication date			
	stated)					Help-seeking experiences
	Study Designs: Mixed methods					
Deming 2018	Population: Adult women (age not stated)	2007-2017	17 (published 2003-2015)	HIV/STI intervention	Narrative	Safe sexual practices
	Study Designs: Mixed methods					
Platt 2018	Population: Men, women and trans gender people	1990-2018	46 (published 1995-2017 [1 UK study])	Views of services	Thematic	Safety, health and access to services related to
	sex workers (age 14- 68 years)					criminalisation of sex work
	Study Designs: Qualitative					
Sexual abuse a	and violence: HCP					
Toon 2014	Population: SANEs	Inception – 2014	6 (published 1997-2012 [1 UK study])	SANE care vs non-SANE care	Meta-analysis	Efficacy (STI, pregnancy and HIV prophylaxis;

Author/year	Review characteristics	Date range searched	Included studies/	Type of interventions	Type of data synthesis	Outcomes
			publication date			
	Study Designs: RCTs and NRCTs					prosecution /conviction rates)
Sexual abuse	as children: victim-survi	vors				
Wilen 2015	Population: Adult survivors (mean age 36 years)	Not stated	18 (published 1989-2013)	ł Mental health and psychological interventions	Meta-analysis	PTSD, anxiety, depression, suicide
	Study Designs: RCTs					
Parry 2016	Population: Adult men and women (age < 48	Not stated	23 (published 1997-2013 [2 UK studies])	Views on trauma-focused talking therapies	Thematic	Experience of healing, connecting
	years) Study Designs: Qualitative					with others, discovering hope for the future
O'Driscoll 2016	Population: Adult women (age not stated)	Inception- 2015	4 (published 2003-2013)	H Psychological interventions	Meta-analysis	Sexual dysfunctions and concerns
	Study Designs: RCTs					

Author/year	Review characteristics	Date range searched	Included studies/	Type of interventions	Type of data synthesis	Outcomes
			publication date			
Korotana 2016	Population: Adult men and women (age not stated)	Not stated	99 (published 1985-2014)	ł Mental health and psychological interventions	Narrative	PTSD, anxiety, depression, emotional functioning
	Study Designs: RCTs and NRCTs					
Chen 2018	Population: Adult men and women (age 18-65 years)	Inception- 2017	3 (published 1999-2007)	EMDR intervention	Narrative	PTSD, anxiety, depression
	Study Designs: RCTs					
Human traffic	king: victim-survivors					
Human traffic	king: HCP					
Menon 2018	Population: Adult women (age not stated)	Inception- 2017	10 (published 2001-2015)	Hental health interventions	Narrative	PTSD, anxiety, depression, self- reported health-
	Study Designs: RCTs					related quality of life

Author/year	Review characteristics	Date range searched	Included studies/	Type of interventions	Type of data synthesis	Outcomes
			publication date			
Fraley 2019	Population: Medical doctors, nurses, social workers, mental health providers, health educators	2000 -2018	7 (published 2009-2019)	Educational intervention (one- to-one, web-based)	Narrative	Awareness of and attitudes toward HT victims, confidence in identifying trafficking victims
	Study Designs: Pre- and post-test					

*deinfibulation and reconstruction, analgesic medication

‡ CBT, supportive psychotherapy and counselling, Imagery rehearsal therapy, EMDR, coping skill/assertiveness training, stress inoculation therapy, and others

H Trauma Affect Regulation: Guide for Education and Therapy, Supportive group therapy, Trauma focus expressive Writing, Sexual schemafocused expressive writing, Cognitive-processing therapy, Prolonged exposure, Minimal attention condition, Prolonged exposure, Present-centred therapy.

Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner (SANE)

Appendix J: Protocol

Adult Specialist Services for Victim-Survivors of Sexual Violence and Abuse: Systematic Map protocol

Contents

1	Ba	ckground	1
	1.1	Policy Context	3
		Definitions	
	1.2	2.1 Victim-survivor	4
	1.2	2.2 Sexual violence	4
	1.2	2.3 Specialist services	4
2	Me	thods	.4
1	2.1	Aim	4
1	2.2	Research Question	5
		General methods	
1	2.4	Searching	5
1	2.5	Screening	6
		Outcomes	
3	Re	ferences	7
4	AP	PENDIX A: EXAMPLE SEARCH STRATEGY	.8

1 Background

The Crime Survey for England and Wales found 24.4% of women, and 4.5% men aged between 16 and 59 have experienced some form of sexual violence since the age of 16 (Office for National Statistics, year ending March 2018). The true extent of the prevalence of sexual violence, including child sexual abuse, remains largely unknown. Owing to a range of personal, social, and cultural factors, such as the persistence of rape myths, victim-blaming (Waterhouse et al. 2016), extremely low conviction rates (Kelly et al. 2005), and the risk of worsening victimisation if the perpetrator is known to them, many victim-survivors do not report their experiences, or delay their disclosures for many years.

The yearly figures from the Crime Survey of England and Wales reveal that while the prevalence of sexual violence and abuse had halved between March 2006 and March 2014 (from 3% of 16-59 year old victims once or more in 2006 to 1.5% in 2014), the



percentage is now on the rise again (2.7% in March 2018, see graph).

Figure 1: The Crime Survey of England and Wales figures for percentage of 16-59 year olds who have been victims of any sexual assault once or more in the last year

Despite the hidden nature of a lot of sexual violence crimes, there has been an unprecedented increase in demand for sexual violence and abuse services in recent years. In the last year alone (2017-18) there was a 17% increase in the number of people who accessed Rape Crisis specialist services in England and Wales compared with the previous year (Rape Crisis England & Wales website).

A cultural shift, engendered in part by high-profile child sex abuse cases in the media, and the magnitude of the #MeToo and #TimesUp social media campaigns, has emboldened people to speak out about their experiences of assault or abuse, sometimes dating back years or even decades.

This surge in demand has come at a time when commissioning for services has been largely devolved to a local level. Changes in commissioning responsibilities have produced many challenges for services in terms of maintaining the stability and consistency necessary to support victims and survivors of sexual violence and abuse (APPG report 2018).

In a recent report, specialist sexual violence support services described themselves as being at crisis point. They are under-commissioned to meet the demand, and have to divert efforts to repeatedly apply for short-term grants in order to survive (APPG report 2018). A complex and competitive commissioning landscape has led to the loss of experienced staff; pressure to merge or broaden population focus; and soaring, or closed, waiting lists. Thousands of victim-survivors have been left without adequate services, or completely unsupported, at a time when they are particularly vulnerable and in need of ongoing dedicated support. On the current trajectory of increased demand and scant



resources, there is little prospect of fulfilling the Government's pledge that every victim of sexual violence 'gets the help they need when they need it' by 2020 (p.10, VAWG strategy, 2016).

NHS England's Strategic Direction for sexual assault and abuse services: Lifelong care for victims and survivors: 2018-2023 presents a vision of the radical reform needed to improve services and care for victim-survivors.

Given the current policy priority for specialist sexual violence and abuse services, commissioners need guidance on the kinds of interventions which have been found to be effective or not, as well as the appropriateness of these services to meet victim-survivors' needs. We will, therefore, carry out a systematic map of evidence to answer the following research question: What is known about the effectiveness and appropriateness of specialist adult services for people who have experienced sexual violence and abuse?

1.1 Policy Context

The Ending Violence against Women and Girls (VAWG): strategy 2016-2020 (HM Government, 2016) details the government's pledge to reform services to help women and girls rebuild their lives after experiencing violence or abuse. Working with local commissioners the government aims to ensure that prevention and early intervention, rather than crisis support, are the norm by 2020.

Ensuring a secure future for rape support centres, Female Genital Mutilation (FGM) and Forced Marriage Units is one way they intend fulfil their promise that 'victims [and survivors] get the help they need when they need it.' (p.10). While acknowledging that sexual violence and abuse disproportionately affects women and girls, a complementary piece of work to the VAWG strategy, the Male Victims Position Statement, issued in March 2019, sets out the government's commitments to supporting male victim- survivors. One of these commitments states that £24 million will be provided to services providing advice and counselling to all victims of sexual violence, including men and boys over the next three years.

The Victim's Strategy vows to increase spending from £31m, in 2018, to £39m, in 2020/21, to improve services and pathways for victim-survivors of sexual violence and abuse, who seek support, to and from Sexual Assault Referral Centres. It claims that national rape services will be funded for a minimum of two years, and that there will be further local commissioning of services by Police and Crime Commissioners (PCCs) to improve support for victims of sexual violence. The government claim that they will work with the police to increase awareness of Sexual Assault Referral Centres (SARCs) for lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBT) victims, and consider how to improve support for people identifying as non-binary or intersex.

3

1.2 Definitions

1.2.1 Victim-survivor

While legally the term victim is used to describe those who have experienced sexual violence and abuse, individuals may prefer to identify themselves as survivors (McNaughton et al. 2012). In recognition of the stark differences between these terms and the ways in which people may self-identify over time, the term victim-survivor will be used throughout our work.

1.2.2 Sexual violence

Throughout our work we use the term sexual violence to refer to sexual violence and abuse. In line with NHS England's Strategic direction for Sexual Assault and Abuse our definition of sexual violence covers any non-consensual act or attempt to obtain an act of a sexual nature, regardless of the context and the relationship between perpetrator and the victim. It covers marital rape and rape.

Examples of offences include (but are not exclusive to):

- sexual acts involving a child, sexual harassment, forced marriage, honour-based violence*, female genital mutilation, human trafficking, sexual exploitation and ritual abuse; or
- any unwanted sexual activity with someone without their consent or agreement.

Sexual assault and abuse can happen to anyone; men, women and children; at any age, and may be a one-off event or happen repeatedly. In some cases it can involve the use of technology such as the internet or social media which may be associated with grooming, online sexual harassment and trolling. (p.7, NHS England, 2018)

1.2.3 Specialist services

We are using 'specialist' to denote services which are provided by staff and volunteers with the appropriate skills and expertise specifically tailored to support adult victimsurvivors of sexual violence and abuse. We acknowledge that this may be delivered within services for domestic abuse, and violence against women and girls services. Where this is the case we will verify that the services are, at least in part, aimed at providing support to victim-survivors of sexual violence and abuse.

2 Methods

2.1 Aim

To provide a systematic map of available evidence on specialist adult services for victimsurvivors of sexual violence and abuse. We will develop a coding tool to capture data within the following broad categories: We will also conduct reference list harvesting from any relevant systematic reviews, contact topic experts, and search relevant websites.

2.5 Screening

Inclusion Criteria:

To be included in the systematic map, studies will have to:

- be about adult specialised services for victim-survivors of sexual violence and abuse (including statutory, third-sector and voluntary organisations);
- provide findings about the effectiveness and/or appropriateness of these services*;
- be about services aimed at adults, of any gender, over the age of 16 years who have experienced sexual violence and abuse at any point in their life;
- be published in or after 2009; and
- be published in the English language.

* in terms of study designs, the review will seek:

- Evaluations of the outcomes of interventions that
 - a) use a comparative design (cost-effectiveness, RCTs, controlled trials and before- after studies, as well as systematic reviews of these kinds of studies), and
 b) are conducted in OECD countries;
- Evaluations conducted in the UK of intervention processes (process evaluations); and qualitative studies conducted in the UK of the views and experiences of people seeking or providing specialist adult services.

An initial sample of 10% of abstracts will be screened independently by two reviewers and differences resolved by discussion. If agreement at this stage is over 90% remaining abstracts will be screened by a single reviewer.

The full texts of all references meeting the criteria, or where it is unclear whether they meet the criteria, will be retrieved and screened against the same criteria. Depending on the nature and volume of the evidence located at abstract screening stage, we may adopt further inclusion criteria at this stage. For example, see 'outcomes' section below.

2.6 Outcomes

We will not exclude studies on account of the outcomes assessed. However, we are interested in physical and mental health (e.g., suicide, depression and anxiety), and wellbeing (e.g., quality of life, self-esteem, self-efficacy) outcomes including any adverse or unintended consequences of the intervention. We will look for evidence relating to appropriateness of specialist services to victim-survivors' needs, such as their views on accessibility and acceptability of services, and satisfaction with care.

3 References

 Office For National Statistics, Sexual offences in England and Wales: year ending March 2018

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/datasets/se xualoffendingcrimesurveyforenglandandwalesappendixtables [accessed 20.03.19]

- Waterhouse GF, Reynolds A, Egan V (2016) Myths and legends: The reality of rape offences reported to a UK police force. The European Journal of Psychology Applied to Legal Context 8: 1–10
- Kelly L, Lovett J, Regan L (2005) A gap or a chasm? Attrition in reported rape cases. Research Study 293. London: Home Office.
- Rape Crisis England & Wales website https://rapecrisis.org.uk/get-informed/rcewstatistics/ [accessed 15.01.19]
- APPG on Sexual Violence, Rape Crisis England & Wales (2018) All-Party Parliamentary Group on Sexual Violence report into the Funding and Commissioning of Sexual Violence and Abuse services 2018. https://rapecrisis.org.uk/get-informed/reports-briefings/allparty-parliamentary-group-on-sexual-violence-report-into-the-funding-andcommissioning-of-sexual-violence-and-abuse-services-2018 [accessed 14.01.19]
- NHS England (2018) Strategic Direction for Sexual Assault and Abuse Services: Lifelong care for victims and survivors: 2018-23.
- HM Government (2016) Ending Violence against Women and Girls: strategy 2016-2020. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm ent_data/file/522166/VAWG_Strategy_FINAL_PUBLICATION_MASTER_vRB.PDF
- HM Government (2019) Position statement on male victims of crimes considered in the cross - Government strategy on ending Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG).
- HM Government (2018) Victims Strategy https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/victims-strategy
- McNaughton Nicholls C, Mitchell M, Simpson I, Webster S, Hester M (2012) Attitudes to Sentencing Sexual Offences. London: Sentencing Council Research Series 01/12.

4 APPENDIX A: EXAMPLE SEARCH STRATEGY

Database: Ovid MEDLINE(R) ALL <1946 to April 05, 2019> Search Strategy:

.....

- 1 exp Sex Offenses/ (22337)
- 2 Rape/ (6139)
- 3 (sexual adj2 (assault\$ or aggress\$ or coercion or harass\$ or violen\$)).ti,ab. (10529)
- 4 rape.ti,ab,kw. (7267)
- 5 exp Domestic Violence/ (42114)
- 6 exp Intimate Partner Violence/ (8641)
- 7 ((abus\$ or battered or violen\$) adj2 (boyfriend\$ or girlfriend\$ or husband\$ or partner\$ or spousal or spouse\$ or wife\$ or wive\$)).ti,ab. (8434)
- 8 "Adult Survivors of Child Abuse"/ (1909)
- 9 (historic\$ adj6 abuse).ti,ab. (158)
- 10 (survivor\$ adj10 sexual abuse).ti,ab,kw. (556)
- 11 Sex Work/ (5836)
- 12 (prostitution or sex work\$).ti,ab. (7235)
- 13 (sex\$ adj2 (exploit\$ or traffick\$)).ti,ab. (680)
- 14 Human trafficking/ (306)
- 15 Coercion/ (4389)
- 16 Marriage/ (22698)
- 17 15 and 16 (50)
- 18 forced marriage\$.ti,ab. (87)
- 19 ((honor or honour) adj killing\$).ti,ab. (31)
- 20 Circumcision, Female/ (1241)
- 21 (FGM or female genital mutilation).ti,ab. (1443)
- 22 breast ironing.ti,ab. (1)
- 23 Erotica/ (1690)
- 24 pornograph\$.ti,ab. (1053)
- 25 revenge porn\$.ti,ab. (4)
- 26 sexting.ti,ab. (133)
- 27 Stalking/ (175)
- 28 ((harmful or inappropriate) adj6 sexual behavio\$).ti,ab. (193)
- 29 1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 or 9 or 10 or 11 or 12 or 13 or 14 or 17 or 18 or 19
- or 20 or 21 or 22 or 23 or 24 or 25 or 26 or 27 or 28 (79376)
- 30 Community Health Services/ (30461)
- 31 Community Mental Health Services/ (18058)
- 32 "Delivery of Health Care"/ (83560)
- 33 Health Services Accessibility/ (68345)
- 34 Mental Health Services/ (31501)
- 35 Primary Health Care/ (71351)
- 36 Social services.ti,ab. (6104)
- 8

- 37 (voluntary organi?ation\$ or voluntary sector\$ or third sector\$).ti,ab. (1258)
- 38 Women's Health Services/ (3745)
- 39 30 or 31 or 32 or 33 or 34 or 35 or 36 or 37 or 38 (284275)
- 40 29 and 39 (3567)

41 (sexual abuse adj6 (center\$ or centre\$ or effective\$ or evidence or intervention\$ or prevent\$ or program\$ or project\$ or service\$ or support\$ or treatment\$ or unit\$)).ti,ab. (1355)

42 (sexual assault adj6 (center\$ or centre\$ or effective\$ or evidence or intervention\$ or prevent\$ or program\$ or project\$ or service\$ or support\$ or treatment\$ or unit\$)).ti,ab. (1020)

43 (sexual trauma adj6 (center\$ or centre\$ or effective\$ or evidence or intervention\$ or prevent\$ or program\$ or project\$ or service\$ or support\$ or treatment\$ or unit\$)).ti,ab. (120)

44 (sexual violence adj6 (center\$ or centre\$ or effective\$ or evidence or intervention\$ or prevent\$ or program\$ or project\$ or service\$ or support\$ or treatment\$ or unit\$)).ti,ab. (483)

45 (rape adj6 (center\$ or centre\$ or effective\$ or evidence or intervention\$ or prevent\$ or program\$ or project\$ or service\$ or support\$ or treatment\$ or unit\$)).ti,ab. (832)
 46 41 or 42 or 43 or 44 or 45 (3599)

47 (sexual abuse adj6 (access\$ or collaborat\$ or commission\$ or integrat\$ or joint\$ or partner\$ or pathway\$ or refer or refers or referring or referral\$ or statutory or third or voluntary)).ti,ab. (401)

48 (sexual assault adj6 (access\$ or collaborat\$ or commission\$ or integrat\$ or joint\$ or partner\$ or pathway\$ or refer or refers or referring or referral\$ or statutory or third or voluntary)).ti,ab. (257)

49 (sexual trauma adj6 (access\$ or collaborat\$ or commission\$ or integrat\$ or joint\$ or partner\$ or pathway\$ or refer or refers or referring or referral\$ or statutory or third or voluntary)).ti,ab. (26)

50 (sexual violence adj6 (access\$ or collaborat\$ or commission\$ or integrat\$ or joint\$ or partner\$ or pathway\$ or refer or refers or referring or referral\$ or statutory or third or voluntary)).ti,ab. (339)

51 (rape adj6 (access\$ or collaborat\$ or commission\$ or integrat\$ or joint\$ or partner\$ or pathway\$ or refer or refers or referring or referral\$ or statutory or third or voluntary)).ti,ab. (268)

52 47 or 48 or 49 or 50 or 51 (1234)

- 53 Assertiveness/ (1675)
- 54 assertiveness.ti,ab. (1606)
- 55 Brief behavioural intervention\$.ti,ab. (23)
- 56 Brief behavioral intervention\$.ti,ab. (73)
- 57 Clinician assisted emotional disclosure.ti,ab. (3)
- 9

Comoros or Comoro Islands or Comores or Mayotte or Congo or Zaire or Costa Rica or Cote d'Ivoire or Ivory Coast or Croatia or Cuba or Cyprus or Djibouti or French Somaliland or Dominica or Dominican Republic or East Timor or East Timur or Timor Leste or Ecuador or Egypt or United Arab Republic or El Salvador or Eritrea or Ethiopia or Fiji or Gabon or Gabonese Republic or Gambia or Gaza or Georgia Republic or Georgian Republic or Ghana or Gold Coast or Grenada or Guatemala or Guinea or Guam or Guiana or Guyana or Haiti or Honduras or India or Maldives or Indonesia or Iran or Irag or Isle of Man or Jamaica or Jordan or Kazakhstan or Kazakh or Kenya or Kiribati or Korea or Kosovo or Kyrgyzstan or Kirghizia or Kyrgyz Republic or Kirghiz or Kirgizstan or Lao PDR or Laos or Lebanon or Lesotho or Basutoland or Liberia or Libya or Macedonia or Madagascar or Malagasy Republic or Malaysia or Malaya or Malay or Sabah or Sarawak or Malawi or Nyasaland or Mali or Malta or Marshall Islands or Mauritania or Mauritius or Agalega Islands or Micronesia or Middle East or Moldova or Moldovia or Moldovian or Mongolia or Montenegro or Morocco or Ifni or Mozambique or Myanmar or Myanma or Burma or Namibia or Nepal or Netherlands Antilles or New Caledonia or Nicaragua or Niger or Nigeria or Northern Mariana Islands or Oman or Muscat or Pakistan or Palau or Palestine or Panama or Paraguay or Peru or Philippines or Philippines or Philippines or Puerto Rico or Romania or Rumania or Roumania or Russia or Russian or Rwanda or Ruanda or Saint Kitts or St Kitts or Nevis or Saint Lucia or St Lucia or Saint Vincent or St Vincent or Grenadines or Samoa or Samoan Islands or Navigator Island or Navigator Islands or Sao Tome or Saudi Arabia or Senegal or Serbia or Montenegro or Seychelles or Sierra Leone or Sri Lanka or Ceylon or Solomon Islands or Somalia or South Africa or Sudan or Suriname or Surinam or Swaziland or Syria or Tajikistan or Tadzhikistan or Tadjikistan or Tadzhik or Tanzania or Thailand or Togo or Togolese Republic or Tonga or Trinidad or Tobago or Tunisia or Turkmenistan or Turkmen or Uganda or Ukraine or Uruguay or USSR or Soviet Union or Union of Soviet Socialist Republics or Uzbekistan or Uzbek or Vanuatu or New Hebrides or Venezuela or Vietnam or Viet Nam or West Bank or Yemen or Yugoslavia or Zambia or Zimbabwe or Rhodesia).hw,kf,ti,ab,cp. (2612841) 92 90 not 91 (9070)

93 limit 92 to (english language and yr="2009 -Current") (4093)

The NIHR Policy Research Programme Reviews Facility puts the evidence into development and implementation of health policy through:

- Undertaking policy-relevant systematic reviews of health and social care research
- Developing capacity for undertaking and using reviews
- Producing new and improved methods for undertaking reviews
- Promoting global awareness and use of systematic reviews in decision-making

The Reviews Facility is a collaboration between the following centres: EPPI Centre (Evidence for Policy and Practice Information Centre), UCL Social Research Institute, University College London; CRD (Centre for Reviews and Dissemination), University of York; and the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine.

The NIHR Policy Research Programme Reviews Facility collaboration has grown out of a previous 'reviews facility' in Health Promotion and Public Health based at the EPPI Centre, and has been funded by the Department of Health and Social Care since 1995.

The views expressed in this work are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the collaborating centres or the funder. All errors and omissions remain those of the authors.

First produced in 2022 by:

Evidence for Policy and Practice Information Centre (EPPI Centre) Social Science Research Unit, UCL Social Research Institute UCL Institute of Education, University College London 18 Woburn Square London WC1H 0NR

https://eppi.ioe.ac.uk https://www.ucl.ac.uk/ioe/departments-and-centres/departments/ ucl-social-research-institute

ISBN: 978-1-911605-39-3

Editorial & design by: Lionel Openshaw

This document is available in a range of accessible formats including large print. Please contact the Social Science Research Unit for assistance.

Email: ioe.ssru@ucl.ac.uk Telephone: +44 (0)20 7331 5263